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Creating
a Vibrant Society

Berendina Development Services is committed towards the upliftment of the 
society at its root level. Focusing on the source of the challenges faced by poverty 
stricken communities, we work to implement sustainable socio-economic 
projects throughout the rural and plantation sectors of the country. Our diverse 
array of projects covers the concerns of livelihoods, Economic, Health, Housing, 
Sanitation,  Social Infrastructure, Clean Water facilitation and Capacity Building 
of Civil Society Organisations.

Working hand in hand with our subsidiary, Berendina Micro Investments 
Company and sister company, Berendina Employment Center, we are proud to 
state that our work has truly touched the lives of many. We have been successful 
in providing these communities the opportunity to look forward to a more 
vibrant future which in turn has coloured the lives of all our stakeholders.

This aligns with our ultimate aim, of  “Creating a Vibrant Society”, that is 
alleviated from poverty with a sustainable economic foundation that will help 
bring freedom of choice and self-development to the lives of future generations.
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VISION

MISSION

STRATEGIC GOAL

STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS

ENABLING STRATEGIES

Vulnerable/marginalized 
Men and Women 
including Elders, 

Widows and Persons 
with Disabillities have 

increased access to use 
the economic resources, 

together with active 
engagements in the 

mainstream economic 
value chains.

Vulnerable/marginalized 
Men and Women 
including Elders, 

Widows and Persons 
with Disabillities have 

increased access to 
water, sanitation and 

health services together 
with strong network 

with national/regional 
health services.

Vulnerable/marginalized 
Men and Women 
including Elders, 

Widows and Persons 
with Disabillities realized 
and enjoying their rights 
through advocacy and 

lobbying e�orts 
together with civil 

society strengthening, 
capacity building and 

meaningful 
participation.

CROSS CUTTING THEMES
Gender Mainstreaming    Disaster Response    Environmental Conservation

Create an empowered, equitable society 
where poverty doesn’t exist

Poverty alleviation and  social inclusion of marginalized and vulnerable 
communities through socio-economic empowerment while ensuring their 

rights through advocacy and lobbying  

“Forty thousand vulnerable/marginalized families including elders, widows and
persons with disabilities become socio-economically empowered, realized their
rights and opportunities leading towards a quality life by 2019”

Strategic Partnership  
Knowledge Management/M&E  
Networking  

Communication  
Human Resource Management  
Fundraising
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About this Report

This annual report provides a comprehensive understanding and a detailed analysis 
of the operations of Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited (BDS) 
for the period of 1st January to 31st December 2017. The report discusses the 
strategic shift that took place during 2017 and the tools utilised to carry out the 
activities. It further provides an overview of the future outlook of BDS. 

In line with our key thematic areas for poverty alleviation, we have attempted to 
provide a transparent picture of our economic, social and environmental impact. 
The report discloses financial as well as non-financial highlights and its impact on 
the communities we serve. 

The Financial Statements disclosed in the annual report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Sri Lanka Financial Reporting Standards (LKAS/SLFRS) issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. Assurance on Financial 
Statements is provided by Ernst and Young. 
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About BDS 

WHO WE ARE
Established in 1987, Berendina initiated its development 
work to enhance socio economic wellbeing of poor 
communities in the country by a Dutch Philanthropist, 
Mrs. Berendina Borst. After the demise of Mrs. Borst, from 
1992-2005 Berendina worked as Berendina Foundation, an 
International NGO registered with the Ministry of Policy 
Planning, with financial support from Berendina Stichting in 
The Netherlands. 

With the long term vision of working in Sri Lanka to 
contribute towards poverty alleviation, Berendina obtained 
its local registration and established two organisations 
called Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited (BDS) 
in 2005 and Berendina Microfinance Institute (Gte) Limited 
(BMI) in 2007. Later, Berendina also established Berendina 
Micro Investments Company Limited (BMIC) in 2014 and 
Berendina Employment Centre (Gte) Limited (BEC) in 2015. 
In 2017, BMI activities were transferred to BMIC. 

BDS was registered under the Company Act No. 17 of 
1982 with the number N(PBG) 202. With the revisions of 
the government Act BDS later re-registered under the 
Company Act No. 07 of 2007 with the number GL28. BDS 
is also registered as a Non-Government Organization under 
Voluntary Social Services Organizations Act No. 31 of 
1980 as amended by Act No. 08 of 1998 with the number 
L-159410. Currently, BDS is operating in six districts in 
both rural and plantation areas, and assists vulnerable 
marginalised communities.

OUR STRATEGIES
Our vision is to create an empowered, equitable society 
where poverty does not exist. Therefore, we have identified 
three interlinked strategic directions that is envisioned to 
bring about sustainable change in the lives of marginalised 
communities in both rural and plantation areas. BDS has 
a three year strategic plan set forth from 2017-2019 that 
is aligned with the three thematic areas. The year under 
review marks the completion of the first year, assisting the 
poor citisenz of Sri Lanka irrespective of their caste, creed, 
race or any other discriminatory barrier. 

Economic Empowerment
Although Sri Lanka has made significant economic and 
social progress over the last 30 years, including growth in 
the agriculture sector, there are population that still live in 
poverty. The rural poor are found to be small agricultural 
farmers, fishermen, small traders and labourers that 
often do not have opportunities to engage in economic 
development activities. This is mainly due to lack of capital, 
technology, skills and technical knowledge. As a result, they 
are often excluded from society. BDS’ existing programmes 
further reveal that poverty is linked to disconnection 
from productive markets. Therefore, BDS’ first strategic 
direction aims to increase access to economic resources 
and provide opportunities for mainstream economic value 
chains for rural communities in Anuradhapura, Batticaloa, 
Kegalle, Mullaitivu, Nuwara Eliya and Trincomalee Districts, 
thereby increasing their income. BDS particularly focuses 

on improving the well-being of vulnerable women and men 
working as daily laborers, inland and lagoon fishermen and 
small holder farmers.  

Water, Sanitation, Health and Housing
Sri Lanka’s national statistics for water and sanitation service 
provision disclose inequalities based on geography and socio-
economic differences. While Sri Lanka has a population of 
21 million today, more than 75% of these people live in rural 
areas with limited access to safe drinking water. Plantation 
communities too have limited access to reliable and safe 
drinking water systems and experience further constraints 
around water quality, year round reliability and long term 
functionality and sustainability of water systems. As a result, 
only 40% of Sri Lanka’s population have access to pipe-
born water. While the National Water Supply and Drainage 
Board provide water supply connections to certain rural 
areas, majority of people yet cannot afford to pay the water 
connection fee. Consequently, they obtain water from open 
sources that is often contaminated and unsafe for drinking.

Access to sanitation facilities is still a prevailing issue among 
rural and plantation areas. Plantation communities in 
particularly use common toilets that often lead to health 
issues. Furthermore, quality of health services are also poor 
due to lack of infrastructure facilities.  Majority of estate 
workers also live in ‘line houses’, which are overcrowded and 
often create health and hygiene issues. A lack of access to 
safely managed water and sanitation systems coupled with 
poor personal and community hygiene practices significantly 
increase the risk of poor health. Consequently, access to 
water, sanitation and health services are still major problems 
specially in plantation areas and some rural areas. Therefore, 
BDS’ second strategic direction aims to increase access to 
safe drinking water, sanitation and health services among 
vulnerable marginalised rural and plantation communities, 
thereby ensuring a healthy life for the communities.

Advocacy and Lobbying
Participation of marginalised vulnerable population 
including women, in decision-making structures are still 
restricted. Majority of Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) 
in rural areas lack resources and capacity to expand and 
strengthen their roles in communities. Furthermore, local 
authorities and provincial level decision makers also remain 
disengaged from community concerns, where decisions 
at national level are often taken without the voice of 
grass-root communities being heard. Therefore, CSOs and 
local authorities are essential stakeholders in linking local 
development concerns to provincial and national dialogue. 
These CSOs however, currently face a myriad of challenges 
including exclusion from decision making processes, lack of 
knowledge on their rights and entitlements to fully engage 
with stakeholders to advocate for greater service provision. 
Therefore, BDS’ third strategic direction aims to capacitate 
and strengthen Civil Society Organisations to advocate and 
lobby for their rights. 
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OUR TARGET GROUPS 

Widows

Persons with
Disabilities 

Vulnerable
Men and
Women

Elders 

WHAT WE DO
BDS

Outcomes Outputs 

1. Increased family income of vulnerable and 
marginalised communities

1.1 Increased total production, crop and land productivity 
through use of better agronomic practices

1.2 Upgraded  rural economic infrastructures through 
community participation

1.3 Increased market accessibility through reliable market 
linkages and value chain development

1.4 Increased alternative income sources based on local 
potentials & available resources

1.5 Create employment opportunities through social business 
approach

2.1 Improved access to sanitation & housing facilities

2.2 Increased acssess of safe drinking water 

2.3 Required health infrastructures are improved through 
community participation

3.1 Improved human capacity of existing CSOs

3.2 Improved structural capacity of existing CSOs

3.3 Reduced dependency of persons with disabilities  societies 

2. Improved health, sanitation, drinking water 
accessibility & housing conditions

3. Strengthened capacity of local institutions/ 
CBOs

About BDS 
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About BDS 

OUR PRIMARY DONOR - BERENDINA 
STICHTING
Berendina Stichting (foundation) (BS) was formed in The 
Netherlands by Mrs. Borst to continue her work on poverty 
alleviation charitable work in Sri Lanka. She transferred all 
her assets to Berendina  Stichting. since 1992, most of the 
profits earned from the investments in The Netherlands 
were transferred to Berendina work in Sri Lanka. BS board 
consists of very senior professionals including retired 
diplomats, development specialists, bankers and lawyers. 
Presently, there are four directors in BS board and all of them 
are members of BDS too. Since inception, BDS has received 
more than 80% of its funds from Berendina Stichting.

OUR SUBSIDIARY COMPANY - BMIC
Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited (BMIC) is 
a fully owned subsidiary of BDS. It is an entity established 
in 2014 as a sister Company of Berendina, which was 
established to surpass bottlenecks in fund-raising. This 
establishment was re-launched in September 2017 as the 
sole microfinance arm of Berendina. 

In year 2017, BMIC revenue increased by 31%, totaling 
LKR 840 Million. Total loan disbursement was LKR 3.45 
Billion with the active borrowers of 111,562. It was a 24% 
increase in the total loan disbursement compared to 2016. 
The Portfolio at Risk (PAR 30 days) remained at 0.57%, and 
Operational Self-Sufficiency (OSS) was 120%. During the 
year 2017, net profit after tax was LKR 103 Million. 

LKR 38 Million from the interest income earned by BMIC 
was given to BDS during the year. As of 2017, an amount of 
LKR 11.42 Million was donated by BMIC clients to support 
the Bright Students Scholarship Program of the other sister 
company, Berendina Employment Centre (BEC). Although 
BMIC is unable to cover the entire cost of BDS and BEC 
entities at present, BMIC intend to build up to a level where 
it can completely sustain the activities in years to come.

OUR PARTNERS

AmSafe Bridport - Sri Lanka
BDS has been partnering with AmSafe since 2015 in order 
to generate employment opportunities for communities in 
rural areas. AmSafe Bridport is world’s leading provider of 
safety restraint products for aerospace, defense and vehicle 
industries. It has operations across the globe with factories 
established in UK, USA, China and Sri Lanka. The export 
factory in Sri Lanka is located in Wathupitivala, Nittambuwa.

Lanka Harness 
BDS has been working with Lanka Harness since 2011 to 
create employment opportunities for rural communities.  
It is one of BDS’ leading sub-contracting partners. Lanka 
Harness manufactures impact sensor switches for seat belts 
& air bags for world renowned automobile brands.

Okaya Lanka 
BDS started working with Okaya in 2017 as a social business 
partner & has a sub-contracting center to produce electrical 
items for Okaya Lanka. Okaya Lanka private limited is located 
in the Export Processing Zone at Katunayaka.

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation (HSBC)
BDS first started working with HSBC in 2016 to provide 
safe drinking water to address Chronic Kidney Disease of 
unknown aetiology (CKDu) in Anuradhapura District. Later 
in 2017, HSBC provided further funding to extend BDS’ 
interventions to Puttalam District. The interventions are 
based on BDS’ social business model that aim to address 
social needs of communities such as unemployment and 
lack of access to safe drinking water, at the same time 
operating in a commercially viable and sustainable manner. 

HelpAge Sri Lanka
BDS began its partnership with HelpAge Sri Lanka in 2016 
with the goal of enabling senior citizens to fully avail their 
potential to lead a healthy, secure and an economically 
sustainable life. Medical care and eye care facilities 
were provided via mobile medical clinics and awareness 
sessions for senior citizens on non-communicable diseases, 
nutritional and sanitation aspects were conducted. Further, 
provision of spectacles was also a major activity.

HelpAge is a non-governmental organization helps older 
people claim their rights, challenge discrimination   and 
overcome poverty, so that they can lead dignified, secure, 
active and healthy lives.

Ministry of Hill Country, New Villages, 
Infrastructure and Community 
Development

BDS first came in to a partnership with the Ministry of 
Hill Country, New Villages, Infrastructure and Community 
Development in September 2017 to constructed 10 houses 
in six estates (Mattakelle, Pedro, Drayton, Shannon, Waltrim 
and Venture) in Nuwara Eliya District under the Public 
Private Partnership Program. 

Ministry of Hill Country New Villages and Infrastructure 
Development is a ministry under the central government 
promoting the well-being of the plantation community by 
improving the habitat, living condition and socio economic 
facilities.
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PLAN International Sri Lanka
The partnership with PLAN International Sri Lanka and PLAN 
Germany began in 2017 for a joint proposal submission to 
the European Union (EU). Later, BDS continued to partner 
with PLAN for another proposal submission to the Federal 
Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development 
(Germany), also known as BMZ.

PLAN International Sri Lanka is an organization working 
with children, their families and communities since 1981 
ensuring their right to health, education, protection, 
economic security and protection during emergencies.

National Aquaculture Development 
Authority
BDS first started implementing project activities with 
National Aquaculture Development Authority (NAQDA) 
in 2014. Since then BDS has been working with NAQDA 
in freshwater aquatic resource development activities in 
Anuradhapura, Trincomalee and Mullaitivu Districts, along 
with the respective Farmer Organizations that represent 
the rural community. NAQDA provides fingerlings as well as 
related trainings for farmers.

The National Aquaculture Development Authority (NAQDA) 
coming under the purview of the Ministry of Fisheries 
and Aquatic Resources was established in 1999 by the 
Parliamentary Act No. 53 of 1998. It is the main state 
sponsored organization mandated for the development of 
the aquaculture and inland fisheries sector in Sri Lanka.

MILCO
BDS’ partnered with MILCO in 2013 to improve dairy value 
chain development in rural areas. Upon BDS’ request and 
a market assessment, MILCO expanded its milk collection 
network to some of the rural areas have not established milk 
collection centers. Furthermore, relevant technical training 
was also provided for Farmer Manage Societies (FMSs) in 
collaboration with MILCO. Since BDS was promoting evening 
milk collection, mini-coolers were too provided. 

Hayleys
BDS commenced its partnership with Hayleys in 2015 
to promote gherkin cultivation in between two cropping 
seasons. Technical support and inputs were provided for 
the farmers. The Farmer Organisations are in a forward 
sales agreement with Hayleys in order to ensure the market 
for their produce. Later in 2017, BDS entered in to another 
value chain development project involving seaweed which is 
currently in progress.

Hayleys PLC is a multinational & diversified conglomerate. 
Hayleys accounts for 2.73% of Sri Lanka's export income. 
The Company operates through seven broad segments: 
Global Markets and Manufacturing, Agriculture, Power and 
Energy, Domestic and Industrial Lighting, Transportation and 

About BDS 

Logistics, Leisure and Aviation, Consumer, and Investments 
and Services. Hayleys comprises over 130 business units and 
subsidiaries, nine of which are publicly listed in the Colombo 
Stock Exchange.

World Vision Lanka
BDS started working with World Vision Lanka back in 2015 
with the construction of a bridge in Bogahawatta estate. 
Since then, BDS has partnered with World Vision Lanka 
to jointly implement a number of projects in the areas of 
housing, water, sanitation, and advocacy initiatives.

World Vision Lanka is a christian, relief, development 
and advocacy organization, serving the needy people of 
Sri Lanka in development and relief programmes spread 
across the island. 

Plantation Comapanies
BDS implements interventions in collaboration with 
four plantation companies. Partnerships with Watawala 
and Kelani valley plantations began in 2004 and 2007 
respectively. Later partnerships with Kotagala and 
Bogawanthalawa plantations started in 2012, The main 
objective of these partnerships is to uplift and rehabilitate 
the living standards of communities in the plantation sector. 
BDS together with plantation companies have implemented 
development interventions such as water projects, housing 
projects, infrastructure development projects and skills 
development projects for the plantation communities. 
Further, BDS provided re-roofing & housing loans for workers 
in Watawala and Kotagala plantations.

PALM Foundation
Together with PALM foundation 500 individual water 
connections were provided to 500 'Samurdhi' families in 
Batticaloa District on a repayment basis in collaboration 
with Nation Water Supply and Drainage Board. Further  
fisheries community was enable with lagoon eco system 
management awareness, legal net usage was also promoted  
160 of fishermen. 

PALM Foundation is a committed, well-recognized 
community development non-government organization 
which serves the plantation and rural communities, adopting 
a participatory, holistic development approach and reaping 
tangible benefits to those deprived, discriminated and 
isolated communities.
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Garagoda 
Development 
Project was 
started in 
Sri Lanka by 
three consultants 
appointed by 
Berendina 
Stitchting.

Mrs. 
Berendina 
Borst from 
the 
Netherlands 
first visited 
Sri Lanka 
Inception of 
Berendina in 
Garagoda, 
Yatiyanthota.

Berendina 
Development 
Services (Gte) Ltd., 
was re-registered 
under the company 
Act No. 07 of 2007. 

Berendina 
Microfinance 
Institute (Gte) Ltd 
(BMI) was 
established.

Berendina 
Foundation was 
established. 

Berendina Development 
Services (Gte) Ltd (BDS) 
was established with the 
registation under the 
Company Act No. 17 of 
1982.

A Trust named 
Berendina 
Stichting was 
created in 1987 by 
Mrs. Borst to 
continue her work, 
which she had 
begun in Sri Lanka 
before she passed 
away that same 
year. 

Berendina Micro 
Investments 
Company Ltd (BMIC) 
was established as a 
subsidiary company 
of Berendina 
Development 
Services (Gte) Ltd.

Berendina Development 
Services (Gte) Ltd (BDS) 
shi�ed to a project approach 
incorporating logframes. 

Youth support programme 
separated as Berendina 
Employment Centre (Gte) Ltd., from 
Berendina Development Services 
(Gte) Ltd.

Registered as a Non-Government 
Organisation under Voluntary Social 
Services Organisation Act No. 31 of 1980 
as amended by Act No. 08 of 1998.  

M I L E S T O N E S

1982

1987

2007

2005

2014

2015

2016

2017

1992

1997

About BDS 

MILESTONES
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Financial Highlights

2017

PROJECT EXPENSES

116 Mn 11%
2017

TOTAL ASSETS

1,661 Mn 67%

83%

PROJECT BURN

64%

34%

1%
1%

Interest Income on Loan
Grant Income

Interest Income on Investment
Other Income2016

REVENUE ANALYSIS

58%

39%

2%
1%

Interest Income on Loan
Grant Income

Interest Income on Investment
Other Income2017

REVENUE ANALYSIS
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2017 2016 Change 

LKR LKR LKR %

Budget  140,925,000  142,890,500  (1,965,500) -1%

Financial Performance

Grant Income  135,570,685  150,975,864  (15,405,179) -10%

Other Income  99,102,787  85,015,420  14,087,367 17%

Project Expenses  115,814,219  104,663,693  11,150,526 11%

Depreciation  2,721,399  4,012,471  (1,291,072) -32%

Taxes  10,981,073  9,701,739  1,279,334 13%

Surplus  637,952,989  103,773,584  534,179,405 515%

Financial Position

Accumulated Surplus  1,603,560,784  965,607,795  637,952,989 66%

Long Term Liabilities  3,864,955  3,860,294  4,661 0%

Current Liabilities  53,095,136  23,512,140  29,582,996 126%

Loans & Advances  807,676,150  768,913,564  38,762,586 5%

Cash & Bank Balance  69,682,508  15,502,564  54,179,944 349%

Total Assets  1,660,520,875  992,980,229  667,540,646 67%

Investments in BMIC  748,028,210  180,028,210  568,000,000 316%

No. of Shares in BMIC  74,802,821  18,002,821  56,800,000 316%

Key Performance Indicators

Contributions and Grants Ratio (%) 58% 64%

Projects Efficiency Ratio (%) 79% 79%

Self-Sufficient Ratio  (%) 63% 56%

Savings Ratio (%) 60% 78%

Current Ratio (Times) 33.83 16.89

Viability Ratio Nil Nil

150

0
2014 2015 2016 2017

250

300

400

LKR Mn

TOTAL INCOME

235236

281

355

450

0
2014 2015 2016 2017

900

1,350

1,800

LKR Mn

TOTAL ASSETS

1,661

993

731
893

45

0
2014 2015 2016 2017

90

135

180

LKR Mn

PROJECT EXPENSES

116
105

166

114

2017

PROJECT EXPENSES
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2017
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83%

PROJECT BURN
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Grant Income

Interest Income on Investment
Other Income2016
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1%

Interest Income on Loan
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Other Income2017

REVENUE ANALYSIS
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BDS at a Glance

21 TANKS
WITH 737,850 FINGERLINGS

110 ADVOCACY AND 
LOBBYING TRAININGS

MONTHLY ALLOWANCES FOR 
678 DESTITUTE FAMILIES

DRINKING WATER FOR 3,547 
FAMILIES

TREATED 1,323 ANEMIC 
FEMALE ESTATE WORKERS

131 HEALTH AWARENESS 
SESSIONS

91 HOUSES 67 HOUSEHOLD SANITATION 
FACILITIES

STRENGTHENED 155 ELDERS’ 
CLUBS

239 LIVELIHOODS 84 EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH 

SOCIAL BUSINESS 

59 INFRASTRUCTURE FOR 
10,118 BENEFICIARIES
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J
A

N
U

A
R

Y

Completion of 
UNICEF funded 
(Provision of lost 
legal document) 
project 

F
E

B
R

U
A

RY

Value chain 
development 
consultancy with SAP 
under the SAP Social 
Sabbatical Program. 
Establishment of 
Monitoring 
Evaluation & 
Knowledge 
Management Team

M
A

Y

Flood Relief 
Activities in 
Baduraliya and 
Bulathsinhala

J
U

N
E

Started implement-
ing 100 houses 
Partnership 
project with 
Sunshine holdings 
at Dikoya

S
E

P
T

E
M

B

E R  

Signed an 
agreement with the 
Ministry of 
Hill Country to 
construct 10 
houses  

O
C

T
O

B
E R  

International 
Elder’s Day 
Celebration in 
Nuwara Eliya

M
A

R
C

H

Donor visit from 
Berendina Stitching 
to Kegalle, 
Anuradhapura and 
Trincomalee Districs

A
P

R
I L

Received a grant 
from UNICEF to 
implement a 
disaster 
rehabilitation second 
project in Kegalle 
District. 

J
U

LY

Consultancy 
services provided 
for World Vision 
Lanka to adapt the 
social business 
concept 

A
U

G
U

S
T

Implimenting 
Drought Relief 
Activities in 
Anuradhapura 
District

N
O

V
E

M
B

E R

A HSBC Funded 
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“In 2017, we reached 24,977 
beneficiaries across our 
operational areas in our main 
thematic areas - livelihoods, 
water, sanitation, health,  
housing, advocacy and 
lobbying”.

Mr. Anura H. Athapaththuge
Chairman

Chairman’s Message

Chairman's Message
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Chairman's Message

It is with great pleasure that we share with you the 
performances of Berendina Development Services 
(Guarantee) Limited that ends a remarkable year by 
31st December 2017. 

The year under review marks the completion of the first 
year of our new three-year strategic plan which was 
developed based on past experience and needs of future 
in contributing towards our shared vision of creating an 
empowered equitable society where poverty does not exist. 
There are three pillers in our new strategy that aim to provide 
economic opportunities, access to water, sanitation,health, 
housing, advocacy and lobbying to ensure rights of poor 
are fulfilled by relevant stake holders. The activities of our 
new strategy are organized under four geographically based 
projects such as Plantation Community Empowerment 
and Development (PCED) Project, Rural Community 
Empowerment and Development (RCED) Project - Central 
Region, Rural Community Empowerment and Development 
Project - North Central Region and Northern and Eastern 
Regions in order to accommodate regional requirements 
within the strategic directions. These projects are 
implemented in six districts which were also selected based 
on the severity of the identified needs. Another important 
aspect of new strategy was to focus the work of BDS in the 
same geographical area where other two organisations in 
the Berendina family namely, Berendina Employment Centre 
(BEC) and Berendina Micro Investment Company (BMIC) are 
operating in order to generate synergy and effectiveness of 
our work.

While the poorest 20% of the population had a GDP of 
4.8% in 2016, the richest 20% enjoy the GDP of 50.8%. 
The indebtedness in the rural and plantation areas were 
further 61% and 73% of the households respectively. 
These indicators show the need to provide development 
assistance for the poorest segment of the population, in 
order for them come out of poverty and have a reasonable 
standard of living. The target group of BDS services are the 
poorest and marginalised men and women, widows, elders 
and persons with disabilities including daily working laborers 
and persons with disabilities.

In 2017, we reached 24,977 beneficiaries across our 
operational areas in our three thematic areas. Cross cutting 
themes such as gender mainstreaming, environmental 
conservation and disaster response is interwoven in to our 
program activities. While gender is an integral element in 
our programs, we ensure all initiatives address increased 
participation of women. Responding to disasters is also 
an integral element of our work, therefore in 2017 we 
responded to a number of flood and drought responses 
across the country. 

Although we have been providing a monthly financial 
allowance for destitute families since 2007, with our new 
program approaches, we are now slowly reducing this 

support. However, those who are already registered with 
this service will continue to receive financial assistance until 
they are absorbed to the national welfare system of the 
government.

Throughout our operations we have realized the significance 
of social business in creating employment opportunities for 
the vulnerable poor. Therefore, we have discontinued the 
individual livelihood project strategy and has adopted a new 
strategy of strengthening value chains, thereby linking poor  
with the mainstream economic value chains for sustainable 
economic development through private sector partnerships 
and social business strategies.

Our increasing partnerships with various organisations 
including other like-minded NGOs, INGOs and Government 
Ministries help us to maintain greater impact and 
sustainability of our interventions. We also came in to a 
landmark Public Private Partnership with the Ministry of 
Hill Country, New Villages, Infrastructure and Community 
Development to construct 10 houses for marginalized 
communities in the estate sector, which was the first time 
the ministry partnered with a NGO to build houses for the 
vulnerable poor in the estate sector. Further, we have been 
able to secure funding from HSBC, World Vision and many 
other like minded donors and partners.

We will continue to work on these three strategic directions 
during the next two years to come.  We will undertake a 
mid term evaluation of our project approach end of year 
2018, where we will do an in-depth study on our work in the 
plantation sector too. The learnings of these studies will be 
used to further strengthen our program.

I am very grateful to Berendina Stichting for providing the 
leadership and guidance to establish such a wonderful 
organization in Sri Lanka and continuous support in 
governance, program development and funding the 
organisation. I also thank the donors and partners 
including the Government of Sri Lanka who trusted us and 
continuously provided various forms of assistance to make 
our work successful. We greatly appreciate their support. 
Last but not least I express my sincere thank to the General 
Manager, Heads of Departments and the staff who have 
contributed tirelessly in an innovative manner to make a 
successful year contributing to our journey and realizing our 
vision of ‘Creating and empowered equitable society where 
poverty does not exist’.  

Mr. Anura H. Athapaththuge
Chairman
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Director's Message

“BDS strategic plan 
(2017-2019) was developed 
to focus more on marginalised 
and vulnerable communities 
in our working areas. ”.

Director’s Review

Mr. Jagath C. Godakanda
Director
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Director's Message

Sri Lanka is at a critical phase of economic and social 
development as it emerges from a 30-year long protracted 
civil war and economic growth has failed to achieve 
sustained and inclusive gains across the country. Lack of 
access to livelihoods and income-generation opportunities 
continue to be a predominant problem among plantation 
and rural communities. Therefore, in the year under review, 
we initiated 22 livelihood development programs such 
as social business projects, value chain development and 
group based livelihoods, across our 6 operational districts. 
1,769 beneficiaries were provided training and awareness 
on a range of topics such as agronomic practices, crop 
diversification, value addition, artificial insemination and 
lagoon ecosystem management. 

Sri Lanka’s national statistics for water and sanitation 
facilities show inequalities based on geography and socio-
economic differences. More than 75% of people live in rural 
areas with limited access to safe drinking water. Plantation 
communities too have limited access to reliable and safe 
drinking water. As a result, only 40% of Sri Lanka’s population 
have access to pipe-born water. Remaining population 
consume water from rivers, streams or unprotected 
wells. There are further constraints around water quality, 
year round reliability and long term functionality and 
sustainability of water systems. In order to address these 
issues, we provided 500 individual households with water 
connections, established 6 Reverse Osmosis (RO) plants 
benefitting 600 families, and initiated 6 safe drinking water 
projects and upgraded one water project, benefitting a 
further 887 families.

Lack of access to safely managed water and sanitation 
systems and poor personal and community hygiene 
practices significantly increase the risk of poor health. 
Subsequently, we constructed 80 new houses, renovated 14 
houses and constructed 73 toilets in rural and plantation 
areas. Although free and extensive health network has 
made health care highly accessible to the population,large 
inequalities still exist in accessing these services by estate 
population. Due to low levels of literacy and isolation of 
estate population they are unaware of available government 
services. Subsequently, we provided relevant awareness 
training on communicable and non-communicable diseases, 
maintenance of water schemes, personal hygiene and vision 
screening for these plantation communities. 

Participation of marginalised groups such as elders, widows 
and persons with disabilities are often excluded from 
social structures. The participation of women in decision 
making structures are too restricted and rights of elders 
and plantation workers are still matters to be addressed. 
Furthermore, majority of CBOs in rural areas lack resources 
and capacity to expand and strengthen their roles in 
communities. As a result, they are unable to advocate 
for their rights. Therefore, we initiated capacity building 
programs to 97 CBOs so that they can collectively and 
efficiently work with relevant government departments to 
address emerging issues. A further 30 awareness programs 
were also conducted to teach how to lodge EPF claims and 
125 trainings were conducted to minimise issues of legal 
documents. Another 156 trainings were provided on basic 
rights, and 60 other trainings were conducted targeting 
persons with disabilities. 

We will continue to uplift the lives of economically 
disadvantaged vulnerable population in both rural 
and plantation sectors by providing viable economic 
development opportunities, increasing access to safe water, 
sanitation and health services, and empowering CBOs to 
advocate for their rights.

I would like to convey my sincerer appreciation to the entire 
team of BDS staff led by the General Manager. It is their 
talents, unreserved effort and commitment that led to the 
success of BDS. 

I also wish to extend my sincere gratitude to Berendina 
Stitching for their support and confidence placed in us 
during this long journey of 25 years. 

Mr. Jagath C. Godakanda
Director
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Board of Directors' Profile

APPOINTED AS A MEMBER
at the time of incorporation of BDS Mr. Anura  Athapaththuge 
became a member of BDS.

APPOINTED TO THE BOARD
on 6th May 2005.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE
Mr. Athapaththuge holds a Master’s of Business 
Administration from the University of Lincoln, UK, a 
Postgraduate Diploma in Economic Development, Certificate 
in Agriculture Extension and Rural Development from the 
University of Reading UK and a B.Sc. in Agriculture (Special) 
Sri Lanka. He has over 30 years of extensive management 
and consultancy experience in poverty alleviation, 
microfinance and enterprise development services, for 
local and international organisations including World Bank, 
Asian Development Bank, United Nations Development 
Programme, Women’s World Banking and Mix Market.

CURRENT APPOINTMENTS
Chairman – Berendina Development Services  
  (Guarantee) Limited 

Managing Director – Berendina Micro Investments   
  Company Limited

Chairman – Berendina Employment Center   
  (Guarantee) Limited 

Chairman – Berendina Microcredit Institute   
  (Guarantee) Limited 

APPOINTED AS A MEMBER
at the time of incorporation of BDS Mr. Jagath C. Godakanda 
became a member of BDS.

APPOINTED TO THE BOARD
on 6th May 2005.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE 
Mr. Godakanda holds a B.Sc. in Agriculture (special) (Sri Lanka) 
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Business Management from 
the National Institute of Business Management (Sri Lanka). 
He is working as an Independent Consultant for local and 
international organisations in enterprise development. He 
has more than 25 years of experience in poverty alleviation,  
microfinance, enterprise development and related activities.

CURRENT APPOINTMENTS 
Chairman – Berendina Micro Investments  
  Company Limited

Director – Berendina Development Services  
  (Guarantee) Limited 

Director – Berendina Employment Center  
  (Guarantee) Limited 

Director – Berendina Microcredit Institute  
  (Guarantee) Limited 

Mr. Anura H. Athapaththuge
Chairman

Mr. Jagath C. Godakanda
Director



Annual Report 2017   |   Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited 21

DRAFT 03
27.08.2018

Board Members Profile

PROFILE OF THE MEMBERS OF BERENDINA DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
(GUARANTEE) LIMITED 
BDS has six members. Four of them are foreign members who are also the Directors of Berendina Stichting in The Netherlands 
which is the founder of BDS.  The other two members of BDS are Sri Lankans who are also the Directors of BDS.  The profiles 
of foreign members are given in this section and the profiles of other members who are also Directors of BDS are given in 
the page 20

Mr. Jan de Witte
Skills & Experience:
Mr. Jan de Witte has a long record of accomplishments since 
1970 in International Cooperation in countries in Asia and 
Africa, holding management positions in Non-Government 
Organisations namely, HIVOS (Humanist Institute for 
Development Cooperation) and SNV (The Netherlands 
Development Organisation). During his tenure in SNV, he 
held positions as Country Program Director in Tanzania 
(2008-2011 & 1996-2000) & in Nepal (2000-2005), Regional 
Director West & Central Africa (2005-2008) & Country 
Director in Yemen Arab Republic (1986-1989). In HIVOS, 
he was the Director Programs & Projects (1989-1996) in 
the Hague. He was also a board member of Humanitas 
in Utrecht, in The Netherlands until 2017.  He holds a B.A. 
in Theology & Philosophy from Utrecht University in The 
Netherlands. Further, he has followed Certificate courses 
in Business Organization and Management of Non-profit 
Organizations. He was also responsible as honorary consul for 
The Netherlands and was further a participant in EU Heads 
of Mission consultations with the Government of Nepal. 

Current Appointments:
Board member – Berendina Stichting

Member – Berendina Development Services   
  (Guarantee) Limited

Member – Berendina Employment Centre   
  (Guarantee) Limited

Mr. Jos van Aggelen
Skills & Experience:
Mr. Jos van Aggelen is a vastly experienced diplomat who 
started his career at Foreign Service Academy in 1979. 
Later he got postings in Prague, Abidjan, the Hague and 
Paris OECD from 1980 to 1994. He was the Head of Mission 
Quito, Ecuador from 1994 to 1999. Then he served as the 
Ambassador of the Royal Embassy of Netherlands in Dakar, 
Senegal (1999-2005), in Morocco (2008-2012) and in Benin 
(2012-2015). He holds a Master in International Economics 
from Erasmus University Rotterdam in The Netherlands. 

Current Appointments:
Chairman – Berendina Stichting

Member – Berendina Development Services  
  (Guarantee) Limited

Member – Berendina Employment Centre  
  (Guarantee) Limited



Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited   |   Annual Report 201722

DRAFT 03
27.08.2018

Ms. Ruth van Andel
Skills & Experience:
Ms. Ruth van Andel is a well-experienced legal practitioner 
specialized in Employment & Corporate law practice. She 
started her career back in 1987 at Van Doorne & Siollema 
a law firm in The Netherlands. She has served in Executive 
Capacity in various legal firms in The Netherlands until 2013. 
She has also served in the supervisory capacity for various 
organisations such as NRG Value Retail Nederland B.V, 
Royal Imtech N.V, Huidekoper Committee and Amsterdam 
Bar Association. She is the founder of the Clifford Chance 
Amsterdam Employment & Pension Law Department. 
She also co-founded Stone Partners B.V. & active as a 
mediator since 2016.  She has managed several disciplinary 
investigations upon instruction of Boards or Supervisory 
Boards of financial institutions, regarding compliance with 
EU & US sanction rules, amongst others involving data 
protection issues on exchange of personal data with US. She 
held the supervisory board membership in Amsterdam Bar 
Association from 2000 to 2003. She holds a Master in Law 
from University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands.   

Current Appointments:
Board Member – Berendina Stichting

Member Supervisory Board – Jeugdfonds Sport en Culture  
  Nederland 

Member Supervisory Board – Stadsschouwburg &   
  Philharmonie Haarlem,  
  The Netherlands

Member – Berendina Development   
  Services (Guarantee) Limited

Member – Berendina Employment   
  Centre (Guarantee) Limited

Drs. J.S.C. Faber RBA
Skills & Experience: 
Drs J.S.C. Faber is a senior professional in Banking and 
Finance spheres. He was the Director of the Private 
Investments Division at Van Lanschot Bankiers (1989-2009). 
He is the Managing Director of Capital at Work since 2009. 
He has been serving as an Advisor for Berendina Stichting 
since 2012. He studied Economics at the Rijksuniversity of 
Groningen (1983-1989), as well as has accomplished further 
studies in Chartered Financial Analyst (1989-2001) and 
Executive Program Insead (2007). 

Current Appointments:
Board Member – Berendina Stichting

Member – Berendina Development Services   
  (Guarantee) Limited

Member – Berendina Employment Centre   
  (Guarantee) Limited

Board Members Profile
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Corporate Management Team
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Regional Management Team

Regional Team – Central

Regional Team – North Central

Regional Team – North & East
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Head Office Team
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Our Presence and Outreach

ANURADHAPURA
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Operational Review

OUR WORK

Economic Empowerment
BDS’ first strategic direction aims to increase vulnerable 
and marginalized population’s access to economic 
resources by enhancing their engagement in mainstream 
economic value chains. In 2017, BDS provided livelihood 
assistance to 323 vulnerable families that increased their 
monthly income. This was achieved by providing livelihood 
support for individuals,livelihood groups and creating 
employment opportunities through social business projects, 
and strengthening value chains. The value chains were 
mainstreamed through private sector partnerships, and 
the interventions were carried out based on the needs of 
the target locations. BDS also supported to upgrade 29 
irrigation tanks, and further constructed and renovated 
farm roads, culverts and causeways in remote villages, 
in order to make economic development activities more 
feasible and accessible for the vulnerable population. 

Value Chain Development 
BDS provided income generation opportunities for over 
400 targeted vulnerable communities to develop value 
chains according to their interests and abilities. The target 
locations were identified following a value chain assessment 
that revealed dairy, cut flower and seaweed as main value 
chains that are suitable for the locations. Subsequently, a 
number of locations in Anuradhapura, Nuwara Eliya and 
Trincomalee were selected. BDS provided 12 technical and 
business trainings to address the skill gap among identified 
beneficiaries and further facilitated market linkages between 
producers and buyers such as MILCO. As a result, nine producer 
groups were established during the reporting period. 

Type of Value Chain  No. of
 Trainings

No. of Beneficiaries

Male Female

Dairy 8 24 63

Cut flower 3 - 79

Seaweed 1 20 -

Dairy Value Chain Development
It is identified that poor quality, lower productivity and 
unavailability of market linkages are underlying issues for 
the dairy value chain in North Central (Kahatagasdigiliya, 
Manupa) and Eastern (Thambalagamuwa, Manmunai West) 
regions. BDS intervened to reduce these issues by providing 
necessary trainings for farmers, so that they can increase 
their production. Subsequently, eight technical trainings 
were provided, and 87 producers were linked with MILCO. As 
a result, 726 farmers successfully managed to increase their 
productivity. BDS also provided cattle for 16 farmers in the 
target locations to develop their value chain, and further 
provided support to establish and strengthened Farmer 
Managed Societies(FMs) in the locations. A further training 
was provided to 20 farmers on artificial insemination, cattle 
management and milk quality testing that enabled farmers 
to produce quality milk.

Sea Weeds
Farmers cultivate naturally grown seaweed in Kininia, 
Trincomalee District for additional income. Due to the lack 
of knowledge on sea weed cultivation and in accessibility 
to market facilities, farmers often receive a low income. 
Therefore, BDS supported these farmers by providing 
necessary material such as bamboo structures required 
for planting and technical training was also provided with 
support from the Coastal Conservation Department and 
Divisional Secretariat office. BDS further linked the farmers to 
relevant markets such as Hayleys company. Today, 30 farmers 
are able to cultivate seaweed and supply their harvest directly 
to the market. 

5,776 families were 
served through Economic 

Empowerment
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Operational Review

Cut Flower Production
Cut flower industry is a common business found in Nuwara 
Eliya District that has great potential to expand. Traditional 
framers in Nuwara Eliya engage in cut flower business as 
an income generation activity. However, they are often 
grappled with problems with access to marketing channels, 
high investments on farms, lack of technical knowledge, 
access to quality planting materials, less income during 
off seasons and less value addition. In order to address 
the aforementioned issues in cut flower industry, BDS 
first conducted a value chain assessment to identify the 
feasibility and demand for the industry. Following which, BDS 
took initiatives to strengthen these existing cooperatives by 
providing access to sufficient financial capital and technical 
knowledge. Further, high quality planting materials were 
provided for 43 female beneficiaries in collaboration with 
Gamini Dissanayaka Foundation and Lassana Flora. 

Agriculture Trainings
Sustainable Agricultural Techniques provide long-term 
benefits with improved harvests. BDS developed a module to 
provide training on crop cultivation with the guidance of the 
Department of Agriculture, Agrarian Services and members 
of Farmer Organizations. Subsequently, 28 trainings were 
conducted for farmers. Topics related to intercropping, 
alternate crop cultivation, water management and post-
harvest techniques were covered. As a result, farmers can 
enhance their income with the new acquired knowledge. 

14 TRAININGS ON VALUE CHAIN
14 TRAININGS ON BEST AGRONOMIC PRACTICES

14 TRAININGS ON CROP DIVERSIFICATION
1 TRAINING ON ARTIFICIAL INSEMINATION

10 LAGOON ECOSYSTEM MANAGEMENT 
AWARENESS SESSIONS

1,929 FARMERS TRAINED

Social Business
Social business is an emerging business model that focuses 
on addressing social issues such as poverty, lack of access to 
clean water, health services and education, while operating 
in a commercially viable manner. The net profits earned 
through the business is utilized to address social issues as 
well as further develop the business. The investors are not 
allowed to a dividend from the business other than their 
initial investments. BDS provided business mentoring and 
assistance to assess, design and organize necessary local 
resources to overcome social issues. Social businesses such 
as production of impact sensor switches for seat belts and 
air bags, vehicle seat belt production, cargo net production 
and high capacitator production centres were initiated, 
creating employment opportunities for 84 individuals. 

Yatiyanthota Multi Industrial Co-operative 
Society (YMICS)
The Yatiyanthota Multi Industrial Co-operative Society 
(YMICS) was established in 1998 with support from 
Berendina Foundation in order to address the social issue of 
unemployment. There are 84 employees currently working in 
five production centers attached to YMICS. BDS has extended 
its support to establish a welfare society, and has initiated 
motivational and team-building programs to increase staff 
retention. 

     
3 CARGO NET PRODUCTION CENTRES

1 SEAT BELT PRODUCTION CENTRE
1 HIGH CAPACITATOR PRODUCTION CENTRE

84 EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Recently, YMICS has also been successful in expanding its 
Cargo-net production to Kithulgala, and is able to provide 
employment opportunities to additional 25 employees. 
Kithulgala being an isolated traditional small city, is situated 
in the border of Sabaragamuwa and Central Province. Tea 
cultivation is a common livelihood. Furthermore, tourism 
based water rafting and eco-tourism is popular among youth. 
Some population also survive on labor work. The women 
however, is mostly engaged in the tea plantation or at times, 
travel outside Kithulgala to work in garment factories. Since 
Kithulgala is susceptible to social issues such as drug addiction 
and prostitution that is creating an unsafe environment for 
the younger generation, the parents are reluctant to leave 
their children at home alone and go for employment outside 
Kithulgala. Therefore, BDS initiated the Cargo Net Production 
Centre in central Kithulgala. This created additional income 
for women to overcome the aforementioned social issues. 
Around 10 women work in the center every day, and the 
group as a whole weave around 35 nets per day. Their average 
income per month is LKR 16,000 
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Group based Livelihood
Small livelihood groups were formed representing  women, 
persons with disabilities and elders. Training and essential 
inputs were provided to form livelihood groups to 
commence livelihood activities. Trainings were organized 
with support from relevant stakeholders such as DS office, 
Industrial Development Board ect.

Mini Garment Factory
Mini garment factory in Ambagamuwa is administered 
under Prathibha Women’s Society. Although the Ministry of 
Industry and Commerce provided 25 machines to the factory, 
it was unable to operate due to insufficient infrastructure 
facilities. Therefore, BDS intervened to provide facilities for 
building maintenance, so that the factory can operate while 
providing employment opportunities to 25 women. 

Ekel Broom Produced by Persons with Disabilities 
Uthayam is an association that acts as the voice for visually 
impaired people in Batticaloa District, and currently, they are 
focusing on empowering women. Prior to BDS’ intervention, 
six members of Uthayam society have received training 
on ekel broom production, and was able to produce good 
quality ekel brooms. They were successful in selling these 
brooms to government institutes and local shops for a 
reasonable price and therefore, created a good demand 
for their products. Although they wanted to establish a 
business production unit, there was a lack of resources to 
start. Subsequently, BDS provided essential material and 
equipment to initiate the production centre. 

Currently, Uthayam factory produces 50 brooms per day, and 
expect to upgrade their product by utilizing environmentally 
friendly material instead of the plastic. They also hope to 
produce value added products, to increase their income. 
Uthayam reserves a small portion of the profits earned 
from the business to train other members to take up various 
employment avenues and reduce their dependency. The 
production centre has successfully created employment for 
eight visually impaired persons, and their monthly income is 
around LKR 6,000 per person. Uthayam’s target is to create 
employment for 15 members, and is now in the process of 
expanding their production to broom sticks. 

Cement Block Making Center
Persons with disabilities in Palukamam, Batticaloa organised 
in to a society called Kathiravan Disable Society that sought 
for income sources for its members to reduce dependency 
on their families. Cement block production was identified as 
a suitable intervention due to its demand and availability of 
local resources. The DS office, Poraitivupattu came forward 
to support the society with the cement block making 
machine, and BDS provided raw material for the production. 
The intervention increased the income of 10 members of 
the society by LKR 4,500 per member.  

13 LIVELIHOOD PRODUCER GROUPS

INCOME GENERATING ACTIVITIES FOR 25 FAMILIES 

INPUTS PROVISION FOR 80 BENEFICIARIES FOR GROUP 

BASED ALTERNATIVE LIVELIHOOD ACTIVITIES

5 INDIVIDUAL LIVELIHOOD ACTIVITIES FOR 

ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POOR FAMILIES

Inland Fishing
Inland Fishing is a source of income for vulnerable people 
living in rural areas. Due to depleting fish catch, the fishermen 
often seek labor work. In order to address this issue, BDS 
partnered with NAQDA (National Aquaculture Development 
Authority) to introduce fingerlings to minor and seasonal 
tanks. One major irrigation tank and 20 seasonal tanks in 
Anuradhapura, Trincomalee and Mullaitivu Districts were 
stocked with 737,850 fingerlings – Tilapiya, Rohu, Common 
Carp and Catla. As a result, 20 fishing families in Mullaitivu 
now receive a steady income of LKR 5,000 monthly. A further 
1,277 families receive a seasonal income of LKR 10,000 over 
four months, in all three districts. BDS further facilitated a 
training with NAQDA to capacitate 33 office bearers of 11 
fisheries societies on Aquaculture, so that they can enhance 
their knowledge to increase better aquaculture practices for 
a better harvest.

21 TANKS STOCKED WITH 737,850 FINGERLINGS
1,277 FARMERS BENEFITTED 

165 FISHERIES FAMILIES BENEFITTED WITH 
UPGRADING 2 FISHERIES 

INFRASTRUCTURE
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Community Infrastructure Development
BDS support rural and plantation economic empowerment 
through the development of infrastructure facilities, mainly 
in BDS working areas. The rural and plantation community 
infrastructure development projects are identified through 
village committees comprising heads of community based 
organizations, that are actively engaged  in community 
affairs through Grama Niladhari (GN) Divisions. BDS 
supported several constructions and renovations of 
agri-roads, community halls, bridges, and irrigation 
infrastructure such as culverts, regulators, minor tanks, 
anicuts, thereby benefiting 5,952 community members. BDS 
further provided infrastructure development support for 
fishing communities by constructing fisheries cooperative 
societies, and provided electricity facilities and light posts. 
265 fisherman benefitted from these constructions, and is 
therefore able to involve in income generation activities. 

     
     

     
     

49 RURAL ECONOMIC 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVED FOR 5,952
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Water, Sanitation,Health and Housing 
Development
Access to safe drinking water, sanitation, health and housing 
are prevailing problems among vulnerable population in 
both rural and plantation areas. While the rural population 
consume water from unprotected sources, the plantation 
population consume gravity water directly from sources 
which are often contaminated and unsuitable for drinking 
which subsequently lead to water borne diseases impacting 
the health of communities. Furthermore, while some do 
not have access to ground water, the accessible ground 
water is either contaminated, or high in salinity. In order to 
address these issues BDS initiated six water projects in the 
plantation areas, another six in North Central region and 
another one project in Dehiovita DS. 

Lack of access to sanitation facilities contribute towards 
poor health conditions among communities, and access to 
such facilities are also found to be very poor in plantation 
communities. They often use common toilets, which 
subsequently lead to health issues. Therefore, BDS provided 
67 households with access to water sealed toilets in BDS 
working areas. 

Regardless of health services provided by the government, 
there still remains pockets with poor health infrastructure 
facilities, in certain rural areas and most plantation estates. 
The quality of these available health services are however 
found to be poor due to lack of appropriate infrastructure 
facilities. Therefore, BDS constructed three maternal and 
health centers in the plantation estates and another three 
waiting sheds in Batticaloa and Trincomalee Districts. Since 
awareness raising is crucial to make a positive impact on 
the lives of rural and plantation communities, relevant 
health awareness programs were also conducted for these 
communities. 

The absence of a safe house or partly completed houses are 
common causes for social disruption. Housing is a critical 
issue particularly among estate communities. They often 
live in ‘line houses’ also known as line rooms with a number 
of families occupying the same house. This condition is 
very unhygienic and can cause communicable diseases 
and disrupt the education of children. It further creates a 
vulnerable environment for children. In response to these 
issues, BDS provided safe houses for 55 families in the 
plantation sector and another 36 families in the rural areas.

11,543 families were served 
through Water Sanitation, 

Health and Housing 
Development

Access to Safe Drinking Water

6 SAFE DRINKING WATER 
PROJECTS BENEFITTING 763 PEOPLE

ONE EXISTING WATER PROJECT 

UPGRADING FOR 124 BENEFICIARIES

6 (RO) WATER PURIFICATION PLANTS 
BENEFITTING 2,160 CKDU PRONE FAMILIES

500 INDIVIDUAL HOUSEHOLD 

WATER CONNECTIONS

Access to safe drinking water is a basic need where people 
can be healthy. Yet majority of people still do not have proper 
access to safe drinking water. BDS provided 3,547 families in 
both rural and plantation areas with access to safe drinking 
water. Six safe drinking water projects were constructed in 
Shannon, Agarakanda, Mountvernon, Loinorn, Mayfield and 
Dikoya estates. Further benefitting 763 families, and was 
implemented in partnership with Kotagala Plantations PLC, 
Watawala Plantations PLC and World Vision Lanka. 

Another drinking water project was also upgraded in the 
Dehiovita, further benefitting 124 families. 500 individual 
households in the North and East region was also provided 
with water connections in collaboration with the National 
Water Supply and Drainage Board (NWSDB). BDS also 
installed six water purification plants reverse osmosis (RO) 
with funding from HSBC in Anuradhapura District in order 
to address the prevailing CKDu issue, benefitting 2,160 
families. 

Access to Sanitation Facilities and Housing

     
77 NEW HOUSE

CONSTRUCTIONS AND
14 HOUSE RENOVATIONS &

67 LATRINES
BENEFITTING 158 FAMILIES

BDS provided new safe housing for 64 families in Nuwara 
Eliya and Kegalle Districts. eleven families in Anuradhapura 
and two families in Batticaloa and Trincomalee. 14 houses 
were renovated in the rural areas, out of which 10 were 
renovated for war affected women headed families in 
Mullaitivu District. Toilets were too provided for eight 
families in the plantations and 59 families in the rural 
areas. The construction was jointly implemented with 
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Kotagala PLC, Watawala PLC, World Vision Lanka, Ministry 
of Hill Country, New Villages, Infrastructure and Community 
Development, Department of Probation, Social Services 
Department, Samurdhi Department, Youth Services Council 
and Child Emergency Relief International (CERI).

Health Awareness
Being healthy is essential at any stage in life. It is often 
observed that many rural and plantation communities are 
not aware of implications of not looking after their mental 
and physical health, which further impact their income 
generation ability. Despite efforts by many organizations, 
health issues in the plantation sector is still a prevailing issue, 
and female estate workers often struggle with various health 
issues due to lack of awareness. In order to increase health 
awareness among vulnerable communities in plantation and 
rural areas, BDS conducted 106 awareness sessions for 5,082 
women and elders. Awareness was provided on healthy food 
intake, cataract, non-communicable diseases, communicable 
diseases, personal hygiene and environmental hygiene. 

22 FOOD INTAKE AWARENESS FOR
1,747 FEMALE ESTATE WORKERS

4 CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT TRAININGS FOR 35 EMAs 
10 CATARACT AWARENESS SESSIONS & 47 PERSONAL 

AND ENVIRONMENTAL HYGIENE AWARENESS FOR 
2,272 ELDERS

9 WATER QUALITY MAINTAINANCE TRAININGS 
FOR 683 WATER COMMITTEE MEMBERS

29 NON-COMMUNICABLE AND 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE AWARENESS 

ALONG WITH SCREENINGS 
BENEFITTING 1,289

Health Screening 
BDS conducted 25 health screening sessions where 
2,847 female plantation workers were screened for 
their Hemoglobin (Hb) levels to ensure they are able to 
continue their livelihood activities. BDS also provided the 
required medicine to improve their Hb level. In addition, 
25 health screening sessions were also conducted after the 
awareness session to screen vision, non-communicable and 
communicable diseases, benefiting 1,924 people.

The Right to Sight
Health implications imposed by cataract is 23% in Sri Lanka. 
A significant number of people are currently blind from 
cataract, is a reflection of lack of access to surgical services 
for a majority of people, despite having the technology to 
mitigate the issue. Loss of vision as a result of cataract has 
a significant threat to the livelihoods and living standard 
of people. It can further lead to blindness among the 
most susceptible group, the elders. Thus creating more 
dependents in the society. In order to address this issue, 
BDS intervened and facilitated 151 cataract surgeries for 
the most vulnerable population in the plantation areas in 
Nuwara Eliya District. Apart from providing lenses & surgery 
items, BDS also provided LKR 1,000 per patient to cover 
their transport cost from home to the government hospital. 
Further, spectacles were also provided to 624 elders in rural 
areas of Nuwara Eliya, Anuradhapura and Batticaloa District 
, in partnership with HelpAge Sri Lanka.
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   10 VISION 

SCREENING FOR 920
151 CATARACT SURGERIES

SPECTACLES FOR 622 

Access to Quality Health Care Services
Access to healthcare services is a critical issue particularly 
in rural and plantation areas. Women in particularly, are 
often unable to access health services during labor or when 
experiencing a serious illness. Primary healthcare services 
are found in dispensaries and maternity and child clinic 
centers in the plantation area. The existing buildings are 
generally very old and have not been repaired for many 
decades. The same situation is found in rural areas due to 
lack of facilities, physical condition of buildings and the 
insecure situation. As a result, the communities face many 
hardships. They often have to travel miles to access health 
services. Therefore, BDS renovated three maternity and 
childcare centers in Lonach, Shannon & Vellaioya estates 
in Nuwara Eliya District, benefitting over 3,100 plantation 
families to relieve the difficulties they face. Furthermore, 
1,080 rural families also benefited from seven upgraded 
rural health infrastructures. These include provision of safe 
drinking water facilities to a village health center in Manupa 
DS, expansion and renovation of waiting sheds in three 
health centers in Trincomalee and one in Batticaloa Districts, 
and further securing premises with fencing in another two 
health centers in Batticaloa District.

     
3116 BENEFITTED WITH 3 MATERNITY AND CHILD 

HEALTH CENTER RENOVATIONS
PROVISION OF MEDICAL APPARATUS FOR 20 

DISPENSARIES 
PROVISION OF 2 DOMESTIC SCALE (RO) WATER 

PURIFYING PLANTS, 3 WAITING SHEDS AND 
CHAIRS FOR DISPENSARIES

1080 RURAL FAMILIES BENEFITED THROUGH 
UPGRADE OF 7 RURAL HEALTH CENTERS

Advocacy, Lobbying & CSO 
Strengthening 
Advocacy is a key tool that is used to bring about structural 
and policy changes. Although the political changes that 
took place from time to time opened avenues to address 
governance and advocacy issues at regional and national 
level by social actors, the participation of women and 
vulnerable population in decision making structures and 
processes, is however still restricted, and the rights of elders 
and plantation workers still remain to be addressed. While in 
the past, BDS made ad-hoc advocacy efforts to find solutions 
to specific problems, in the present BDS is advocating for 
issues that affect communities in order for them to enjoy a 
lasting impact. 

There are many Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) such as 
Elder's Club, Rural Development Societies (RDSs), Farmer 
Organisations (FOs) and Fisheries Associations (FAs) that 
exist in BDS working areas that do not have the capacity 
to initiate or implement community support systems that 
benefit vulnerable populations in both rural and plantation 
areas. Therefore, BDS provided capacity building to these 
CSOs to work as collective citizens to receive better services. 

Access to Services from Stakeholders 
BDS is committed to advocating for the issues that affect 
poor and vulnerable communities, especially in the rural 
and plantation areas. BDS took initiatives to improve 
the capacity of 42 Civil Society Organizations with the 
intention of reducing the gap between service providers 
and recipients. BDS partnered with HelpAge Sri Lanka and 
PALM Foundation(East) to carry out divisional level meeting 
with respective government institutes.

Reducing Dependency of Elders 
Targeting the Elder’s Clubs in BDS working areas, 25 
mobile medical and health camps were conducted for 70 
Elder’s Clubs. Health checks were also conducted for vision-
impaired senior citizens so that they can live a healthy life. 
Furthermore, BDS also provided LKR 1,000 per patient to 
cover their transport cost from home to the government 
hospital, when undergoing cataract surgeries. Spectacles 
were also provided to 624 elders in rural areas. 
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Recognising Elders in the Community
Under the theme of “Stepping in to the future: Tapping 
the Talents, Contributions and Participation of Elder’s 
in Society”, BDS celebrated International Elder’s Day on 
10th of October 2017 in Hatton to mark the importance 
of elders’ contribution to developing the community and 
discussed challenges and issues faced by elders in the 
society.  Additional District Secretary of Nuwara Eliya 
District participated event chief guest and a special tribute 
was given to an elder over 100 years of age. 

The event was graced by traditional performances including 
Karagam, Kaavadi, Goyang dances and songs sung by Elders. 
 
Office bearers of the elders clubs were too provided 
awarenesses, trainings and exposure visits to ensure elders 
enjoy their rights.

Provision of Monthly Financial Assistance 
to Disadvantaged
Since 2007, BDS has been providing a monthly financial 
allowance of LKR 1,000 for destitute elders. While BDS 
intends to reduce the mentality of dependency, it will 
however continue to provide the monthly allowance to 
those existing families, until they are incorporated in to the 
national welfare system of protecting elders over 70 years 
of age. Therefore, 678 destitute elders in BDS working areas 
were benefited with this allowance, reporting period. Thus 
enabling them to meet their basic needs. BDS will make sure 
the absorption of some of the elders above 70 years of age 
into the national welfare system through advocacy efforts.

MONTHLY ALLOWANCE FOR 
678 DESTITUTE FAMILIES

1 AWARENESS SESSION TO AWARE ETF & EPF CLAIMING 
PROCESS FOR 30 ESTATE WORKERS

59 CAPACITY BUILDING TRAININGS FOR 

CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANISATIONS BENEFITTING 
2,219 MEMBERS
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Improving Psychological Wellbeing of Elders
In order to improve the mental wellbeing of elders in 
plantation areas, 85 Elder’s Clubs were established so that 
they can improve their quality of life. 28 social events such 
as sports meets, cultural events and Shramadhana were 
conducted in Nuwara Eliya District. This enabled 1,630 
marginalised and vulnerable elders to enhance their mental 
well-being.

7,658 families were served 
through Advocacy, Lobbying 

and CSO Strengthening

Reducing Dependency of Persons with 
Disabilities and their Societies
The 30-year long protracted civil war caused significant 
damages to physical infrastructure as well as social 
structures, disrupting social harmony especially among 
communities in Mullaitivu District, where final stages of 
war took place. Despite countless efforts taken by state and 
non-state actors to rehabilitate the communities, there still 
remains a prevailing need, since the war left many people 
disabled and helpless, struggling to find their daily income. 
While post-resettlement interventions carried out by NGOs 
have further misguided communities to fall in to a state of 
dependency, authorities and likeminded organizations are 

Operational Review

initiating interventions to mitigate this dilemma. Therefore, 
BDS conducted three trainings on ‘positive attitude change’ 
to encourage involvement of persons with disabilities in 
income earning activities. A further three motivational 
counseling awareness programs were also conducted for 
93 individuals in partnership with the Disabled Peoples 
Organisation (DPO) in the Northern Province, to enhance 
their access to available basic rights. 

Increasing Moral Strength and Enhancing 
Income of Retired Estate Workers
Although estate workers are physically able to work upon 
their retirement age, they are still forced to retire. As a 
result, they often struggle to find their income to fulfil their 
family needs. Therefore, in order to avoid consequences 
faced by estate workers after retirement, BDS came up 
with an initiative to re-recruit elders who are physically fit 
to continue working, on a daily basis. Therefore, with the 
consent of the estate management, 177 retired elders (male 
workers above 55 years of age and female workers above 50 
years of age) were re-recruited by 11 estates. They are paid 
LKR 35/- for each kilo of tea leaves plucked, and receive a 
monthly income of LKR 9,000.

    

177 RETIRED ESTATE WORKERS REJOINED 

IN 11 ESTATES

3 CAPACITY BUILDING TRAININGS, 

2 COUNCELLING SESSIONS, MOBILE CLINICS AND 

A MOBILE CAMP ISSUEING THREE-WHEELER 

LICENCE FOR 70 PERSONS WITH 
DISABALITIES 
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Possession of Basic Legal Documents 
Advocating to avoid misappropriation of EPF/ETF fund 
of the poor plantation workers to the government is 
one of BDS’ signature advocacy initiatives. As a result, 
one awareness programs were conducted for 30 estate 
workers, to educate them about the process of claiming 
their EPF and ETF. They were further made aware about 
how to obtain legal documents. Subsequently, 66 elders 
were provided with National Identity Cards (NIC) and 125 
vulnerable people were granted Birth Certificates. BDS 
further intends to continue advocating for the EPF/ETF 
issue where communities can influence local or national 
level policy makers for changes in laws and regulations that 
discriminate marginalized communities including elders, 
persons with disabilities, plantation communities etc. who 
are denied of their basic rights.

 

6 GENDER BASED VIOLENCE AWARENESS FOR 164
3 BASIC RIGHTS AWARENESS FOR 156

23 TRAINING SESSIONS ON GOOD GOVERNANCE FOR 753
27 TRAINING SESSIONS ON FINACIAL MANAGEMENT 

FOR 1,018
BASIC LEGAL DOCUMENTS (NATIONAL IDENTITY 

CARDS AND BIRTH CERTIFICATES) FOR 191 
VULNERABLE CITIZENS

Operational Review
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Crosscutting Themes

Gender Mainstreaming
Gender mainstreaming is a globally recognized strategy for 
achieving gender equality. The Economic and Social Council 
of the United Nations define gender mainstreaming as the 
process of assessing implications for women and men in any 
planned action – including legislation, policies or programs, 
in all areas at all levels. It is a strategy for taking in to 
account the concerns of women and men in to the design, 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of programs, in 
all economic and societal spheres so that women and men 
both benefit from equal opportunities, thereby reducing 
inequality. 

For BDS, gender mainstreaming means applying gender 
analysis to all aspects of our work and related activities. 
Subsequently, BDS ensures that all development initiatives 
undertaken by the organization address increased 
participation of women, and inclusive decision making. 
Therefore, priority was given to women, when selecting 
group based livelihood activities. Existing social business 
centers further created more employment opportunities for 
women. BDS also encouraged women to take up leadership 
roles in CSOs. 

During the reporting period, 442 women headed 
households benefited from BDS interventions and a further 
2847 female plantation workers were screened for their 
Hemoglobin (Hb) levels to ensure they are able to continue 
their livelihood activities. Furthermore, eight gender based 
violence awareness programs were also conducted. BDS 
provided required medicine to improve their Hb level. 

Environment

Better Management for Better Living (Lagoon 
Eco System Management)
Lagoons are a naturally available resource that support 
livelihoods of vulnerable fishermen in the North and East of 
Sri Lanka. However, these lagoons are under severe threat 
due to activities such as illegal fishing, garbage dumping, 
land encroachment and removal of mangrove. Consequently, 
fish breeding in the lagoon is affected and fishing is 
depleting, thus affecting the income of lagoon fishermen. 
Therefore, BDS identified the importance of educating 
lagoon fishermen on lagoon eco system management and 
subsequently conducted 13 awareness programs for 416 
fishermen in partnership with the Fisheries Department. 
Topics covered include, the fisheries Act, the lagoon and its 
environment structure and the importance of protecting 
lagoon resources. 

Operational Review
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Provision of Legal Nets
It is observed that 80% of fishing activities in the lagoon 
are practiced against the law, and illegal fishing is a major 
factor affecting the eco - system of the lagoon in Batticaloa. 
Fishermen often depended on middlemen to obtain fishing 
nets and these middlemen always introduce illegal nets for 
short term benefits. As a result, fishermen receive low prices 
for the fish catch. In order to address these issues, BDS 
implemented a partner program with PALM Foundation 
to support 160 fishermen purchase legal fishing nets. In 
eliminating middlemen the fishermen are now able to 
obtain a better price for their catch, while protecting the 
lagoon eco - system. 

Kumbuk Cultivation
Apart from supporting livelihood development initiatives, 
BDS also supports initiatives on environmental conservation, 
and Kumbuk cultivation along tank bunds is one of the eco 
friendly activities initiated. Therefore, villagers receiving 
BDS support to renovate irrigation infrastructure or reverse 
osmosis water system in Anuradhapura are encouraged to 
cultivate Kumbuk trees along the tank bunds to maintain a 
natural eco system and ensure a natural water purification 
system. 

Disaster Response

Disaster Preparedness: Junior First Aid Training 
Program
BDS supported communities affected from the Aranayaka 
landslide by providing 25 junior first aid trainings for a group 
of 25 students (aged 14-16) from 25 schools. This was 
implemented in partnership with Red Cross Sri Lanka. 

Rehabilitation of Disaster Affected Livelihood
Cash Grants were provided to 100 flood victims in Malimbada 
DS division and 50 victims in Akuressa DS Division to restore 
their livelihoods. Financial book keeping awareness trainings 
were also conducted in both DS Divisions and progress was 
monitored until rehabilitation was assumed.

Operational Review
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Drought Relief
The farming community in Anuradhapura District who 
suffered from the worst hit drought during the last 40 years 
was provided with dry rations worth LKR 8 Mlilion. The packs 
were distributed among 2,000 families in remote areas of 
Manupa, Thirappane, Kahatagasdigiliya, Ipalogama and 
Horowpothana. The donation was sponsored by Berendina 
Micro Investment Company (Gte.) Ltd. 

Flood Relief 
Following the flood in May, 2017 BDS visited four displaced 
camps in Mathugama, Baduraliya and Bulathsinhala to 
identify the needs of the victims. Subsequently, 93 females 
in displaced camps were provided with clothing, and 91 
contaminated wells were disinfected and cleaned.

Special Initiatives

BDS Collaborates in History Making 
Surgery in the Medical Field
Sri Lanka's first ever leg transplant surgery was successfully 
conducted in the General Hospital, Anuradhapura. The 
surgery was conducted by four consultants including 
Vascular and Transplant Surgeon, Dr. Joel Arudchelvam. It 
was conducted on Puspakumara (32 years old) in Rajangana, 
whose left leg was amputated as a result of an accident a 
year ago. The left leg of a 52 year old patient who was brain 
dead was implanted to Puspakumara. At the request of the 
Doctors in the hospital and the Additional Government 
Agent (GA) of Anuradhapura District Secretariat Office, BDS 
supported to renovate Puspakumara’s house so that he has 
a clean place to live, upon returning home from the surgery. 

Operational Review
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Hand in Hand for Needy and Disabled
Riyanzy Aligiwanna school is a special needs school in 
Anuradhapura. It consists of 85 students (72 hearing 
impaired students and 13 vision impaired students) with 
special needs and provides accommodation to 43 students 
in the hostel. The school is managed by the Anuradhapura 
Deaf & Blind School Society and most of the school activities 
are practical based education. The school encourages 
education through sports activities, religious activities, 
and other kinds of play activities that uplift the mental and 
physical health of these students. Since the school was 
encountering difficulties in providing a suitable outdoor 
facility for these students, a group of students from the 
University of Rajarata initiated a project named “Blooming 
Smiles” to address this issue. BDS partnered with the 
student’s association of Rajarata University to renovate the 
existing play items as well as install new play items suitable 
for the students in the school. 

Partnerships

Berendina Ties up with Government to 
Shelter Estate Workers
Ministry of Hill Country New Villages, Infrastructure and 
Community Development signed an agreement with BDS 
in a landmark Public Private Partnership (PPP) to build 10 
houses for vulnerable families in the estate community in 
Nuwara Eliya District. BDS undertook the construction of 
10 houses at a cost of LKR 8.5 Million, which consists of a 
contribution by the Ministry amounting to LKR 5 Million and 
the balance amount being borne by BDS as a grant.

Sharing Expertise with Parallel 
Development Practitioners
BDS has successfully initiated the social business concept 
that created employment for communities and increased 
their income. Based on this success, World Vision Lanka 
expressed their interest to learn this concept. As a result, 
a Memorandum of Understanding was signed among the 
two organizations in 2017, and a pilot project was initiated 
in World Vision Lanka’s Urban Development Program 
Wattala. BDS shared knowledge, experience and expertise 
as a consultant to implement this project. BDS further 
facilitated an exposure visit to the field and shared relevant 
information on the topic that supported them to identify 
‘priority action areas’ for the pilot project. 

Subsequently, the shoe making project was initiated which 
created job opportunities for 18 women and further 
provided capacity building training sessions for staff of 
World Vision Lanka.

Operational Review
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BDS APPROACH 
In 2005, with the long term vision of working in Sri Lanka 
to contribute towards poverty alleviation, Berendina 
obtained its local registration as Berendina Development 
Services (Guarantee) Limited (BDS) under the Company 
Act No. 17 of 1982 with the number N(PBG)202, and 
was further re-registered under the Company Act No. 07 
of 2007 with the number GL 28. BDS also registered as a 
Non-Government Organization under Voluntary Social 
Services Organizations act, No. 31 of 1980 as amended 
by act, No. 08 of 1998 with the number L-159410 in 2016. 
BDS’ vision is to create an empowered, equitable society 
where poverty does not exist. Subsequently, there are three 
interlinked strategic directions identified that is envisioned 
to bring about sustainable change in the lives of vulnerable 
and  marginalised communities in both rural and plantation 
areas. This 3-year strategy is set forth from 2017-2019, and 
the year under review marks the completion of the first year 
of this cycle. 

It is found that higher percentages of rural poor are 
small agricultural farmers in North, East, Central, North 
Central and Sabaragamuwa Provinces. They often do not 
have opportunities to engage in economic development 
activities due to lack of capital, technology, skills and 
technical knowledge. As a result, they are excluded from 
society. Therefore, BDS’ first strategic direction aims 
to increase access to economic resources and provide 
opportunities for mainstreamed economic value chains, 
thereby increasing their income. BDS particularly focuses 
on improving the well-being of vulnerable women and men 
working as day laborers, inland and lagoon fishers and small 
holder farmers.  

Access to water, sanitation and health services are still 
major problems in both rural and plantation areas. Although 
the National Water Supply and Drainage Board provide 
water supply connections to certain rural areas, majority 
of people still cannot afford to pay the water connection 
fee. As a result, they obtain water from open sources that is 
often contaminated and unsafely for drinking. Furthermore, 
access to sanitation facilities such as toilets are also very 
poor among plantation communities. They use common 
toilets that lead to health issues. Moreover, quality of health 
services are also poor due to lack of infrastructure facilities. 
Therefore, in order to address the aforementioned issues 
BDS’ second strategic direction aims to increase access to 
safe drinking water, sanitation and health services among 
marginalized rural and plantation population, thereby 
ensuring a healthy life.

The participation of vulnerable and marginalised people 
including women, in decision-making structures are 
restricted. Furthermore, the rights of elders and plantation 
workers are still denied and is yet to be addressed. 
Furthermore, majority of CSOs in rural areas lack resources 
and capacity to expand and strengthen their roles in 
communities. As a result, they are unable to advocate for 
their rights. Therefore, BDS’ third strategic direction aims 
to capacitate and strengthen civil society organizations to 
advocate and lobby for their rights. BDS seek to support 
the plantation community to enhance their socio-economic 
conditions, while advocating for their rights.  

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT TARGETS 2017
Item Actual Target Success Rate

Operational

Number of Beneficiaries Reached 24,977 25,574 98%

Number of Infrastructure – Projects 59 53 111%

Number of Water Schemes Installed 7 10 70%

Number of Trainings and Awareness Sessions Conducted 266 289 92%

Number of Livelihood Opportunities Created 323 445 73%

Number of Houses and Sanitary Facilities Provided 158 158 100%

Finance

Funds Received (LKR) 152,518,369 140,925,000 108%

Expenditure (LKR) 117,482,603 140,925,000 83%
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Berendina Stichting is BDS' main Founder and Donor. In 
2017, Berendina Stitching Transferred LKR127 Million of 
profits they earned from investments in The Netherlands 
to Berendina's working Sri Lanka. Furthermore, BDS also 
receives grant funding from bilateral donors such as  
USAID, UNICEF, private funding from HSBC (Hongkong 
and Shanghai Banking Corporation), local government 
funding from the Ministry of Hill Country New Villages, 
Infrastructure and Community Development and funding 
from Berendina Micro Investment Company (BMIC)– which 
is internal funding from the group. While BMIC supports 
over 110,000 entrepreneurial poor, BMIC also provides 
funding to BDS from its interest income. 

As programs and projects of BDS expand, the need for 
more funding to run operations become essential. Since 
BDS envisage to reach more communities in the future, 
it is vital to have a strategy where additional funding can 
be secured. BDS is also aware that while funding from 
traditional institutional donors are declining to Sri Lanka, 
due to the lower-middle income status, alternative funding 
avenues need to be explored. BDS has a local fund raising 
strategy that aims to target bilateral donors as well as 
the private sector partners. Some of the private sector 
partners BDS is currently working include Cargills, MILCO, 
Hayleys, Lassana Flora, Lanka Harness Pvt Ltd., Okaya Lanka 
Pvt Ltd. and Bridtort Pvt Ltd. etc. Furthermore, BDS also 
works with a number of like-minded NGOs such as PLAN 
International, World Vision Lanka, PALM Foundation, Red 
Cross Sri Lanka and HelpAge Sri Lanka both as funding as 
well as   implementation partners. 
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COMMUNICATIONS
Transparency and openness are cornerstones of the work 
of BDS. These principles guide to improve efficiency and 
effectively of BDS’ growing programme and operational 
portfolio. BDS’ communication efforts therefore remain in 
line with the group’s overall vison of creating an empowered, 
equitable society where poverty does not exist, and is the 
driving force for organisational communication strategy. 

Visibility 
Prior to a new activity of project implementation, BDS 
creates awareness through banners and leaflets with the 
organisation logo. Where relevant donors and other partners 
are involved, BDS follows specified donor and partner 
guidelines for branding and visibility purposes, and during 
project kick-off sessions printed t-shirts and caps with donor 
and BDS logos are distributed among participants for further 
visibility. During awareness or training sessions, a banner is 
always used to communicate the key message and ensure 
visibility through Berendina logo and at times the Dornor 
logo. Where tangible items are distributed or at construction 
sites, visibility is always ensured through name boards.

The general public is made aware of the work of BDS through 
press releases, website and social media. Furthermore, when 
a new project cycle begins, they are made aware through 
banners. 

Connecting with Beneficiaries 
BDS connects with beneficiaries through government 
officials CBOs and officials of the two sister companies. 
When a project begins implementation BDS first creates 
awareness about the project and its objectives to the 
relevant stakeholders who then connect BDS to key 
community leaders. Through them, the desired beneficiaries 
are reached at grass roots level. 

Working with the Government 
The main objective is to communicate our work and inform 
relevant government authorities and communities about 
the programs we are implementing. In doing so, while we 
create awareness, we also involve them in the planning and 
selection processes, thus following a participator approach 
to implementing our projects. 

When BDS expand to a new location or begin a new project, 
relevant government authorities are provided with an 
information session where they are made aware about the 
project implementation process. Where necessary, their 
input and consultation is also accounted for the selection of 
locations, beneficiaries etc. 

Engaging with Partners
BDS considers partners as key stakeholders in achieving 
programme objectives. During the year under review, 
BDS worked in collaboration with a number of partners 
outlined in page 07 in fulfilling project objectives. In order 
to further strengthen the relationships and learn from best 
practices, BDS conducts lesson learnt events to disseminate 
knowledge, while at the same time creating more visibility 
of the work of BDS, and opening avenues to learn from like-
minded development practitioners. 

BDS also invite partners to observe project models that 
BDS practice. Subsequently, World Vision Lanka accepted 
the invitation and visited BDS’ Yatiyanthota Multi Industrial 
Factory that was established under the social business 
project model which create employment for vulnerable and 
marginalised communities. Following this visit, World Vision 
Lanka’s Wattala Urban Development Program requested to 
learn about the project model. Today, World Vision Lanka has 
successfully adopted the project model and has established 
a shoe-making sub-contracting centre in Wattala. 

Engaging with Donors 
BDS receives funding from the major donor Berendina 
Stichting in The Netherlands and a number of other donors, 
including bi-lateral donors, corporates as well as government 
ministry. BDS also partners with like-minded NGOs in 
implementing programs with joint financial contributions. 
Therefore, BDS adopts a number of approaches in 
communicating with these donors. As required, periodic 
meetings are held with donors to communicate the progress 
of projects as well as discuss matters of concern, if any. 
Progress reports are submitted according to each donor 
requirements, and they are further accompanied for field 
visits. BDS also approaches untapped donors through e-mail 
newsletters and sharing of programme profile documents. 
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Communicating Results and Impact
Programme results and impacts are generally communicated 
through monthly management reports, quarterly, bi-annual 
and annual reports. Furthermore, publication of the Annual 
Report and information posted on the website and social 
media are further means of communicating BDS’ work to 
its stakeholders.  

BDS has a dedicated website and a facebook page where all 
achievements and project progress is published. BDS follows 
a case study approach to tell stories of the beneficiaries. It 
provides information from how each beneficiary started off, 
prior to receiving support from BDS, to how their lives have 
evolved, since receiving support. These real life case studies 
enable to tell good stories, communicate the success as 
well as lessons learned to our stakeholders. BDS follows a 
quarterly case study reporting system. This information 
is disseminated from the field, and is refined and further 
developed at the head office and published on the web site 
and social media. 

Advocacy
Advocacy is one of BDS’ programme thematic areas which 
aims to influence decision making among government 
officials to ensure vulnerable marginalised communities 
enjoy their rights. Subsequently, BDS conducted an elder’s 
day walk in commemoration of International Elder’s Day, to 
convey this message to the government.  

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
As an organization dedicated to improving the lives of 
vulnerable marginalised communities in society, BDS believe 
that innovative use of technology within the organization as 
well as among communities will bring a positive impact to 
their lives. As such, where possible BDS encourages the use 
of ICT to network among community based organizations 
(CBOs). 

Recognition and Commitment
While BDS is committed towards empowering vulnerable 
marginalised communities, Microsoft recognised these 
efforts and provided the opportunity to use selected 
Microsoft products among 50 users. BDS’ usage of 
applications such as Dropbox and Group collaboration also 
enables to optimise power and data. 

IT Security
As an organization, BDS is always on the alert for cyber 
security and other malware infections that are spreading 
in the industry. Having experienced past security concerns 
across the world, and identified risk patterns, BDS has 
upgraded the internal security tools and virus guards to 
bench mark against industry best practices. Subsequently, all 
laptops and desktops are malware protected. Furthermore, 
the proxy server and firewall also monitors the internal and 
external data traffic carefully. 

Looking Ahead
BDS envisions to gain competitive advantages through 
cutting-edge technologies in line with the vision and 
mission of the organisation. BDS further intends to launch 
a new web portal that will help share latest information in 
the industry.

BDS hopes to adopt a cloud-based system that keeps 
up with the latest trends in the world of IT. It has been 
designed and developed using the latest technology and 
is empowered by the best practices and internal controls 
of highest standards. Due to the reduction of manual 
intervention that can understandably lead to human error, 
the new system will boost the efficiency levels of BDS 
operations. The ERP solution will offer a sophisticated and 
active disaster recovery option to backup information.
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ANALYSIS OF INCOME
The total income of the company was LKR 235 Million, 
representing 58% from grants income. The majority of the 
grants were given by the Berendina Stichting. Hong Kong 
and Shanghai Banking Corporation and United Nations 
Children Funds Sri Lanka were the other donors who have 
provided the funds for the company. The investment 
income earned by the company represented more than 98% 
of the total other income. Major part of this interest income 
was re-invested in BMIC as loans to continue to the future 
sustainability of BDS.
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ANALYSIS OF THE EXPENDITURE
The total expenditure of the company increased from  
LKR 132 Million to LKR 147 Million, by 11% YoY. The 
total programme related expenses of LKR 116 Million 
was distributed among the Plantation Community 
Empowerment Project (LKR 39 Million), Rural Community 
Empowerment Project – Central (LKR 15 Million), Rural 
Community Empowerment Project - North Central (LKR 23 
Million) ,Rural Community Empowerment Project - North 
East (LKR 31 Million), Head Office Disaster Recovery Project 
(LKR 7 Million) & Assistance to Elder Homes and Children's 
Orphanages Project (LKR 1 Million). The programme 
expenses represented 79% of the total expenditure. The 
figure improves to 86%, if the total expenditure is excluded 
from the company contribution to the government 
revenue. The investment on human capital (including 
both Programme & Head Office) of the company stood 
at LKR 25.3 Million. The provision for impairment of loans 
and receivables increased due to the growth of the arrears 
value of the loans. The company charged LKR 3.4 Million, 
as provision for impairment of loans and receivables, which 
was given to plantation sector for housing construction and 
re-roofing during the year under review. The contribution 
towards the government revenue by the company was 
LKR 11 Million.

Financial Review
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NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR
Net surplus before tax was LKR 99 Million for the year 
under review. However, accumulated surplus as of 
31st December 2017 was LKR 638 Million, mainly due to 
the gift received from Berendina Micro finance Institute 
(Gurantee) Limited (BMI)  as equity shares. BMI approved 
the sales, transfer and assignment of all assets and liabilities 
of the company to Berendina Micro Investments Company 
Limited (BMIC) with effect from 30th September 2017. BMIC 
approved the taking over the entire business undertaking 
of BMI effective from 30th September 2017. The transfer 
of Assets and liabilities was duly effected by BMI & BMIC in 
accordance with the Asset Sale and Purchase agreement 
signed on 29th September 2017 between the concerned 
parties. Based on the said agreement, BMIC issued 55 Million 
(nominal value of LKR 10/= per share) shares to BDS since 
BMI waived off the right to receive the consideration 
from the above transaction. Hence, BDS recognized 
LKR 550 Million, as a gift of equity shares received from 
BMI in the statement of comprehensive income for the year 
ended 31st December 2017.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY
Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited is a fully 
owned subsidiary of Berendina Development Services 
(Guarantee) Limited.  Number of Shares held in BMIC by 
BDS increased from 18,002,281 to 74,802,821 during the 
year. 

Both BDS and BMIC are governed by two separated and 
delegated teams and both companies focus to server the 
marginalised communities to uplift their living standards.  
A summarized statement of performance of the subsidiary 
company is presented hereby. BMIC completed another 
outstanding year by recording highest profit generated 
forever in the history. The gross income of the company 
improved by 31% from LKR 640 Million to LKR 840 Million, 
for the year ended 31st December 2017, Interest income of 
BMI rose, from LKR 597 Million to LKR 789 Million (32 %) as 
per the financial year under review, the main reason for the 
such growth is expansion of the loan portfolio by 19%. 
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The total overhead expenditure increased to LKR 736 Million 
(31%) YoY. The interest and similar expenses of the company 
increased by 28% from LKR 199 Million to LKR 254 Million 
(28%) due to increase in the cost borrowing as well as 
enhancement of the new loan facilities. The provision for 
impairment of loans and receivables enlarged due to the 
increase of the arrears value of the loans. However, the 
company continuously maintains its supreme record by 
having the lowest PAR in the industry in Sri Lanka, with both 
the PAR ratios of the company being sustained at less than 
1%. Impairment charges of loan and receivable at the end of 
the current financial year stood at LKR 13 Million, compared 
to LKR 7.6 Million in the year before. The contribution 
towards the government revenue by the company was 
LKR 92 Million. It is expected, the effective tax rate of all 
taxes will go up to 64% at the commencement of the year 
2018. Profit after tax was LKR 103 Million, recording a 
growth of profit after tax by 27%. The outstanding loans 
and receivables balance as at 31st December 2017 was 
LKR 3,121 Million. Loans and receivables became restrained 
amidst rising bad loans, due to various non-controllable 
factors such as natural disasters, the resignation of field 
officers and the under performance of the economy. A 
slight increase of PAR was reported compared to the 
last year, increasing the PAR (30 days) by 0.18% and PAR 
(1day) by 0.44%. The PAR (30days) and PAR (1day) as at 
31st December 2017 was 0.57% & 0.91%, respectively. 
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Total equity of the company grew up to LKR 863 Million, 
at the end of the current financial year. It stood at 
LKR 731 Million, in the financial year before. Funds and 
reserves position and retained earning position of the 
company stood at LKR 87 Million and LKR 28 Million 
respectively, period on which under review. The outstanding 
balance of interest-bearing borrowing as at 31st December 
2017 was LKR 2,108 Million. The Net interest-bearing 
borrowing increased by LKR 259 Million (14%), which 
was solely utilized for the advancement of the loans and 
receivables of the company.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF BMIC
Description 2017 

(LKR Mn)
2016 

(LKR Mn)

Gross Income 840 640

Interest Income 789 597

Net Interest Income 535 398

Profit for the Year Before Tax 139 101

Profit/(Loss) for the Year After Tax 103 81

Loan and Receivables  3,121 2,624

Total Assets 3,435 2,937

Interest Bearing Borrowings 2,109 1,849

Equity 863 730

LOAN PORTFOLIO
The outstanding loans and receivables balance as at 
31st December 2017 was LKR 808 Million. The company 
does not intend on the growth of the loans and receivables, 
unless otherwise the interest income received from BMIC 
is reinvested. More than 95% of loans and receivables 
represented the loan given to BMIC. However, the company 
has not made any provision for impairment of the loans 
granted to BMIC, since the recoveries of such loans are 
settled on the due date. 
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FUNDING AND LIABILITIES
Accumulated surplus of the company as at 
31st December 2017 was LKR 1,603 Million, whereas the 
same surplus of the company the year before was LKR 966 
Million. Other liabilities mainly consisted of programme 
related expenses.

CONTACT PERSON TO OBTAIN 
INFORMATION RELATING TO 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The company prepared and audited both consolidated 
and separate financial statements for the financial year 
2017. The information related to the consolidated 
financial statements of the company can be inquired 
from the Accountant of the company at any time. His 
e-mail address is accbds.berendina@gmail.com and
telephone number is  (+94) 11 4367 641.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
The company has to face many challengers in the future, 
especially legislation changes according to the new Inland 
Revenue Act No. 24 of 2017. Income tax rate of the company 
will be increased by 4% in the financial year 2018. However, 
special concession given to non-government organizations 
for their investment income would have a benefit in the 
income tax. The company is engaged in construction 
activities such as water scheme, houses, latrines, culverts, etc. 
for marginalized people or communities. Such construction 
works are conducted by small scale contractors. According 
to the withholding tax rules, the specified percentage 
of the total bill has to be remitted to the Department of 
Inland Revenue. Our construction projects are small scale 
and the existing contractors always request to increase 
the price of the project values since they do not generate 
adequate profit from such construction activities for their 
sustainability. Hence, the proposed withholding tax rules 
will create further challenges to find quality contractors at 
a reasonable price. 

The steps are being taken to attract new donors as 
expansion plan of the company. The new project, “Make the 
contribution to improving the economic participation of 
women and youth in Sri Lanka”, will be implemented within 
the succeeding financial year. The project will be specifically 
targeting civil society organisations in the Batticaloa and 
Ampara districts. The total budget allocation for the particular 
project will be around LKR 100 Million and the duration 
will be 33 months.  The expected project outcomes will be 
influencing and advocacy by Civil Society Organizations to 
local authorities, Skills development of existing and potential 
Civil Society Organizations leaders, Strengthening of social 
networks among Civil Society Organisations members, 
Advocacy by Civil Society Organizations for greater women’s 
economic participation, Product diversification training and 
asset transfer, Supporting informed choices on finance 
options & facilitating access to markets, Increased strategic 
planning capacities and management skills of Civil Society 
Organization leaders, Lobbying, advocacy and influencing  
local government policies &  providing capacity-building. 

Financial Review
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SUSTAINABILITY 
The World Commission on Environment and Development 
(WCED) defines sustainability as the “development which 
meets the needs of the present generation without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs”. In a company viewpoint, sustainability is 
defined as an organisation meeting the needs of its present 
stakeholders, without compromising the ability to meet the 
needs of its future stakeholders. Subsequently, sustainability 
today is considered a key global agenda and a critical factor 
in determining the success or failure of a company. 

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 
From inception, BDS’ vision, philosophy and culture has 
been built on a strong foundation of integrity and purpose 
of building an equitable society where poverty does not 
exist, and where vulnerable marginalised communities are 
empowered. To this end BDS follows the Triple Bottom 
Line framework that integrates economic, social and 
environmental aspects of sustainability, which are the three 
pillars of the Triple Bottom Line, also known as the three 
Ps – People, Planet and Profit. Being a non-profit company 
BDS is however not driven by commercial interest, instead 
has a desire to help vulnerable marginalized communities 
come out of poverty. In this context, BDS’ operational 
strategy is focused with the sustainability strategy of linking 
operational objectives to sustainable goals.  

PEOPLE 
While the core people element in the BDS structure are the 
communities it serves, the organisation runs in a manner 
that enables all its stakeholders including staff and partners 
to benefit from its activities. Generally, the ‘people’ aspect 
of the Triple Bottom Line refers to an organization’s ethical 
practices with regard to human beings and its willingness 
to give back to the society. Nevertheless, in the case of BDS, 
the whole mission and operation concentrates on ethical 
practices, wellbeing and upliftment of its ‘people’. 

PLANET 
BDS understands that community empowerment and socio-
economic growth depends on environmental conservation. 
The organisation has thus taken a number of initiatives to 
educate communities on the importance of preserving the 
environment and has introduced them to environmental 
friendly business processes. During the year under review, 
BDS provided awareness training to farmers for Kumbuk 
Cultivation that promote re-forestation while minimising 
silting, thereby reducing soil degradation in water catchment 
areas. Furthermore, fishermen were also provided with legal 
fishing nets to minimize impact on lagoon ecosystems. 

The interventions align with BDS’ goal of empowering 
marginalised vulnerable communities where members of Civil 
Society Organisations and Production Cooperatives were 
provided training on how to identify and minimise ecological 
impact of their businesses. The ecological impact assessment 
thus serves as a selection criterion for granting subsidies 
to business founders. BDS also promote sustainable water 
management systems as well as diversified and innovative 
agricultural techniques. Therefore, in restructuring certain 
environmentally hazardous practices to comply with best 
environmental practices, BDS contributes towards achieving 
the dual objective of sustainable business growth and 
environmental preservation.

PROFIT 
The ‘profit’ element of the Triple Bottom Line takes into 
consideration the entire spectrum of an organisation’s 
income and the real economic benefits of the organisational 
activities to its communities. While BDS is dedicated 
towards empowering vulnerable marginalised communities 
come out of poverty, ‘Profit’ is referred to as the ‘Impact and 
Success’ of project interventions. BDS ensures sustainability 
of interventions by capacitating relevant government 
authorities and communities, so that upon completion of 
interventions, they are able to reap benefits even beyond 
project completion. The results further enable BDS to 
market to donors, where more funding can be attained.  

With a sustainability focus that transcend beyond the 
operational to one that is strategic and holistic, BDS 
strives to become a catalyst for positive change, where 
vulnerable and marginalised communities are empowered. 
In its execution, BDS’ sustainability strategy engages all its 
stakeholders in implementing the action plan and takes 
their concerns into consideration for further improvement.
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Stakeholder Engagement Mechanism Frequency of Engagement

Beneficiaries Regular Visiting Continuous

Counselling

Regular Follow-ups

Community Meetings

Social Engagement 

Government Project Design & Planning Meetings Continuous

Submission of Annual Action Plans

Bi-annual Reporting

Field Visits

Training Programs

Regular Monthly Meetings

Partners Program Planning Meetings Periodic meetings upon requirement

Performance Review Workshops

Written/ Electronic Communications

Joint Field Visits

Knowledge Sharing Events

Funding Partner/Donors Program Planning, Review & Reflection Meetings 
Written/ Electronic Communications

Periodic meetings upon requirements and 
monthly or quarterly reporting as required

Donor Visits

Employees Staff Meetings Scheduled timelines on a monthly basis or 
as required

Written/Electronic Communication (Memos, 
Reports, Circulars)

Training & Capacity Development Programs

Social Entertainment & Sports Activities Continuous

General Public Press Releases

Website

Social Media

Banners

Sign Boards

Sustainability Review

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES 
In line with BDS operational plan, the organisation carries 
out an extensive range of development programmes 
and funding initiatives focused on improving the lives of 
marginalised vulnerable communities throughout the year.

The operational plan details the need identification of 
the community, design and implementation plan of 
programmes, and monitoring of program effectiveness and 
assessing the impact. Based on this information the Annual 
Fund Plan is prepared and implemented. 

BDS’ primary source of funding comes from Berendina 
Stichting in The Netherlands. The deficit between the fund 
requirements based on the Annual Fund plan is bridged by 
bilateral donor, corporate, government funding and BMIC. 
The actual performance and funding requirements against 
the operational plan is monitored on a weekly and monthly 
basis. 
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PROCESS FOR CONDUCTING DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES 
This process generally follows a sequence of activities:

End Phase
Evaluation

Project
Identification

Project
Implementation
and Monitoring

Mid-term
Evaluation

and Reflection

Project
Planning

Project Planning
Once the needs and gaps of the society have been 
properly identified, the project formulation is initiated 
which leads to finding out the approaches, strategies and 
interventions the project should pursue in order to address 
the identified problems. This phase involves exercising the 
‘Problem Tree Analysis’ & ‘Objective Tree Analysis’ with 
the participation of all levels of personnel involved in the 
project management within the organisation. This exercise 
derives the intervention logic for the project that includes 
the project goal, outcomes, outputs and activities, with the 
identification of possible risks. These results are ultimately 
compiled to design the project logframe, which provides 
the organisation with a basic framework for its project 
management. This exercise also supports the identification 
of the target group of the project. During the next stage 
of the project planning, top management and middle 
management involves in the preparation of the ‘Detailed 
Implementation Plan’ and Project Budget. Simultaneously, 
the Monitoring & Evaluation unit engages in developing 
the Monitoring & Evaluation Plan for the project, which 
derives project-monitoring tools and establishment of the 
knowledge management system, that feeds information for 
project steering.   

THE PROCESS IN DETAIL

Project Identification
All BDS projects are focused on community empowerment 
and development. During this stage, BDS employs a 
pragmatic approach for a comprehensive understanding of 
real needs and gaps in the society.  The approaches employed 
ensure the participation of the community in identifying 
their own problems. Therefore, BDS uses the Participatory 
Rural Approach (PRA) method to identify the needs and gaps 
of the society. While BDS does not limit to PRA techniques, 
identification of needs and gaps involve consultation of 
other relevant stakeholders including government officials, 
local authorities, community representatives and like-
minded groups. This makes it possible to identify the real 
gaps and needs, which leads to a clear understanding of the 
dimensions of the problems prevailing in the society. This 
process feeds more realistic data for the project planning 
stage.  
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Project Implementation and 
Monitoring
Required approvals are obtained from relevant government 
institutes to ensure support throughout the project 
implementation stage. It involves inception workshops, 
submission of project proposals and action plans for 
relevant authorities at the initial stage of this phase. Once 
the required approvals are granted, the baseline survey is 
carried out to establish the baseline status of the target 
group with regard to the indicators defined in the M&E 
plan. Upon completion of these pre-requisites, project 
activities start to rollover as per the implementation plan 
developed. The target groups are provided with tangible 
and non-tangible inputs during the execution of the action 
plan, which are supposed to initiate the desired changes 
defined in the project design. The M&E unit engages in the 
routine monitoring throughout this stage. Simultaneously, 
the project staff conduct project activities and conduct 
routine monitoring of the project through staff capacity 
development programs. Project progress is reviewed 
continuously with regular progress review meetings and 
reflection events, which enables to identify lagging areas, 
incorporate lessons learnt and share experiences among 
project team members, thereby achieving short term & 
long-term project objectives. 

Mid-term Evaluation and Reflection
The mid-term evaluation is conducted to investigate 
relevance, effectiveness, efficiency and impact of the project 
so far. Evaluation findings assist to make decisions whether 
the project is navigated properly and if not what remedial 
measures should be taken. At times, these findings will lead 
to modifications of project design & reallocation of budgets. 

End Phase Evaluation
Project end is the expected phase out time of the project 
as per the project design, if it is not modified after the 
mid-term evaluation. This phase includes implementing 
all the transition activities that need to occur at the end 
of a project, including (but not limited to) confirming the 
deliverables with beneficiaries, collecting lessons learnt, and 
completing the administrative, financial and contractual 
closure activities. The end line evaluation, which takes place 
at this phase, measures the impact created in the target 
group. Findings of the end line evaluation is utilised for 
reflections of lessons learnt, challenges, best practices and 
recommendations.  

Sustainability Review
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Human Resource Review

Human resource of the organisation determines the 
capacity of an organisation to accomplish its goals. A strong 
workforce that represents a rich and diverse human resource 
base inclusive of skills,competencies, capabilities and 
experience plays a vital role in ensuring the healthy growth 
and sustainability of a Company. BDS in comprehending this 
critical perspective,remains dedicated to build a workforce 
that not only possess the relevant skills and knowledge, but 
also maintain a sense of passion and a profound feeling of 
connection towards achieving a common goal. With this 
understanding, BDS continue to acquire, cultivate and retain 
human resource that would ultimately drive the Company 
towards its set objectives.

HR POLICY
Our HR policy focuses on ensuring that the employees 
are not discriminated on the ground of race, gender, age 
and any other socioeconomic factor in the recruitment 
process,training and promotion of its employees. We 
continue to recruit staff based on their merit to fit into 
vacancy positions that become available or are newly 
created within our operations. We also maintain a flexible 
working culture that encourages open door policy, 
participatory decision making, team work,learning, and 
employee engagement.

EMPLOYEE PROFILE
Our approach to human resource management aims at 
nurturing our people through edification while embracing 
them with a learning environment that empowers them 
towards remarkable performance. In this regard,BDS 
currently employs two employee categories; permanent 
and contract staff which in total constitute an employee 
cadre of 34 as at 31stDecember 2017.

All staff members are initially recruited on a contract basis 
for a period of one year, following which the contract is 
extended for another one-year period. Staff members who 
complete two years of service are considered eligible for 
permanent staff cadre, a decision made by the management 
based on their performance. Nevertheless, both staff 
categories remain equally eligible for the compensation and 
benefits. The male workforce is relatively high with over half 
of the employees (73.53%) being male while 26.47% being 
females.

RECRUITMENT PROCESS
We thrive to ensure a transparent and unbiased recruitment 
and selection process that results in the appointment of the 
best candidate based solely on merit and best fit for the 
organisational values and goals. In this process, the primary 
step is the communication of vacancies to the Company’s 
Human Resource Department where a draft advertisement 
is developed stating the job profile, educational and 

professional qualifications required and benefits given. This 
would be circulated amongst the internal staff in addition to 
advertising in newspapers and employment websites.

Upon shortlisting the applicants at preliminary and 
secondary levels, an initial interview will be conducted, and 
the final selection will be done following another interview 
process, written tests or IQ test, and a scenario analysis 
tests. Once the approval is received from the necessary 
authorities, the applicant will be issued the offer letter to 
obtain the consent for employment terms after which 
formal letter for appointment will be issued.

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER
During the year under review, there was a staff turnover 
ratio of 20.74% amongst the staff who have served the 
Company for over three months. This turnover ratio is 
considered average in view of the industry turnover ratio. 
The staff turnover was 17.57% and 34.60% 2016 and 
2015respectively.

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS
BDS provides a range of other financial and non-financial 
benefits to the staff.

One of the key compensation for all contract and permanent 
staff is the EPF (Employer contribution is 15%) and ETF 
contributions in addition to being entitled for gratuity after 
five years of service. The staff was also provided with the 
opportunity to en-cash all available casual leave.

All staff members who complete over one year of service 
is given a cost of living allowance, in addition to providing 
them fixed allowances such as boarding allowance, phone 
allowance on a need basis, which was increased last year. 
Besides, field staff at branch level were also given allowances 
such as field visit allowances to cover the travelling and 
food cost including motorcycle fuel cost reimbursement, 
motorcycle revenue license and emission test cost 
reimbursement. Additionally, field staff members were given 
motor cycle helmets, rain coats, boots and bags for field use 
free of charge.

Moreover, staff were given assistance in educational 
attainment which was considered the main criteria in the staff 
grading system. Hence, BDS provided monetary assistance 
to staff who are pursuing professional qualifications (upto 
postgraduate level) in Social Development related area. They 
were given up to 100% course fee (depending on relevancy 
to work area, service period and investment amount etc).

Of the total amount, 50% is given at the start while the 
balance given at the end of the course at the submission of 
the certificate.
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A range of insurance policies are offered to all staff members 
of BDS. These benefits include a health insurance policy that 
covers all medical expenses including OPD and hospitalisation 
expenses, for the employee and family members, a personal 
accident policy and a life insurance policy that provides 
death benefit up to LKR 2 Million,Workman Compensation 
Insurance (WCI) policy and amotor cycle insurance.

As for the staff loan schemes, they were given in house 
personal loans for permeant employees up to LKR 200,000 
and compensate amaximum of 8% interest rate for bank 
loans upto LKR 500,000 obtained by staff in addition to 
motorcycle loans,distress loans, laptop loans and festival 
advance.

More benefits for the staff include marriage allowance of 
LKR 10,000, funeral allowance of LKR 15,000 that is even 
applicable in the event of demise of the employee’s close 
family member, as well as the staff annual get together 
and annual trip allowance. During the year, staff funeral 
allowance and the annual trip allowance were increased.

STAFF WELFARE
The annual get together is one of the most important 
events in Berendina’s calendar. The event brings all staff 
together to remind each one about their commitment 
to reducing poverty among the communities we serve. 
It further provides opportunities for staff to build good 
relationships with one another, thereby building trust and 
friendship among colleagues. Subsequently, Berendina 
group’s annual get together was held on the 02nd & 03rd 
of September 2017, at Koggala Long Beach Hotel. 330 
employees of Berendina group participated at this event. 
During this event, eight staff members who have served 
Berendina group for 10 years were also appreciated. Out of 
the eight staff, two were BDS employees. This was one of 
the highlights of the event. 

In order to further strengthen staff relationships and 
corporation among each other, Berendina group further 
sponsored a two-day staff trip for each branch and provided 
one official leave, where staff families were too encouraged 
to participate

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
Appraisals are vital for human resource management and 
performance management. Critical evaluation of their 
role,objectives, benefits and purpose within an organisation 
is significant to understanding the future career direction.

Hence, we conduct staff appraisals every year in order to 
assess and evaluate the performance of all staff members 
who have been in service for over three months. The job 
specific tasks are evaluated against Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs) while also taking into consideration factors 
such as managerial skills, behavioral disciplines, training and 
development needs of the staff. The annual increments and
promotions under the grading system will be decided 
basedon the marks received for appraisals.

BDS utilise a standard appraisal format to evaluate all staff 
categories where they first have to fill an appraisal form by 
themselves as a self-assessment. Afterwards, an interview 
will be conducted amongst each and every staff member 
bya selected interview panel. Based on the interview 
outcome,final appraisal marks will be decided by the 
appraisal team. Employees are also given an opportunity 
to comment in writing their decision of the appraisal team 
which is reviewed by the senior management at the final 
decision making.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Training and development opportunities play a vital role in 
enhancing human capacity. As such, BDS provides technical 
trainings and soft skills trainings for their staff members.
Technical trainings are mainly related to credit appraisal and 
delinquency management. Soft skills trainings are mainly

in relation to management, attitudinal and motivational 
aspect. Besides, the staff were also exposed to other 
seminars and workshops for further career development. 
Staff were also given educational support in enhancing their 
educational/professional qualifications (up to post graduate 
level). In this regard, BDS contributes up to 100% course 
fees.

BDS strives to provide opportunities for staff to develop 
their skills and further their career goals, while at the same 
time creating a conducive environment for working. 

Human Resource Review
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Training at MDF Training & Consultancy
The key strategic shift of BDS took place in 2017 to pursue a 
systematic management of the project cycle. It thus became 
increasingly important to capture essential quantitative 
& qualitative changes of the program, which demanded 
M&E systems that go beyond tracking activities. Therefore, 
staff capacity development was required to adapt to the 
new changes and challenges. The newly appointed M&E 
Manager participated in a four-day workshop on Monitoring 
Evaluation & Learning (MEL), conducted by MDF South Asia.
The training provided him with practical and participatory 
M&E methodologies and tools to enhance program 
monitoring, organizational accountability, decision making 
and learning practices. 

Sri Lanka Evaluator’s Association (SLEVa) 
Workshop
Representing BDS, two staff members participated in 
the 6th Biennial International Conference of Sri Lanka 
Evaluation Association in September 2017.  BDS further 
sponsored these staff to attend several professional 
development workshops held,following the conference.  This 
was an excellent opportunity to interact with development 
professionals nationally, as well as internationally, and share 
firsthand experience on contemporary project/program 
management practices. 

Training on Value Chain Mapping
As part of the Strategic Plan 2017-2019 BDS shifted from 
the individual livelihood approach to strengthening value 
chains by linking poor and vulnerable communities to 
mainstreamed economic value chains, through private 
sector partnerships and social business strategies. Therefore, 
in order to create awareness among the staff, BDS facilitated 
a training program on value chain identification, design and 
implementation, for selected staff. This was conducted by a 
team of 3 consultants from SAP SE (under the SAP Social 
Sabbatical Program) as a short-term assignment. During 
this 1-month assignment, together with BDS participants, 
the SAP team successfully developed essential tools & 
methodologies required to identify, design and implement 
value chains. 

FUTURE PLANS
Going forward, BDS intends to conduct research in 
understanding employee perception on the organization 
and a salary survey to determine the industry accepted rate 
of remuneration for the employees. While BMIC intends to 
utilise the services of an independent research agency in 
conducting the research studies, the findings are expected 
to be utilised in uplifting the staff morale.

Human Resource Review
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The group understands the importance of performing risk 
assessments periodically to mitigate any risks involved in 
its overall risk management process. Therefore, the group 
considers a comprehensive risk assessment to be a critical 
part of identifying and addressing the organisation strategy, 
operational model, external environment and financial 
concerns.

Risk Management Review

The BOD bears ultimate responsibility for oversight of 
risk management of BDS and its subsidiary company and 
determines the risk treatments and reviews the governance 
structure, policy framework, risk management processes 
and other matters related to the effective management of 
risk on a regular basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

STEP

01

STEP

02

STEP

04

Risk Identification
Risk Analysis

Risk Monitoring
and Review

Risk Treatment 
STEP

03

1. Risk Identification
BDS is exposed to a number of risks which comes with the 
potential to impact the organisational ability to achieve 
strategic goals. Identifying the different types of risks and 
their associated consequences is vital for a smooth run 
of an organisation. Having a risk management framework 
therefore helps to maintain the balance between risk 
and reward, reduce possible unwelcome surprises, allow 
strategic planning and timely response permitting BDS to 
make use of the scarce resources in an effective manner.

2. Risk Analysis
Risk assessment framework includes discussions with 
employees at all levels and departments of BDS. The 
employees are requested to recognise what they perceive 
as key risks within their areas, while gathering ideas to 
effectively address or mitigate them. Special attention is 
paid to those risks that can have a significant likelihood of 
occurrence. Mapping the risks based on their likelihood of 
occurrence and the potential impact if they occur, is a key 
part of risk analysis.

3. Risk Treatment
The history, culture, ethics, policies, ongoing compliance 
and employee intent are some factors that are taken into 
consideration, while assessing the likelihood and impact of 
the risks. Categorising the probability of a risk occurrence is 
made using the scale minor, moderate or severe. Such rating 
has allowed BDS to protect its reputation and demeanor 
from any impediment.

4. Risk Monitoring and Review
BDS has segregated duties regarding oversight of assets, 
reporting and payments to have sufficient verification and 
balances to protect against fraud or misuse of assets. BDS 
pays effective consideration to controls over payments and 
having an appropriate reconciliation process by keeping 
track of inventory, reimbursement of travel expenses and 
similar matters. Whilst some risks can be managed by the 
organisation, there are other, Macroeconomic risks and 
Macro prudential, regulatory and legal risks that need to be 
monitored in order to assess their impact. 
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Risk Management Review

A periodic risk assessment of BDS has identified the following as potential risks and steps to mitigate them.

Identified Risk Describe Identified Risk Mitigation Activities

Programmatic 
Risks

Risks, which are related to how the project is 
designed and implemented, which may result 
in not meeting the needs of beneficiaries 
and/or potentially doing harm (eg diversion, 
lack of capacity, poor service delivery).

 y Ensure stakeholder participation during need 
assessment through Participatory Rural Appraisal (PRA) 
techniques.

 y Extended project monitoring throughout the project 
implementation phase & organising regular progress 
review meetings to steer the project.

 y Build up close relationships with target groups to 
maintain their interest throughout the project.

 y Enabling a learning environment which employees 
can identify their personal potential & achieve them 
successfully by technical & soft skill training.

Strategic Risk Strategic risks are typically external or affect 
the most senior management decisions. As 
such, they are often missed from many risk 
registers. The Board has a responsibility to 
make sure all these types of risks are included 
in their key strategic discussions.

 y The BOD gather three times per year to discuss 
particular matters that impact the organisation and 
its decisions. The Board members are involved in key 
operational decisions also on day to day basis.

Reputation Risk Reputation risk is a risk of loss resulting 
from damages to a firm’s reputation, in 
lost revenue, increased operating, capital 
or regulatory costs or destruction of 
Member value, consequent to an adverse 
or potentially criminal event even if the 
company is not found guilty. Adverse events 
typically associated with reputation risk 
include ethics, safety, security, sustainability, 
quality, and innovation. Reputational risk 
can be a matter of trust and this type of risk 
can be informational in nature that may be 
difficult to realise financially.

 y Monitoring and evaluating the compliance of statutory 
and legal requirements by General Managers and Senior 
Managers.

 y A separate communication department to handle 
organization’s communication under the supervision of 
the General Manager

 y Maintain a comprehensive complaint handling process 
overseen by District & Regional Managers

Liquidity Risk Liquidity risk is the inability to meet 
contractual and contingent financial 
obligations as they fall due, without incurring 
unacceptable losses which result in asset and 
liability mismatches. Therefore BDS assess 
the need for funds to meet obligations and 
to ensure the availability of adequate funding 
to fulfill those needs at the appropriate time, 
both under normal and stressed conditions

 y Cash flows and projections are monitored on weekly, 
monthly and annual basis

 y Weekly analysis of variance in liquidity position

 y Build up good relationships with funding partners

Market Risk Market risk is the potential of an adverse 
impact on the capital due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates, commodity prices or 
equity and debt prices. 

 y The Board regularly monitors financial, economic and 
industry indicators in order to minimise the impact on 
the financials due changes in tax, commodity prices, 
interest rates and exchange rates.
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Identified Risk Describe Identified Risk Mitigation Activities

Operational Risk BDS is exposed to operational risk as it 
is inherent in all products and processes. 
Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses 
stemming from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or from 
external events such as natural disasters, 
social or political events as well as legal risk.

 y A comprehensive operational manual in place to 
maintain operational processes and procedures 
systematically.

 y Internal control procedures, policy documents and 
guidelines are circulated and maintained at all branches.

 y Annually review all policies and procedures by 
management team with consultation of BOD and made 
amendments if necessary.

 y Internal control processes are audited by internal audit 
team to mainly cover the scope of the reliability of 
financial information, safeguard assets, recovery and 
documentation process.

 y Obtain monthly IT backup and regular system audits 
carried out by internal audit team. 

 y A financial and non-financial incentive system properly 
designed based on performance and loyalty and made 
attractive provident fund contribution.

 y Enabling a learning environment which employees 
can identify their personal potential and achieve them 
successfully by sponsoring technical and soft skills 
trainings.

 y Proper grievance handling procedures and exit 
interviews to mitigate staff turnover.

 y The BOD and Senior Management continuously monitor 
the changes of statutory and regulatory requirements 
and ensure BDS meets such requirements on time.

Risk Management Review
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Corporate Governance

1. INTERNAL GOVERNANCE 
STRUCTURE
The Internal Governance structure of the company and its 
subsidiary company is embedded within the organisation, 
which has an impact on executing and monitoring all 
governance initiatives, its systems and processes. The 
Structure encompasses the following.

i. Members of BDS

ii. The shareholders of BMIC

iii. Board of Directors (BOD) of BDS and BMIC

iv. Board appointed Sub-Committees

v. Employee Empowerment

The above five components are strengthened and 
complemented by internal policies, processes and 
procedures. However, accountability, integrity, leadership, 
sustainability and transparency are key principles based on 
good governance practices of the group. The governance 
structure, processes, systems and frameworks are designed 
based on these principles, which are achieved through board 
oversight, delegation of authorities and responsibilities, 
appropriate risk management, allocation of work, evaluation 
of risk and compliance, performance appraisals and financial 
reporting. 

1.1  The member of BDS and the 
Shareholders of BMIC
BDS’s highest governing body is its Members. There are 6 
Members in the company. While four members are based 
in The Netherlands, two members are local Members 
based in Sri Lanka. These members are the most influential 
stakeholders who have the power to exercise their influence 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) by way of passing 
resolutions. These include approving the Annual Report and 
Audited Financial Report, appointment of external auditors, 
appointment of BOD and deciding the remuneration of 
BOD. However, members of the company are not entitled 
to any remuneration from the company. The remuneration 
of the BOD of the company are approved by the members 
during the AGM. 

Being the parent company of BMIC, BDS has supreme 
power to influence the governing structure of BMIC in the 
AGM by way of passing resolutions for adopting the annual 
report and the audited financial statements, appointing the 
auditors and appointing the directors and deciding their 
fees and remunerations.

1.2. Board of Directors
The Board of Directors (BOD) of BDS are the second highest 
governing body of BDS. They are appointed at the AGM. 
While the BOD promote a culture of openness, they also 
provide constructive dissent in carrying out responsibilities. 
They are further responsible for ensuring the company 
assists poor citizens of Sri Lanka, regardless of their cast, 
creed, race or any other discriminatory barrier. 

The governing power of the BMIC by the BOD of the 
company is second only to its shareholder. Therefore, the 
BOD of the company performs its affairs with honesty and 
due care for all its stakeholders. 

1.2.1  Board Responsibilities
 y Formulating, implementing and monitoring of business 

strategies

Developing and implementing annual business plan, annual 
budgets and managing day-to-day operations are fulfilled 
by the corporate management team under the supervision 
of the Board of Directors. The Board is responsible for 
formulation, implementation and monitoring of business 
strategies with the participation of corporate management 
team. The decisions are taken in a participatory manner. 
The annual schedules of programmes are designed in line 
with BDS’ 3-year strategic plan. This schedule and financial 
budget is approved by the Board of Directors. Members from 
The Netherlands visit BDS twice a year in order to evaluate 
the progress of the programmes against the approved plan.

 y Monitoring and evaluating internal control

The BOD are responsible of designing, implementing 
and reviewing appropriate effective internal policies, 
procedures and controls. The Board Members visit the 
field and also  delegates independent officers to regularly 
conduct field visits to review the progress of development 
programmes to monitor whether internal controls, integrity 
of information, and risk management policies are in place. 
The internal audit team directly reports to the BOD of the 
company. External auditors report to both local and foreign 
Members. Additionally, external consultants are regularly 
engaged to provide advice and a balanced view against the 
organization’s key processes and activities.



Annual Report 2017   |   Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited 67

DRAFT 03
27.08.2018

 y Compliance with laws, regulations and ethical standards

 y The provision of number of statutory enactments, 
directions, determinations, internal circulars, internal 
memos and standard codes are the key governing 
frameworks of the company. These are; Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007 and amendments thereto, Inland 
Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006 and amendments thereto, 

 y Sri Lanka Accounting Standards issued by the ICASL, 
Termination of Employment Act No. 45 of 1971 and 
amendments thereto, Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983 
and amendments thereto, Code of best practice on 
Corporate Governance issued jointly by CA Sri Lanka 
2017, EPF – Act No. 15 of 1958 and amendments 
thereto, ETF – Act No. 46 of 1980 and amendments 
thereto, Shop and Office Employees – Act No. 19 of 
1954 and amendments thereto, Voluntary social 
Services Organisation’s (Registration & Supervision) 
Act No 31 of 1980 and amendments thereto.

The company further follows ethical standards in carrying 
out operations, while taking relevant measures to comply 
with laws and regulations wherever possible. 

 y Consider all stakeholder interest in corporate decisions 

The Board of Directors ensure minimum or no negative 
attitude towards stakeholders in the corporate decision 
making process.

 y Adoption of appropriate accounting policies and 
fostering compliance with financial regulations

The company’s Accounting Policies are prepared based on 
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS and LKAS) and 
industry best practices. Further, such policies are reviewed 
annually and updated accordingly to reflect the true and 
fair financial position of the company. Financial statements 
of the company are prepared and presented in compliance 
with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRSs and LKAS) 
and also comply with the requirements of the Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007 and the directions issued there under. 
The Independent Auditor’s Report is given on page 76 of 
this Report.

 y Access to advice and services of the Company Secretary

All Directors have access to advice and services from the 
Company Secretary. The Secretary ensures that Board 
procedures are followed and are in compliance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and other 
applicable rules and regulations. The Secretary possesses 
the required qualifications as per the Companies Act and 
only the Board has the authority to change the Secretary.

1.2.2  Board Composition
The BOD comprise of two Executive Directors including 
the Chairman. Other than the BOD, there are four other 
Members representing Berendina Stichting that engage in 
Strategic decisions of the Company, and provide necessary 
guidance to the Board. Berendina Stichting is the principal 
funder which is a Trust, registered in The Netherlands and is 
the founder of BDS.  

1.2.3  Board Skills
The Board is experienced in community development, 
social & livelihood development, project management, 
microfinance, NGO management, financial management 
and other related aspects, coupled with passion and 
commitment towards poverty alleviation.

1.2.4  Access to Independent Professional 
Advice
In order to preserve the independence of the Board 
and to strengthen the decision making, the Board seeks 
independent professional advice for legal, Tax, HR and IT 
when deemed necessary. 

1.2.5  Board Meetings
Name of Director Status Date of Meeting

31.03.2017 13.06.2017 26.08.2017

Mr. Anura H 
Atapattuge

Chairman X X X

Mr. Jagath C 
Godakanda

Executive 
Director

X X X

X – Present  0 – Absent 

1.3  Board Appointed Sub-Committee 
of the Company 

1.3.1  Human Resource Committee
The Human resource committee of BDS determines 
remuneration packages for employees based on their 
performance, industry trends and past remuneration. 
Succession planning of Key Management Personnel is 
further undertaken by the committee.   

Critical HR decisions are taken by the Human resource 
committee, a team that includes the Chairman, Director, 
General Managers (GM), Head of HR(HHR) and Head of 
Finance (HOF). These include special increments if any, 
Staff Promotions / Designation changes and issues related 
to employment which is raised by respective employees. In 
addition, the committee jointly takes decisions on allowances 
for Cost of Living, developing new HR policies and updating 
any outdated circulars and procedures, staff education 
scholarship circulars, and the staff grading system. The human 
resource committee strives for continuous improvement of 
HR processes and systems in the most effective and efficient 
manner in line with best practices in HR.

Corporate Governance
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1.3.2  Management Audit Committee
BDS does not have a Management Audit Committee 
during the year under view. However, the functionalities 
were carried out by a dedicated Internal Auditor and the 
Monitoring & Evaluation Department. The Internal Auditor 
is responsible for assessing the strength of the internal 
controls, identify risks and compliance requirements of 
the company. The Monitoring & Evaluation Department 
is responsible for ensuring impact of the overall strategic 
plan. BDS however plans to establish a Management Audit 
Committee during the next financial year, following the 
appointment of a new independent Director. 

1.4  Employee Empowerment
Given the importance of the group places on its employees 
for the growth of the organization, policies, processes 
and systems are in place to ensure effective recruitment, 
development and retention of this vital stakeholder. 
The bedrock of these policies is the group’s competency 
framework. 

Top management and other senior staff are mandated to 
get involved in formulating goals, strategies and plans while, 
all levels of staff are encouraged to participate in decision 
making as appropriate for each level in order to instill a 
sense of ownership, reduce bureaucracy and speed-up the 
decision making process.

The group creates an environment to put forward 
employees’ independent opinions at decision making 
forums and initiates discussions by obtaining operational 
level feedback for critical aspects of new developments. Use 
of the inputs of field level staff in all operational decision 
making processes gives them a high sense of value for their 
constructive inputs in the decision making process.

The group strongly believes that constructive disagreement 
is essential for optimal decision making. Moreover, the group 
provides a safe, secure and conducive environment for its 
employees, allows freedom of association and collective 
bargaining, prohibits child labour, forced or compulsory 
labour and any discrimination based on gender, race or 
religion, and promotes workplaces which are free from 
physical, verbal or sexual harassment. 

1.5  Governance of the Subsidiary 
Company 
BDS’ subsidiary company BMIC complies with The Code of 
Best Practice on Corporate Governance issued jointly by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) of Sri Lanka 
and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. 
The BOD consist of two Executive Directors and two 
Non-Executive Directors as at 31st December 2017. The 
positions of Chairman and Executive Director are held by 
two separate individuals. The remuneration of the BOD is 
decided by shareholders at the AGM. Furthermore, there are 
two Board appointed Sub-Committees – Human Resource 
Committee and Management Audit Committee. 

2.  INTEGRATED GOVERNANCE 

2.1  Human Resource Governance
BDS human resource governance is designed in a manner 
that enables accessibility by any employee to every level of 
management. BDS provides equal opportunity to staff at all 
levels of the organization’s hierarchy and constant dialogue is 
facilitated to address work related issues as well as concerns 
pertaining to general interest that could affect employees. 
BDS follows an open door policy for its employees and this 
is promoted at all levels of the organisation.

2.1.1  Performance Management
The performance management system is at the heart of 
many supporting human resource management processes 
such as learning and development, career development, 
succession planning, talent management, rewards/ 
recognition and compensation/ benefits.

BDS conducted local and foreign exposure visits and special 
seminar sessions for employees to uplift their soft and hard 
skills. The organisation selected the “best employee of the 
year”, which entitled the holder to gifts in the form of cash 
and non-cash benefits. BDS has a policy to prioritize internal 
staff members for job openings.

2.2  Channels to Reach all Stakeholders 
of the Company 

2.2.1  Principal Activities
The principal activities of the organisation is to increase 
vulnerable marginalised population’s access to economic 
resources by enhancing their engagement in mainstreamed 
economic value chains, provide access to safe drinking water 
and sanitation facilities while instilling proper hygienic 
practices among communities, infrastructure development 
support including construction of houses, and advocating 
for issues that affect poor and vulnerable communities in 
rural and plantation areas. BDS aims to empower vulnerable 
men and women, widows, elders and persons with disabilities 
to become socio-economically active, realising their rights 
thereby leading towards a quality life. 

2.2.2  Financial Reporting
The Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the Financial Statements of the group 
and the company in accordance with Sri Lanka Financial 
reporting standards (LKAS/SLFRS).

2.2.3  Auditors Report
The auditor’s report on the Financial Statements the group 
and the company is given on page 76.

Corporate Governance
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2.2.4 Related Party Transactions
BDS considers its Board of Directors and members of 
corporate management as key management personnel. 
Details are on Financial Statements the group and the 
company’s on note 28 in page 103.

2.2.5  Internal Control
“The Directors statement on internal control” acknowledges 
their responsibility for a sound internal control system.

2.2.6  Going Concern
The going Concern has been adopted in the preparation of 
the Financial Statements the group and the company after 
making necessary inquiries and reviews.  The management 
is confident that BDS has adequate resources to continue 
its operational existence for the foreseeable future.

3. ASSURANCE MECHANISMS
The assurance mechanisms comprise of various supervisory, 
monitoring and benchmarking elements of BDS Corporate 
Governance System which are used to measure actual against 
plan with a view to signaling the need for quick corrective 
action, when necessary. These mechanisms also act as 
safety nets and internal checks in the governance system. 
The Board of Directors and General Managers together with 
the corporate management team are committed towards 
assuring the best corporate governance mechanisms. 

3.1  BDS Code of Conduct
The objectives of the Code of Conduct are strongly 
affirmed by a strong set of Corporate Values which are well 
institutionalised at all levels within the group company 
through structured communication. BDS the group 
endeavors to adhere to and comply with the rules and 
regulations applicable in the territories that the group 
operates in at all times. Importance of conducting business 
in an ethical manner at all times in keeping with acceptable 
business practices and exercising professionalism and 
integrity in all businesses, public and personal transactions 
is strongly emphasised. The degree of employee steadfast 
with corporate values and their degree of loyalty to the 
BDS Code of conduct of the group are the key elements of 
reward and recognition schemes.

BDS strategic vision, mission and goals disclosed in the 
Annual Report have been consistently referred to by the 
Chairman,Board of Directors, Sector and Departmental 
Heads during employee and other key stakeholder 
engagements.

4. REGULATORY AND ACCOUNTING 
BENCHMARKS
The Board and the members of the corporate management, 
strive to ensure that the company and its subsidiary 
company complied with the laws and regulations of the 
country.

The Board of Directors, of the company and its subsidiary 
company also took all reasonable steps in ensuring that 
all financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS/LKAS) issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka 
(CA Sri Lanka). Information in the financial statements 
of the group and the company of the Annual Report are 
supplemented by a detailed Management discussion and 
analysis which explains to stakeholders the strategic, 
operational, investment, sustainability and risk related 
aspects of the company that have translated into the 
reported financial performance and are likely to influence 
future results. The company and its subsidiary company is 
fully compliant with all the mandatory rules and regulations 
stipulated by the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

The company and its subsidiary company has also given due 
consideration to the Best Practice on Corporate Governance 
Reporting guidelines jointly set out by CA Sri Lanka and the 
SEC (Securities & Exchange Commission) and embraced 
such practices voluntarily where relevant and value adding.

Corporate Governance
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Internal Audit Review

BDS has a dedicated Internal Auditor and a Monitoring & 
Evaluation Department that carries out the functionalities 
of a Management Audit Committee. They are entrusted 
with the delegated responsibility of the Board of Directors 
for ensuring that there is a framework for accountability; 
for examining and reviewing all systems and methods of 
control both financial and otherwise including risk analysis 
and risk management; and for ensuring that the company 
complies with all aspects of the law, relevant regulations 
and good practice.

Consistent with the organisation’s mission, the Internal 
Auditor and Monitoring & Evaluation Department 
provides the management with information, appraisals, 
recommendations, and counsel regarding the activities 
examined and other significant issues. Subsequently, Head 
Office and Field Office monitoring was conducted on a 
monthly basis during the year under review. 

The dedicated Internal Auditor carries out internal audits of 
Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited. The 
Internal Auditor assigned at the Head Office carries out the 
Branch Audits covering the Business Operations as well as 
the Accounting and Administration Functions of the Branch. 
BDS has put in place an internal audit process to monitor 
and ensures corrective action is carried out on any issues 
reported by the Internal Auditor during the Audits.

The Internal Auditor and the Monitoring & Evaluation 
Department meets once every quarter during the months 
of February, May August and November for review, and 
matters discussed are tabled at the next Board meeting.  



Financial
Statements
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Statements of Director ’s 
Responsibilities for Financial Reporting
The responsibilities of the Directors in relation to the 
Financial Statements of the company and consolidated 
financial statements of the company and  its subsidiary 
company (the group) prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 are set 
out in the following statement. The responsibilities of the 
External Auditor in relation to the financial statements are 
set out in the Report of the Auditors given in page 76 of the 
Annual Report.

As per the provisions of the sections 150 (1), 151,152 and 
153 (1) & (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 the 
Directors are required to prepare financial statements of 
the group and the company that give a true and fair view 
of the financial position for each financial year and place 
them before the Annual General Meeting. The financial 
statements comprise the statement of financial position as 
at end of the financial year, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended and notes thereto.

The financial statements of the group and the company 
are prepared by the Accountant under the supervision of 
Head of Finance. The Directors confirm that the financial 
statements of the group and the company give a true and 
fair view of:

1. The state of affairs of the group and the company as at 
31st December 2017; and

2. The financial performance of the group and 
the company for the financial year ended 
31st December 2017.  

The Board of Directors accepts the responsibility for 
the integrity and objectivity of the financial statements 
presented in this Annual Report. The Directors confirm that 
in preparing these financial statements;

1. The appropriate accounting policies have been selected 
and applied in a consistent manner and material 
departures, if any, have been disclosed and explained;

2. Judgments and estimates have been made which are 
reasonable and prudent; and

3. All applicable Accounting Standards, as relevant, have 
been complied with.

The Directors are also required to ensure that the company 
has adequate resources to continue the operation on going 
concern basis in preparing these financial statements. 
Further, the Directors have a responsibility to ensure that 
the company has maintained sufficient accounting records 
to disclose, with reasonable accuracy the financial position 
of the group and the company. 

The financial statements prepared and presented in this 
Report are consistent with the underlying books of account 
and are in conformity with the requirements of Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards (SLFRS/LKAS), Companies Act No. 07 
of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standard Act 

No. 15 of 1995 and amendments thereto, the Code of Best 
Practice on Corporate Governance issued jointly by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL) and 
the Securities Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC).

The Directors have also instituted effective and 
comprehensive systems of Internal Control for identifying, 
recording, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced by the group and the company throughout the 
year and it is being under regular review of the Board of 
Directors of its subsidiary company and the BDS company. 
This comprises internal reviews, internal audit and the whole 
system of financial and other controls required to carry on 
the business in an orderly manner, safeguard its assets, 
prevent and detect frauds and other irregularities and 
secure as far as possible the accuracy and reliability of the 
records. The results of such reviews carried out during the 
year ended 31st December 2017 are given in page 73 of the 
Annual Report, “Directors Statement on Internal Control”. 
External Auditors’ Assurance Report on the “Directors 
Statement on Internal Control” is given on page 73 of the 
Annual Report.

Directors are required to prepare the financial statements 
of the group and the company and to provide the 
company’s external auditor, Messrs Ernst & Young, 
Chartered Accountants, with every opportunity to carry 
out whatever reviews and sample checks they may consider 
appropriate and necessary for expressing their independent 
audit opinion on the Financial Statements of the group 
and the company. The responsibilities of the Directors in 
relation to the financial statements of the group and the 
company prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 are set out in the following 
statement. The responsibilities of the External Auditor in 
relation to the financial statements are set out in the Report 
of the Auditors given in page 76 of the Annual Report. 

The Directors to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
are satisfied that all statutory payments in relation to all 
relevant regulatory and statutory authorities which were 
due and payable by the group and the company as at the 
statement of financial position date have been paid or 
where relevant provided for. The Directors are of the view 
that they have discharged their responsibilities as set out in 
this statement.

By order of the Board,

RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd.

 
Company Secretary 
5th March 2018 
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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Directors’ Statement on  
Internal Control 

REQUIREMENT
The ‘Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance 2013’ 
(The Code) issued jointly by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and The Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Sri Lanka recommends, Board to present a statement on 
internal controls.

RESPONSIBILITY
Maintaining a sound system of internal controls to 
safeguard stakeholders’ investment and assets of its 
subsidiary company and the company is the responsibility 
of the Board of Directors. The Board identifies significant 
risks on an ongoing basis and ensures the implementation 
of appropriate systems to evaluate and manage identified 
risks.

KEY FEATURES OF PROCESS ADOPTED 
IN APPLYING AND REVIEWING THE 
DESIGN AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM ON 
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board ensures the effectiveness of the company’s and 
its subsidiary company’s operations and that the company’s 
and its subsidiary operations are in accordance with 
corporate objective, strategy and annual budget, policies, 
business environment and internal operating conditions. 
The internal audit function and monitoring & evaluation 
function provide comfort on the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the Internal Control System. It monitors compliance with 
policies and procedures and highlights significant findings 
in respect of noncompliance. The frequency of audits 
and impact evaluation of the projects are determined 
by the level of risk assessed. The Board reviews internal 
control issues identified by the company Internal Auditors, 
External Auditors, Monitoring & Evaluation team regulatory 
authorities and the management, and evaluates the 
adequacy of the internal control system.

CONFIRMATION STATEMENT
The Board of Directors of Berendina Development Service 
(Guarantee) Limited confirm that the financial reporting 
system has been designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and that the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
has been done in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (SLFRS/LKAS) and Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

Chairman

Director
5th March 2017
Colombo
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors  
on the Affairs of the Company
Annual Report of the Board of Directors on the affairs of 
the group and the company and Statement of Compliance 
of the contents of the Annual Report as required by Section 
168 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

The Directors of Berendina Development Services (Gte) Ltd 
have pleasure in submitting their report together with the 
audited financial statements of the company and audited 
consolidated financial statements of the company its 
subsidiary company for the year ended 31st December 2017.

With the long term vision of contributing towards alleviating 
poverty, the company obtained its local registration as 
Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited and is 
registered under the Company Act No. 07 of 2007 with the 
number GL 28. It is further registered as a Non-Government 
Organization under Voluntary Social Services Organizations 
Act, No. 31 of 1980 as amended by act, No. 08 of 1998 
under the number L-159410.  

Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited was 
registered (registration number- PB5235) as a public limited 
liability company on 20th November 2014, under the 
companies Act No. 07 of 2017. 

PRINCIPLE ACTIVITIES AND THE 
REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE DURING 
THE YEAR 
The principal activities of the organisation include increasing 
vulnerable marginalised population’s access to economic 
resources by enhancing their engagement in mainstreamed 
economic value chains, providing access to safe drinking 
water and sanitation facilities, while instilling proper hygienic 
practices among communities, infrastructure development 
support including construction of houses, and advocating 
for issues that affect poor and vulnerable communities in 
rural and plantation areas. BDS aims to empower vulnerable 
men and women, widows, elders and persons with disabilities 
to become socio-economically active, realising their rights 
thereby leading towards a quality life.  

The principle activities of BMIC during the year under review 
include providing Micro loan facilities for assets building, 
business starting, Business development, agriculture etc. 
combined with Enterprise Development Services. The 
aim of the company is to build a sustainable microfinance 
oraganisation by providing financial technical assistance to 
the most vulnerable segment of the society in an efficient 
and productive manner.

The Chairman’s review on page 16 of this report provides 
an overall assessment of the operational and financial 
performance of the company, whilst a detailed analysis 
of the operational and financial results provided in 
Management discussion and analysis Sections on page 31 
to 64 of this report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The complete financial statements of the group and the 
company prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards comprising Sri Lanka Financial Reporting 
Standards by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka and in compliance with the requirements of 
section 51 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 inclusive of 
specific disclosures, duly signed by two Directors on behalf 
of the Board and the Auditors are given on page 76 to 113.

AUDITOR’S REPORT 
The Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of the 
group and the company is provided in page 76.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The financial statements of the group and the company 
have been prepared in accordance with Sri Lankan Financial 
Reporting standard issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka. The accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of Financial Statements of the group and 
the company are provided in page 84 to 89.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Company Group

Description 2017 2016 2017 2016

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Gross Income   234,673,473  235,991,284 534,857,788 321,747,717

Grant Income   135,570,685  150,975,864   135,570,685  150,975,864

Interest Income     99,102,788    85,015,420 372,625,533 159,732,973

Surplus/Profit Before Income Tax     99,249,298  113,475,323 152,618,253 112,574,662

Surplus/Profit After Income Tax   638,268,225  103,773,584 672,971,504 101,670,803

Loans & Receivables   807,676,150  768,913,564 3,136,229,301 1,159,314,422

Investment In Subsidiary   748,028,210  180,028,210 - -

Total Assets 1,660,520,875  992,980,229 3,554,035,739 1,266,601,754

Total Equity 1,603,560,784  965,607,795 1,718,318,383 1,006,903,076
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors  
on the Affairs of the Company

DIRECTORATE
The names of the Directors who held office as at the end 
of the accounting period are given below and their brief 
profiles appear on page 20 to 22.

Mr.  Anura H. Athapaththuge – Chairman

Mr. Jagath C. Godakanda – Director

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY OF 
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
Financial Statements of the group and the company to 
reflect a true and fair view of the state of its affairs.

AUDITORS & TAX CONSULTANTS
Messers Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants served as the 
Auditors during the year under review whilst Amarasekara & 
Company provided non-audit/tax Compliance services. As 
far as the Directors are aware, the Auditors & Tax consultants 
do not have any other relationship or interest in contracts 
with the Company or its subsidiary company.

RELATED PARTY’S TRANSACTIONS 
WITH THE COMPANY
Transactions of related parties with the group and the 
company are set out in Note 28 to the Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details and movements of Property, Plant and Equipment 
owned by the group and the company are given in Note 17 
to the Financial Statements on page 97 to 99.

INVESTMENT
Details of investments made by the group and the company 
as at 31 December 2017 are given in Note 15 to the Financial 
Statements on page 96.

PROVISIONS
The basis adopted for the provisioning is disclosed in 
the note number 16.2 on page 96 to 97 of the Financial 
statements the group and the company.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT
The Board has taken necessary steps to ensure 
implementation and monitoring of an effective and 
comprehensive internal control system covering financial, 
operational and compliance controls. The Internal Auditors 
are responsible to review and report on the efficiency of 
the internal control system and other regulations and 
accounting and operational policies and send a report 
directly to the Board. 

A proper risk management process is in place to identify 
and manage the risks that are associated with the business 
and the operation of the company. The Directors review this 
process from time to time through internal auditors. The 
Risk Management Report on page 62 to 64 sets out the 
current management approach adopted by the group and 
the company to identify and manage the risks.

COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES
To the best of knowledge and information available to 
the Board, there were no material contingencies and 
commitments as at the reporting date.

STATUTORY PAYMENTS
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief, are 
satisfied that all statutory dues have been paid up to date, 
or where relevant provided for in the Financial Statements 
of the group and the company.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE 
REPORTING DATE
No circumstances have risen and no material event have 
occurred during the period between the balance sheet date 
and the date in which the account has been signed and thus 
there was no event to disclosure or adjust to the Financial 
Statements of the group and the company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The company’s corporate governance report, which states 
the compliance and best practices adopted are on page 66 
to 69 of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General meeting will be held on 23rd March 
2018 at No.44/3, 3rd floor, Narahenpita Road, Nawala.  at 
9:30 AM. The Notice of the Annual General Meeting appears 
on page 122 of the Annual Report.

This report is signed by two directors and secretary of the 
company as an acknowledgment of content.

Chairman

Director

Secretary
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Independent Auditor ’s Report

To the Members of Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited (“Company”), and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary (“Group”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31st December 2017, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and for such internal control as Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial 
Statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstatements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial 
Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31st December 2017, 
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we state the following:

(a) The basis of opinion and scope and limitations of the audit are as stated above.

(b) In our opinion: 
– we have obtained all the information and explanations that were required for the audit  and, as far as appears from our examination, 

proper accounting records have been kept by the Company.

– the financial statements of the Company give a true and fair view of its financial position as at 31st December 2017,  
and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and 

– the financial statements of the Company, and the Group comply with the requirements of section 151 and section 153 of the 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. 

05 March 2018
Colombo

Partners: W R H Fernando FCA FCMA    M P D  Cooray FCA FCMA    R N de  Saram ACA FCMA    Ms. N A De Silva FCA     Ms. Y A De Silva FCA     W K B S P Fernando FCA FCMA

Principal

A member �rm of  Ernst  & Young Global Limited

T P M Ruberu FCMA FCCA

Ms. K R M  Fernando FCA  ACMA    Ms.  L K  H L Fonseka FCA     A P A  Gunasekera FCA FCMA    A  Herath FCA     D K  Hulangamuwa  FCA FCMA LLB  (Lond)      H M A Jayesinghe FCA FCMA
Ms.  A A  Ludowyke FCA FCMA    Ms. G G S Manatunga FCA     Ms. P V K N Sajeewani  FCA     N M Sulaiman ACA ACMA    B E Wijesuriya  FCA FCMA
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Company Group

For the year ended 31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

Notes  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

GROSS INCOME 4  234,673,473  235,991,284  534,857,788  321,747,717 

Interest income 5  99,102,788  85,015,420  372,625,533  159,732,973 

Less: Interest and similar expenses 6  111,779  62,250  66,717,182  35,216,436 

Net interest income  98,991,009  84,953,170  305,908,352  124,516,536 

Grants income 7  135,570,685  150,975,864  135,570,685  150,975,864 

Less: Program expenses 8  115,814,220  104,663,693  115,814,220  104,663,693 

Fee, commission and other income 9  -    -    26,661,570  11,038,880 

Total operating income  118,747,474  131,265,341  352,326,387  181,867,588 

Less: Impairment charges for loans  
   and receivables 16.2  3,429,881  3,469,361  9,356,745  5,438,377 

Net operating income  115,317,593  127,795,980  342,969,642  176,429,211 

Less:

Personnel expenses 10  7,330,344  5,656,157  99,847,172  34,615,425 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 17  2,721,399  4,012,471  7,238,262  6,614,561 

Amortization of intangible assets 18  -    -    390,022  19,271 

Other operational expenses 11  6,016,553  4,652,029  61,554,904  20,167,761 

Operating profit before value added tax and  
   nation building tax on financial services  99,249,298  113,475,323  173,939,282  115,012,193 

Less: Value added tax and nation building  
   tax on financial services  -    -    20,875,574  2,437,531 

Less: Nation building tax on other services  -    -    445,455  -   

Profit for the year before income tax  99,249,298  113,475,323  152,618,253  112,574,662 

Gift of equity shares received from BMI 1.4  550,000,000  -    550,000,000  -   

Less: Income and NGO tax 12  10,981,073  9,701,739  29,646,749  10,903,858 

Net Surplus/Profit for the year  638,268,225  103,773,584  672,971,504  101,670,803 

Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Other comprehensive income not to  
   be reclassified to profit or loss  
   in subsequent periods

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans 22  (315,237)  -    5,475,387  13,200 

Deferred tax (charge)/reversal on other  
   comprehensive income 19.1  -    -    (1,621,375)  3,696 

Other comprehensive profit/loss for  
   the period net of tax  (315,237)  -    3,854,012  16,896 

Total comprehensive income/surplus for  
   the period net of tax  637,952,989  103,773,584  676,825,517  101,687,699 

The Accounting Policies and notes to the financial statements from page 81 to 113 form an integral part of the  
Financial Statements.
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Company Group

As at 31st December 2017 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 13  44,682,508  15,502,564  153,024,153  26,658,604 

Balances with banks and financial institutions 14  25,000,000  -    67,068,454  21,513,012 

Investment in subsidiary 15  748,028,210  180,028,210  -    -   

Loan and receivables 16  807,676,150  768,913,564  3,136,229,301  1,159,314,422 

Property plant and equipment 17  15,527,475  17,462,324  43,452,186  25,860,330 

Intangible assets 18  -    -    4,758,953  165,729 

Deferred tax assets 19  -    -    2,583,614  4,845,069 

Other assets 20  19,606,532  11,073,567  146,919,078  28,244,588 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,660,520,875  992,980,229  3,554,035,739  1,266,601,754 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Interest bearing borrowings 21  -    -    1,315,588,058  195,174,000 

Post employment benefit obligation 22  3,864,955  3,860,294  17,444,062  4,415,082 

Other liabilities 23  53,095,136  23,512,140  502,685,236  60,109,596 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  56,960,091  27,372,434  1,835,717,356  259,698,678 

EQUITY

Funds and reserves 24  -    -    86,993,090  52,403,300 

Retained Earnings  1,603,560,784  965,607,795  1,631,325,293  954,499,776 

TOTAL EQUITY  1,603,560,784  965,607,795  1,718,318,383  1,006,903,076 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  1,660,520,875  992,980,229  3,554,035,739  1,266,601,754 

The Chief Financial Officer certifies that the Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. 

Chief Financial Officer

The Board of Directors is responsible for these Financial Statements. Signed for and on behalf of the Board by;

      
Chairman Director

The Accounting Policies and notes to the Financial Statements from page 81 to 113 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.

5th March 2018
Colombo

Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Changes In Equity

Company Group

Year ended 31st December 2017 Accumulated
 Surplus

Total Equity Unrestricted
 Funds

Restricted
 Funds

Assets and
 Liabilities

 Transfer
 Reserve
 Account

Accumulated
(Loss)/Profit

Total Equity

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Balance as at 1st January 
2016 861,834,210 861,834,210 865,800 33,475,000  -   852,812,077 887,152,877 

Profit/(loss)/Surplus for  
the year 103,773,584 103,773,584  -    -    -    101,670,803  101,670,803 

Other comprehensive  
income (net of tax)  -    -    -    -    -    16,896  16,896 

Received  during the year  -    -    -    18,062,500  -    -    18,062,500 

Balance as at  
31st December 2016 965,607,795 965,607,795  865,800  51,537,500  -   954,499,776  1,006,903,076 

Profit/Surplus for the year 638,268,225 638,268,225  -    -    -   672,971,504 672,971,504 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    -    -   565,433,540  -   565,433,540 

Issues of shares from transfer  -    -    -    -    (550,000,000)  -    (550,000,000)

Other comprehensive  
income (net of tax)  (315,237)  (315,237)  -    -    -    3,854,012  3,854,012 

Received during the year  -    -    -    19,156,250  -    -    19,156,250 

Balance as at  
31st December  2017  1,603,560,784  1,603,560,784  865,800  70,693,750  15,433,540  1,631,325,293  1,718,318,383 

The Accounting Policies and notes to the Financial Statements from page 81 to 113 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.



Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited   |   Annual Report 201780

DRAFT 04
29.08.2018

Company Group

Year ended 31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

Notes  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Operating Activities

Net Surplus/Profit before Tax  99,249,298  113,475,323  152,618,253  112,574,662 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17  2,721,399  4,012,471  7,238,262  6,614,561 

Amortization of intangible assets 18  -    -    390,022  19,271 

Impairment charges for loans and receivables 16.2  3,429,881  3,469,361  9,356,745  5,438,377 

Interest expense  -    -    88,222,453  33,705,359 

Net foreign exchange difference  -    -    1,085,820  999,688 

Loss/Gain on fixed assets disposal  -    27,202  (3,031,956)  108,655 

Charges for defined benefit liability 22  746,157  1,259,615  2,286,448  1,662,102 

VAT and NBT on financial service charges  -    -    21,321,029  2,437,531 

Operating loss before working capital 
changes  106,146,735  122,243,972  279,487,076  163,560,205 

Changes in operating assets  (42,192,462)  (45,140,365)  (104,067,004)  (250,285,364)

Changes in operating liabilities  20,181,916  (9,790,804)  69,989,134  11,695,667 

VAT and NBT Payment  -    -    (16,807,163)  (2,194,125)

Gratuity payments  (1,056,733)  (1,059,438)  (1,329,592)  (1,059,438)

Interest paid  -    -    (86,316,341)  (33,421,875)

Income Tax Payment  (10,112,962)  (9,984,250)  (16,800,058)  (11,538,959)

Net cash  used in operating activities  72,966,494  56,269,115  124,156,052  (123,243,888)

Investing Activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17  (786,550)  (992,654)  (10,370,611)  (3,488,953)

Sale proceed on fixed assets disposal  -    -    3,077,680  -   

Acquisition of intangible assets 18  -    -    -    (185,000)

Net Investment made in fixed deposits  (25,000,000)  10,000,000  (2,868,873)  159,325,755 

Investment in subsidiary  (18,000,000)  (60,000,000)  -    -   

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (43,786,550)  (50,992,654)  (10,161,803)  155,651,802 

Financing Activities

Net Proceed from borrowings  -    -    (12,879,478)  (48,549,687)

Proceed from funds 24.2  -    -    19,156,250  18,062,500 

Net Cash Flows generated from  
financing activities  -    -    6,276,772  (30,487,187)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  29,179,944  5,276,460  120,271,021  1,920,727 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year  15,502,564  10,226,104  26,658,605  24,737,876 

Cash and cash equivalents transfer from BMI  -    -    6,094,528  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end  
of the year 13  44,682,508  15,502,564  153,024,153  26,658,604 

The Accounting Policies and notes to the Financial Statements from page 81 to 113 form an integral part of the Financial 
Statements.

Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.  REPORTING ENTITY

1.1  General Information
Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited 
(BDS) is a company limited by Guarantee incorporated in 
and domiciled in Sri Lanka. The registered office is located 
at No. 44/3, 3rd Floor, Narahenpita Road, Nawala, Sri Lanka.

1.2  Consolidated Financial Information
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2017, comprise the Berendina Development 
Services (Guarantee) Limited, The Parent Company and its 
subsidiary whose accounts have been consolidated therein 
(together referred to as the “Group”).

1.3  Principal Activities and Nature of 
Operation  
The principal activities of the Company are:

1. To assist the poor citizens in Sri Lanka irrespective of 
caste, creed, race or any other discriminatory barrier.

2. To provide loans and/or grants for the aforesaid 
purpose.

1.4  Subsidiary Entity 
The Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited (BMIC) 
is a fully own subsidiary of Berendina Development Services 
(Guarantee) Limited.

The principal activities of the BMIC are providing micro 
loan facilities for Asset Building, Business start-up, Business 
development, Agriculture etc. The aim of Berendina 
Micro Investments Company Limited (BMIC) is to build a 
sustainable micro finance organization by providing financial 
& enterprise development services to the poverty affected 
communities in an efficient and productive manner.  

The Board of Directors and Members of Berendina 
Microfinance Institute (Guarantee) Limited (BMI), by the 
resolutions passed on 18th September 2017, approved the 
sale, transfer and assignment of all assets and liabilities of 
the company to BMIC with effect from 30th September 
2017. 

The Board of Directors & Shareholders of BMIC, by the 
resolutions passed on 22nd September 2017, approved the 
Company taking over the entire business undertaking of BMI 
effective from 30th September 2017.  BMIC will continue to 
carry on the micro finance business currently conducted by 
BMI. An application has been made to the Monetary Board 
of Central Bank of Sri Lanka on 30th October 2017 for a 

license to carry on micro finance business as required by the 
Micro Finance Act No. 06 of 2016. The transfer of assets & 
liabilities was duly effected by BMI & BMIC in accordance 
with the asset sale and purchase agreement signed on 29th 
of September 2017.BMI waived off the right to receive the 
consideration from the above transaction and accordingly 
shares received to BDS was amounting to LKR 550Mn was 
recognized in the income statement for the year ended 
31st December 2017. 

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1  Statement of Compliance
The Financial Statements of the company & Group 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes to the Financial 
Statements have been prepared and presented in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards comprising SLFRS 
and LKAS (hereafter “SLFRS”) laid down by The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka) and in 
compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
No. 07 of 2007.

2.1.1  Comparative Information
The Accounting Policies have been consistently applied by 
the Company and are consistent with those used in the 
previous period.

Financial Statements of group comprising results for the 
period 1st January 2017 to 31st December 2017 & includes 
the results of the merged company (BMI) for the period 
1st October 2017 to 31st December 2017 in addition to 
BMIC, the comparative figures of the Group for the financial 
year 2016 are not comparable with the figures reflected 
in the statement of financial position, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of cash flows, statement 
for changes in equity and related notes.

2.2  Responsibility for Financial 
Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance 
with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.
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2.3  Approval of Financial Statements 
by the Board of Directors
The Financial Statements of the group as at and for the year 
ended 31st December 2017 were authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors in accordance with the resolution of 
the Directors on 5th March 2018.

2.4  Basis of Measurement
The Financial Statements of the Company & Group have 
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
following material items in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

Items Basis of Measurement

Defined benefit 
obligations

Recognized at the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation

2.5  Significant Accounting 
Judgements, Estimates and 
Assumptions
The preparation of Financial Statements of the Company & 
Group in conformity with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 
requires the management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected.

The most significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and 
critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the Financial Statements of the Company & Group are as 
follows.

2.5.1  Common Control Business 
Combination
Common control business combinations are accounted 
using SLFRS 03 Business Combinations and the guideline 
issued under Statement of Recommended Practices (SoRP) 
on Merger accounting for common control combinations 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri 
Lanka. The accounting pronouncement of the pooling of 
interest method has been adopted to account the assets 
and liabilities transfer between BMI and BMIC with effect 
from 30th September 2017 considering the transaction has 
no substance due to the following reasons.

Notes to the Financial Statements

 y The purpose of this transaction is merely to improve 
the operational efficiencies of the Berendina group, by 
licensing under the Micro Finance Act No. 06 of 2016.

 y There is no involvement of outside parties in this 
transaction, such as non-controlling interests or other 
third parties.

 y Transaction will not be conducted using fair value.

 y No new companies are established or no significant 
change in the ownership.

Accordingly,

 y The net assets of the two entities are consolidated using 
the existing book values.

 y No amount is recognized as goodwill since the 
transaction is carried out at carrying value of net assets 
of BMI in order to estimate the purchase consideration 
of the transaction.

 y The financial statements of BMIC have been prepared 
after the business transfer on a prospective basis.

 y Inter group balance and transactions and any 
unrealized income or expenditure arising from intra 
group transactions are eliminated in preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Refer Note 32 for further details.

2.5.2  Going Concern Basis of Accounting
The Directors have made an assessment of the Company 
& Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and are 
satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for 
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, Board is not aware of 
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Company & Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and they do not intend either to liquidate or to 
cease operations of the Company & Group. Therefore, the 
Financial Statements continue to be prepared on the going 
concern basis.

2.5.3  Impairment Losses on Loans and 
Receivables
The Company & Group review its individually significant 
loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. In particular, management’s 
judgment is required in the estimation of the amount 
and timing of future cash flows when determining the 
impairment loss. These estimates are based on assumptions 
about a number of factors and actual results may differ, 
resulting in future changes to the impairment allowance 
made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and 
found to be not impaired and all individually insignificant 
loans and advances are then assessed collectively, by 
categorizing them into groups of assets with similar risk 
characteristics, to determine whether a provision should 
be made due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence, but the effects of which are not yet 
evident. The collective assessment takes account of data 
from the loan portfolio such as credit quality, portfolio size, 
concentration etc. as well as judgments based on current 
economic conditions.

2.5.4  Post-Employment Benefit 
Obligations
The Post employment benefit obligation and the related 
charge for the year are determined using projected unit 
credit method. The method valuations involve making 
assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, 
mortality rates etc. Due to the long term nature of such 
obligations these estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting 
period.

2.5.5  Useful-Lives of Property, Plant & 
Equipment
The Company & Group review the residual values, useful 
lives and methods of depreciation of assets as at each 
reporting date. Judgment by the management is exercised 
in the estimation of these values, rates, methods and hence 
they are subject to uncertainty.

2.5.6  Useful-Lives of Intangible Assets
The Company & Group review the residual values, useful 
lives and methods of amortization of assets as at each 
reporting date. Judgment by the management is exercised 
in the estimation of these values, rates, methods and hence 
they are subject to uncertainty.

2.6  Significant Accounting Policies

2.6.1  Basis of Consolidation
The Group’s Financial Statements comprise, Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Berendina Development 
Services Guarantee Limited and Berendina Micro 
Investments Company Limited in terms of the Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standard – SLFRS 10 on ‘Consolidated Financial 
Statements’.

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method as per the requirements of Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standard - SLFRS 03 (Business Combinations) 
when control is transferred to the Group. The Group measures 
goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred 
including the recognised amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount 
and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition 
date. The consideration transferred in the acquisition and 
identifiable net assets acquired are measured at fair value. 
Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, 
except if they are related to the issue of equity securities. 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts 
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. There 
is no non-controlling interests created from the business 
combination. The neither goodwill nor negative goodwill 
was recognized in the financial statements due to BDS got 
control over BMIC at time of Incorporating BMIC.

2.6.2  Taxation
As per Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 12 (Income 
Taxes), tax expense is the aggregate amount included in 
determination of profit or loss, grant income and other 
source of income for the period in respect of current and 
deferred taxation. Income tax expense is recognized in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent 
it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income in which case it is recognized in 
equity or in other comprehensive income.

(a)  Current Taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities consist of amounts 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the Commissioner 
General of Inland Revenue in respect of the current year, 
using the tax rates and tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted on the reporting date and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of prior years. 

Accordingly, provision for taxation is based on the profit, 
grant income and other sources of income for the year 
adjusted for taxation purposes in accordance with the 
provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006 and the 
amendments thereto at the rates specified in Note 12 to 
the Financial Statements.
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(b)  Deferred Taxation
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, 
tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefits will be realized.

The net increase in the carrying amount of deferred tax 
liability net of deferred tax asset is recognized as deferred 
tax expense and conversely any net decrease is recognized 
as reversal to deferred tax expense, in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(c)  Value Added Tax on Financial Services  
(VAT on FS)
VAT on Financial Services is calculated in accordance with 
the amended VAT Act No. 07 of 2003 and subsequent 
amendments thereto. The base for the computation of VAT 
on Financial Services is the accounting profit before income 
tax adjusted for the economic depreciation and emoluments 
of employees. VAT on financial services is computed on the 
prescribed rate at 15%.

(d)  Nation Building Tax (NBT) on Financial 
Services
NBT on financial services is calculated in accordance with 
Nation Building Tax (NBT) Act No. 09 of 2009 and subsequent 
amendment thereto with effect from 1st January 2014. 
NBT on financial services is calculated at 2% of the value 
addition used for the purpose of VAT on financial services.

2.6.3  Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are: cash in hand; demand 
deposits; and short-term highly liquid investments  
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of cash flows statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash in hand and deposits in  
banks net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Financial 
instruments with short maturities i.e. three months or 
less from the date of acquisition are also treated as cash 
equivalents.

2.6.4  Property, Plant and Equipment

Cost
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. All items of property, plant 
and equipment are initially recorded at cost. 

The cost of property, plant and equipment is the cost of 
acquisition or construction together with any expenses 
incurred in bringing the asset to its condition for its intended 
use. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized 
in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged to Statement of Comprehensive 
Income so as to write off the cost of assets (other than 
freehold land) less their residual values over their useful 
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed 
at each year-end, with the effect of any change in estimate 
accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows;
  
The class of tangible assets Useful life

Building 15 Years

Furniture & Fittings  5 Years 

Office Equipment   8 Years 

Computers Equipment   4 Years 

Motor Vehicle   4 Years

De-recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment are de-recognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use. Gain or loss arising on de-recognition 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceed and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.6.5  Intangible assets

Basis of Recognition
An Intangible Asset is recognized if it is probable that 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the assets 
will flow to the entity and the cost of the assets can be 
measured reliably.

Basis of Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured as initial 
recognition at cost. Following initial recognition intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful life of 
intangible assets is assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortized over 
the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
The amortization period and the method for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each 
financial year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are tested for impairment annually either individually 
or at the cash generating unit level.

Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalized 
only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in such assets. All other expenditure is expensed 
when incurred.

De-recognition
Intangible assets are de-recognized on disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use. The gain 
or loss arising from de-recognition of intangible assets are 
measured as difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset.

Amortization
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period 
and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year 
end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the 
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization 
expenses on intangible assets with finite lives are recognized 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The useful lives and the amortization methods of intangible 
assets with finite lives are as follows:

The class of the class of  
intangible assets Computer software

Useful life 4 years

Amortization Method Straight line method

2.6.6  Investment in Subsidiaries
Investment in Subsidiaries are stated at cost, net of any 
impairment losses which are charged to the Income 
Statement of Company Financial Statements and It is in 
accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 
27 on ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’.

2.6.7  Post-Employment Benefit 
Obligations

(a)  Defined Benefit Plan – Gratuity
Gratuity is a Defined Benefit Plan. The Company & Group 
annually measures the present value of the promised 
retirement benefits for gratuity. The cost of providing 
benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using 
the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are 
recognised in full in the period in which they occur in other 
comprehensive income.

The gratuity liability is not externally funded.

(b)  Defined Contribution Plans – Employees’ 
Provident Fund & Employees’ Trust Fund
Employees are eligible for Employees' Provident Fund 
contributions and Employees' Trust Fund contributions in 
line with respective statutes and regulations.

2.6.8  Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the company & Group have 
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of  a 
past event, where it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 

2.6.9  Other Non-Financial Assets
All other non-financial assets are valued net of specific 
provision, where necessary, so as to reduce the carrying 
value of such assets to their estimated realizable value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.6.10  Other Non-Financial Liabilities 
Other Non-Financial Liabilities are recognized at their 
nominal amount.

2.6.11  Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Company & Group assess at each reporting date 
whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Company & Group estimate the 
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount 
is higher of asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

2.6.12  Financial Instruments – Initial 
Recognition and Subsequent Measurement 
Financial instruments consist of loans and receivables and 
other financial liabilities, of which accounting policies on 
subsequent measurement, impairment and re-recognition 
are set out below; 

i. Financial Assets 
Financial assets within the scope of LKAS 39 are classified as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-
for-sale financial assets, as appropriate and determine the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. All 
financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in 
the case of assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the Effective Interest Rate method (EIR), less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in 
finance income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Loans and receivables 
are presented in the Statement of Financial Position.

De-recognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when,

i. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired

ii. The Company & Group have transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either

(a) The Company & Group have transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 

(b) The Company & Group have neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but have transferred control of the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets
The Company & Group assess at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and that loss event has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the 
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the 
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Company 
& Group first assess whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets 
that are not individually significant. If the Company & 
Group determine that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the assets carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been 
incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash 
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. 

ii.  Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities within the scope of LKAS 39 are classified 
as interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other 
payables as appropriate. The Company & Group determine 
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

The Company & Group classify financial liabilities as other 
financial liabilities in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements at the definitions of financial 
liabilities. 

The Company & Group recognize financial liabilities in the 
Statement of Financial Position when the Company & Group 
become a party to the contractual provision of the liability.

Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities including interest bearing loans 
and borrowings are initially measured at fair value less 
transaction cost that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the EIR method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking in to account any 
discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR.

De-recognition of Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange of modification is treated as a de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the carrying value of the original 
financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

iii.  Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The 
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either: 

 y In the principal market for the asset or liability or

 y In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Company & Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant's ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 

The Company & Group use valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole: 

 y Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 y Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 

 y Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable for the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
the group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy 
as explained above.

2.6.13  Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Company & Group 
and the revenue and associated costs incurred or to be 
incurred can be reliably measured, regardless of when the 
payment is being made. The following specific criteria are 
used for the purpose of recognition of revenue.

(a)  Grants Income
Grants Income are recognized in the financial statements on 
cash consideration.

Grants Income are categorized as below:

General Grants – Used for general business activities
Specific Grants – Used for specific projects
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(b)  Interest Income and Expenses
Interest income and expense are recognized in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash payments and receipts through 
the expected life of the financial assets or liability (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the 
financial asset and liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company & Group estimate future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but not future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of a financial asset or liability.

(c)  Fee and Commission Income
Fee and commission income earned for the period of 
services over a period of time are accrued over that period.

Other fee including admission fee, service charges are 
recognized as related services are performed.

(d)  Other Income
Non-operational interest income fees are accounted for on 
accrual basis. 

2.6.14  Expenses Recognition
Expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on the basis of direct association between the cost 
incurred and the earning of specific items of income. All 
expenditure incurred in the running of the business and in 
maintaining the property, plant and equipment or investment 
properties in a rate of efficiency has been charged to income 
in arriving at the profit for the year.  

For the purpose of presentation of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income the directors are of the opinion that 
the nature of expense method present fairly the elements 
of the Company & Group’s performance, and hence such 
presentation method is adopted. Repairs and renewals are 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
year in which the expenditure is incurred.

2.6.15  Statement of Cash Flows 
The cash flows statement has been prepared using the 
'Indirect Method' of preparing cash flows in accordance with 
the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS - 7 'Statement of 
Cash Flows.' Cash and cash equivalents comprise short term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand 
and cash at banks and other highly liquid financial assets 
which are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments with original maturities of less than three 
months which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value.

2.6.16  Related Party Disclosures
Transactions with related parties are conducted in the 
normal course of business. 

2.6.17  Commitments and Contingencies
All discernible risks are accounted for in determining the 
amount of all known liabilities. Contingent liabilities are 
possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed only 
by uncertain future events or present obligations where the 
transfer of economic benefit is not probable or cannot be 
reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognized 
in the Statement of Financial Position but are disclosed 
unless they are remote.

2.7  Effect of Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards issued, but not Effective
The following new accounting standards were issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Sri Lanka which are 
not yet effective as at 31st December 2017. Accordingly 
these accounting standards have not been applied in the 
preparation of the Financial Statements for the year ended 
31st December 2017.

SLFRS 9 – Financial Instruments:
In July 2014, the Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka issued 
SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments (On par with International 
Accounting Standards Board), the standard that will replace 
LKAS 39 for annual periods on or after 1st January 2018, 
with early adoption permitted. The Company plans to adopt 
the new standard on the required effective date. 

The group is in the process of identifying gap and will 
calibrating models/solutions based on the diagnostic 
findings. 

Impairment of Financial Assets SLFRS 9 will also 
fundamentally change the loan loss impairment 
methodology. The standard will replace LKAS 39’s Incurred 
Loss approach with a forward-looking Expected Loss (ECL) 
approach. The Group will be required to record an allowance 
for expected losses for all loans and other debt financial 
assets not held at FVPL, together with loan commitments 
and financial guarantee contracts. The Impairment 
methodology under SLFRS 9 requires impairment to be 
assessed under 3 stages. 
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Stage 01
Under LKAS 39 the Group has been recording an allowance 
for Incurred But Not Identified (IBNI) impairment losses. 
These are designed to reflect impairment losses that had 
been incurred in the performing portfolio but have not been 
identified. 

Under SLFRS 9, the impairment of financial assets that are 
not considered to have suffered a significant increase in 
their credit risk will be measured on a 12-month ECL basis. 

Stage 02
SLFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 
when their credit risk has increased significantly since their 
initial recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs 
to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs. Since this is a 
new concept compared to LKAS 39, it will result in increased 
allowance as most such assets are not considered to be 
credit impaired under LKAS 39. 

Stage 03 
Financial assets will be included in Stage 3 when there is 
objective evidence that the loan is credit impaired. Loans 
in Stage 3, where the Group calculated the LKAS 39 
impairment on an individual basis are not expected to be 
significantly different, but collateral values will be adjusted 
to reflect the amounts that can be expected to be realised.

Classification & Measurement 
From a classification and measurement perspective, the 
new standard will require all financial assets, except equity 
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a 
combination of the entity’s business model for managing 
the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow 
characteristics. The LKAS 39 measurement categories will 
be replaced by: Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL), Fair 
value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) and 
amortised cost. 

The accounting for financial liabilities will largely be the 
same as the requirements of LKAS 39, except for the 
treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own 
credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. 

SLFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers SLFRS 15 
SLFRS 15 is effective for periods beginning on 1st January 2018 
with early adoption permitted. SLFRS 15 defines principles 
for recognising revenue and will be applicable to all contracts 
with customers. However, interest and fee income integral to 
financial instruments and leases will continue to fall outside 
the scope of SLFRS 15 and will be regulated by the other 
applicable standards (e.g., SLFRS 9, and SLFRS 16 Leases).

SLFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to account for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Revenue 
under SLFRS 15 will need to be recognised as goods and 
services are transferred, to the extent that the transferor 
anticipates entitlement to goods and services. The 
standard will also specify a comprehensive set of disclosure 
requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing as 
well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash 
flows with customers. The entity does not anticipate early 
adopting SLFRS 15.

A preliminary evaluation of the existing contracts which 
falls mainly under fee and commission based income of the 
Group has been performed in relation to the adoption of 
SLFRS 15. The Group’s current assessment has not revealed 
a significant change to the revenue recognition pattern. 
However, the Group is currently in the process of evaluating 
and quantifying the accounting impact and any impacts on 
the current systems and processors will be modified where 
necessary.

SLFRS 16 Leases
SLFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring 
leases to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless 
the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset 
has a low value even though lessor accounting remains similar 
to current practice. This supersedes: LKAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 
determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, SIC 
15 Operating Leases- Incentives; and SIC 27 Evaluating the 
substance of Transactions Involving the Legal form of a Lease. 
Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply SLFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

SLFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more 
extensive disclosures than under LKAS 17.

SLFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1st January 2019. Early application is permitted, but 
not before an entity applies SLFRS 15. A lessee can choose 
to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a 
modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition 
provisions permit certain reliefs.

In 2018, the Group will continue to assess the potential 
effect of SLFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements.

The impact on the implementation of the above standard 
has not been quantified yet.
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3.  FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF SLFRS
These financial statements, for the year ended 31st December 2017, are the first, the Company has prepared in accordance 
with SLFRS’s.  For periods up to and including the year ended 31st December 2016, the Company prepared its financial 
statements in accordance with  Sri Lanka Accounting Standards for Small and Medium sized Entities (SLFRS for SMEs) Issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. Accordingly, this note explains the principal adjustments made by the 
company in restating its  Statement of Financial Position as at 1st January 2016 and the financial statements as at and for 
the year ended 31st December 2016.

3.1  Reconciliation of Equity as at 1st January 2016 (Date of Transition to SLFRS)
 SME as at

     1st Jan. 2016         
 Reclassifications  Remeasurements SLFRS as at

     1st Jan. 2016        

LKR LKR LKR LKR

ASSETS

Cash & bank balance  10,648,658  (422,554)  -    10,226,104 

Investment with banks and financial institutions  10,000,000  -    -    10,000,000 

Investment in subsidiary  120,028,210  -    -    120,028,210 

Loans and advances  729,520,590  (2,138,715)  (139,315)  727,242,559 

Property, Plant & Equipment  20,509,342  -    -    20,509,342 

Other assets  2,854,255  2,138,715  -    4,992,970 

Total Assets  893,561,054  (422,554)  (139,315)  892,999,185 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Post employment benefit obligation  3,660,117  -    -    3,660,117 

Motor cycle fund  1,611,092  -    (1,611,092)  -   

Bank overdraft  422,554  (422,554)  -    -   

Other Liabilities  27,504,858  -    -    27,504,858 

 33,198,621  (422,554)  (1,611,092)  31,164,975 

EQUITY

Accumulated Surplus  860,362,433  -    1,471,777  861,834,210 

 860,362,433  -    1,471,777  861,834,210 

Total Equity & Liabilities  893,561,054  (422,554)  (139,315)  892,999,185
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3.2  Reconciliation of Equity as at 31st December 2016
Notes  SME as at

       31st Dec.
 2016          

 Reclassifications  Remeasurements SLFRS as at
31st Dec.

 2016

LKR LKR LKR LKR

ASSETS

Cash & bank balance 13  15,502,564  -    -    15,502,564 

Investment in subsidiary 15  180,028,210  -    -    180,028,210 

Loans and advances 16  777,494,210  (4,971,970)  (3,608,676)  768,913,564 

Property, Plant & Equipment 17  17,462,324  -    -    17,462,324 

Other assets 20  6,101,597  4,971,970  -    11,073,567 

Total Assets  996,588,905  -    (3,608,676)  992,980,229 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

Post employment benefit obligation 22  3,860,294  -    -    3,860,294 

Motor cycle fund  1,611,092  -    (1,611,092)  -   

Water connection fund  1,106,500  (1,106,500)  -    -   

Other Liabilities 23  22,405,641  1,106,500  -    23,512,141 

 28,983,527  -    (1,611,092)  27,372,435 

EQUITY

Accumulated Surplus  967,605,378  -    (1,997,584)  965,607,794 

 967,605,378  -    (1,997,584)  965,607,794 

Total Equity & Liabilities  996,588,905  -    (3,608,676)  992,980,229
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3.3  Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income for the year ended  
31st December 2016

Notes  SME for
 the period

31st Dec. 2016

 Reclassifications  Remeasurements SLFRS for
 the period

31st Dec. 2016

LKR LKR LKR LKR

INCOME

Grants Income 7  150,975,864  -    -    150,975,864 

Interest Income 5  85,015,420  -    -    85,015,420 

Total income  235,991,284  -    -    235,991,284 

Less:

Program expenses 8  104,663,693  -    -    104,663,693 

Personnel expenses 10  5,656,157  -    -    5,656,157 

Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 17  4,012,471  -    -    4,012,471 

Other operating expenses 11  4,652,029  -    -    4,652,029 

Impairment charges for loans and receivables 16  -    -    3,469,361  3,469,361 

Interest and similar expenses 6  -    62,250  -    62,250 

Finance Expenses  62,250  (62,250)  -    -   

 119,046,600  -    3,469,361  122,515,961 

Net Surplus for the year before income tax  116,944,684  -    (3,469,361)  113,475,323 

Less: Income and NGO tax expense  9,701,739  -    -    9,701,739 

Net Surplus for the year  107,242,945  -    (3,469,361)  103,773,584 

Other comprehensive income (OCI)

Other Comprehensive Income not  
   to be reclassified to Profit or Loss  
   in subsequent periods

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans  -    -    -    -   

Other Comprehensive Profit/Loss for  
   the period net of tax  -    -    -    -   

Accumulated Surplus at the end of the year  107,242,945  -    (3,469,361)  103,773,584 

The adjustments disclosed in the separate financial statements of the company under the note 03 are the same adjustments 
which have been incorporated in the consolidated financial statements of the group.

4.  GROSS INCOME
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Interest income (Note 5)  99,102,788  85,015,420  372,625,533  159,732,973 

Grant Income (Note 7)  135,570,685  150,975,864  135,570,685  150,975,864 

Fee and commission and other income (Note 9 )  -    -    26,661,570  11,038,880 

Gross Income  234,673,473  235,991,284  534,857,788  321,747,717
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5.  INTEREST INCOME
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Interest from loans and advances   94,303,055  82,410,498  365,501,174  143,055,000 

Interest income from bank deposits  4,713,099  2,604,922  6,786,055  16,677,973 

Staff loan Interest  86,634  -    338,304  -   

 99,102,788  85,015,420  372,625,533  159,732,973 

6.  INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Interest on long term borrowings  -    -    63,803,856  33,705,359 

Bank charges  111,779  62,250  1,239,924  474,390 

Loan processing charges  -    -    404,805  -   

Interest on staff security fund  -    -    182,776  37,000 

Exchange loss on foreign loan  -    -    1,085,820  999,688 

 111,779  62,250  66,717,182  35,216,436 

7.  GRANTS INCOME
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Grants from Berendina Stichting  127,253,185  147,588,675  127,253,185  147,588,675 

Grants Received from Burnet Institute  -    818,789  -    818,789 

Grants Received from UNICEF  2,717,500  2,568,400  2,717,500  2,568,400 

Grants Received from HSBC  5,600,000  -    5,600,000  -   

 135,570,685  150,975,864  135,570,685  150,975,864 

8.  PROGRAM EXPENSES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Plantation Development Project  39,164,978  39,393,254  39,164,978  39,393,254 

Rural Central Division Project  14,955,425  15,768,987  14,955,425  15,768,987 

Rural North Central Division Project  22,713,061  16,591,615  22,713,061  16,591,615 

Rural North East Division Project  30,789,933  22,968,136  30,789,933  22,968,136 

Voluntary and Small NGO Programs  -    2,662,799  -    2,662,799 

Assistance for Elders Homes & Children's Orphanages  1,070,974  1,129,211  1,070,974  1,129,211 

Joint Projects  -    1,124,866  -    1,124,866 

Other HO Program Expenses  7,119,849  5,024,825  7,119,849  5,024,825 

 115,814,220  104,663,693  115,814,220  104,663,693 
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9.  FEE, COMMISSION AND OTHER INCOME
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Written-off loans recoveries  -    -    330,898  -   

Administrative funds receipt  -    -    -    130,500 

Enterprise Development Service income  -    -    14,889,050  6,045,700 

Miscellaneous Income  -    -    5,250,622  956,230 

Documentation charges  -    -    6,191,000  3,906,450 

 -    -    26,661,570  11,038,880 

10.  PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Salaries & other benefits  5,367,480  3,301,805  88,354,469  29,192,257 

Defined contribution plan – EPF & ETF  1,216,706  1,094,737  9,206,255  3,761,066 

Defined benefit plan – Gratuity (Note 22)  746,157  1,259,615  2,286,447  1,662,102 

 7,330,344  5,656,157  99,847,172  34,615,425 

11.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Office administration & establishment expenses  5,463,979  4,204,511  50,548,142  16,665,010 

EDS Service expenses  -    -    7,124,263  2,576,429 

Professional & legal expenses  245,180  209,698  2,744,496  589,022 

Auditor's remuneration  307,394  237,820  1,138,002  337,300 

 6,016,553  4,652,029  61,554,904  20,167,761 

12.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Current tax  10,981,073  9,701,739  26,900,967  12,263,035 

Deferred Tax Expenses/(Income)  -    -    2,745,782  (1,359,176)

 10,981,073  9,701,739  29,646,749  10,903,858 



Annual Report 2017   |   Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited 95

DRAFT 04
29.08.2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

12.1
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax  -    -    53,368,955  (900,661)

Aggregated disallowed items  -    -    27,589,537  7,519,962 

Aggregated allowable items  -    -    (8,417,747)  (16,968,057)

Adjusted profit from trade  -    -    72,540,745  (10,348,756)

Interest income  -    -    2,072,956  14,073,051 

Total statutory income  -    -    74,613,701  14,073,051 

Less – Allowable losses  -    -    (17,756,936)  (4,925,568)

Taxable income  -    -    56,856,765  9,147,483 

Statutory Tax Rate

Tax Liability for the year @ Normal rate  – 28%  -    -    15,919,894  2,561,295 

Current income tax expenses  -    -    15,919,894  2,561,295 

Income tax is calculated at the rate mentioned as above of the assessable profit for the period.

12.2  NGO Tax Liability 
31st December 2017 Company  Group 

2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Total Funds Received as Grants, Donations & Contributions  135,570,685  150,975,864  135,570,685  150,975,864 

3% of Donations so Received            4,067,121  4,529,276  4,067,121  4,529,276 

NGO Tax Liability for the Year – 28%  1,138,794  1,268,197  1,138,794  1,268,197 

Tax on Other Sources of Income  9,842,279  8,433,542  9,842,279  8,433,542 

Tax Expense for the Year  10,981,073  9,701,739  10,981,073  9,701,739 

NGO and Income tax are calculated at the rate mentioned as above of the assessable profit for the period.

13.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Favorable Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash in hand  38,571  87,936  3,088,183  149,914 

Savings account with banks  38,614,259  13,213,557  75,792,910  18,958,875 

Current account with banks  6,029,678  2,201,071  74,143,059  7,549,815 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose  
   of statement of cash flows  44,682,508  15,502,564  153,024,153  26,658,604 
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14.  BALANCES WITH BANKS & FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Investments in Fixed Deposits

    Sri Lanka Savings Bank  -    -    41,780,000  -   

    Lanka Orix Finance Company PLC  25,000,000  -    25,000,000  20,000,000 

    Interest Receivables  -    -    288,454  1,513,012 

 25,000,000  -    67,068,454  21,513,012 

15.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-Quoted Country of  
Incorporation

Holding %  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Berendina Micro Investments 
Company Limited  – 15.1 Sri Lanka 100%  748,028,210  180,028,210  -    -   

 748,028,210  180,028,210  -    -   

15.1  Movement of Investment During the Year 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

As at 1 January  180,028,210  120,028,210  -    -   

Investment during the Year  18,000,000  60,000,000  -    -   

Gift of Equity Shares Received from BMI  550,000,000  -    -    -   

As at 31st December  748,028,210  180,028,210  -    -   

16.  LOAN AND RECEIVABLES 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Loan receivables (Note 16.1)  814,714,707  772,522,240  3,184,635,284  1,166,092,115 

Less – Collective allowance for impairment (Note 16.2)  (7,038,557)  (3,608,676)  (48,405,983)  (6,777,692)

 807,676,150  768,913,564  3,136,229,301  1,159,314,422 
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16.1  Analysis – (By Product)
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Business Development Loan  -    -    1,189,779,814  48,479,574 

Business Starting Loan  -    -    864,516,468  270,313,969 

Assets Building Loan  16,065,558  21,682,650  538,875,352  89,312,700 

Business Expansions Loan  -    -    494,833,864  -   

Estate Festival Loan  -    -    21,837,473  -   

Dairy Loan  -    -    16,009,229  924,818 

Agriculture Loan  2,261,781  7,238,667  13,677,747  8,930,322 

Staff Loans  3,130,295  4,420,379  24,818,337  7,090,187 

Emergency Loan  -    -    19,498,930  1,860,000 

Sanitary Loan  -    -    788,071  -   

Loan Given to BMIC  793,257,073  -    -    -   

Loan Given to BMI  -    739,180,544  -    739,180,544 

 814,714,707  772,522,240  3,184,635,284  1,166,092,115 

16.2  Movement in Impairment Charge during the Year
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

As at 1st January  3,608,676  139,315  6,777,692  1,339,315 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    33,359,987  -   

Written off during the year  -    -    (1,088,442)  -   

Charge for the year  3,429,881  3,469,361  9,356,745  5,438,377 

As at 31st December  7,038,557  3,608,676  48,405,983  6,777,692 

17.  PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

17.1  Company

17.1.1
As at 31st December 2017 Land Buildings Office

 Equipment
Computers &

 Network
Furniture &

 Fittings
Motor 

Vehicle
Total

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Cost

Balance as at 1st January 2017  3,500,000  15,311,370  4,464,907  7,254,249  4,166,224  5,150,000  39,846,750 

Additions  -    -    378,450  408,100  -    -    786,550 

Balance as at  
   31st December 2017  3,500,000  15,311,370  4,843,357  7,662,349  4,166,224  5,150,000  40,633,301 

Less –  Accumulated  
   Depreciation 

Balance as at 1st January 2017  -    5,283,574  2,869,887  5,722,641  3,608,770  4,899,555  22,384,426 

Charge for the year  -    1,020,758  392,618  781,560  276,017  250,445  2,721,399 

Balance as at  
   31st December 2017  -    6,304,332  3,262,505  6,504,201  3,884,787  5,150,000  25,105,825 

Net book value as at  
   31st December 2017  3,500,000  9,007,038  1,580,852  1,158,148  281,437  -    15,527,475
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17.1.2
As at 31st December 2016 Land Buildings Office

 Equipment
Computers &

 Network
Furniture &

 Fittings
Motor 

Vehicle
Total

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Balance as at 1st January 2016  3,500,000  15,311,370  4,316,727  6,595,793  4,121,650  5,150,000  38,995,540 

Additions  -    -    148,180  799,900  44,574  -    992,654 

Disposals  -    -    -    (141,444)  -    -    (141,444)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2016  3,500,000  15,311,370  4,464,907  7,254,249  4,166,224  5,150,000  39,846,750 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation

Balance as at 1st January 2016  -    4,262,816  2,434,058  4,996,250  3,181,019  3,612,055  18,486,197 

Charge for the year  -    1,020,758  435,829  840,633  427,751  1,287,500  4,012,471 

Accumulated depreciation  
   on disposed assets  -    -    -    (114,242)  -    -    (114,242)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2016  -    5,283,574  2,869,887  5,722,641  3,608,770  4,899,555  22,384,426 

Net book value as at  
   31st December 2016  3,500,000  10,027,796  1,595,020  1,531,608  557,454  250,445  17,462,324 

17.2  Group

17.2.1
As at 31st December 2017 Land Buildings Office

 Equipment
Computers &

 Network
Furniture &

 Fittings 
Motor

 Vehicle
Total

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Cost

Balance as at 1st January 2017  3,500,000  15,311,370  5,493,777  9,424,048  6,264,395  12,175,000  52,168,589 

Additions  -    -    583,552  1,245,000  957,059  7,585,000  10,370,611 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    6,932,234  11,195,978  12,365,572  19,688,400  50,182,184 

Scrap and disposals  -    -    (124,378)  (240,991)  (248,211)  (3,200,000)  (3,813,579)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2017  3,500,000  15,311,370  12,885,185  21,624,036  19,338,814  36,248,400  108,907,805 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance as at 1st January 2017  -    5,283,574  3,019,299  6,234,674  4,090,429  7,680,284  26,308,259 

Charge for the year  -    1,020,758  729,160  1,809,473  1,197,279  2,481,591  7,238,262 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    2,501,073  7,062,660  6,991,070  19,122,150  35,676,953 

Accumulated depreciation on  
   scrap and disposed assets  -    -    (78,986)  (240,991)  (247,878)  (3,200,000)  (3,767,855)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2017  -    6,304,332  6,170,546  14,865,816  12,030,900  26,084,025  65,455,619 

Net book value as at  
   31st December 2017  3,500,000  9,007,038  6,714,639  6,758,220  7,307,914  10,164,375  43,452,186
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17.2.2
As at 31 December 2016 Land Buildings Office

 Equipment
Computers &

 Network
Furniture &

 Fittings 
Motor

 Vehicle
Total

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Balance as at 1st January 2016  3,500,000  15,311,370  4,968,617  7,739,813  5,216,870  12,175,000  48,911,670 

Additions  -    -    615,750  1,825,678  1,047,525  -    3,488,953 

Disposals  -    -    (90,591)  (141,444)  -    -    (232,034)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2016  3,500,000  15,311,370  5,493,777  9,424,048  6,264,395  12,175,000  52,168,589 

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 

Balance as at 1st January 2016  -    4,262,816  2,481,593  5,118,846  3,317,289  4,636,534  19,817,077 

Charge for the year  -    1,020,758  546,843  1,230,070  773,140  3,043,750  6,614,561 

Accumulated depreciation  
   on disposed assets  -    -    (9,137)  (114,242)  -    -    (123,379)

Balance as at  
   31st December 2016  -    5,283,574  3,019,299  6,234,674  4,090,429  7,680,284  26,308,259 

Net book value as at  
   31st December 2016  3,500,000  10,027,796  2,474,478  3,189,374  2,173,966  4,494,716  25,860,330

The Company acquired property, plant & equipment to the aggregate value of LKR 786,550 for the year ended 
31st December 2017. ( 2016 – LKR 992,654).

The Group acquired property, plant & equipment to the aggregate value of LKR 10,370,611 for the year ended 
31st December 2017. (2016 – LKR 3,488,953).

The cost of the fully depreciated assets of the company is  LKR 14,410,371 for the financial year ended 31st December 2017 
(2016 – LKR 7,987,908).

The cost of the fully depreciated assets of the group is LKR 36,491,410 for the financial year ended 31st December 2017 
(2016 – LKR 7,987,908). This represented LKR 22,081,039 worth of fully deprecated assets which transferred from BMI as 
of 31st December 2017.

18.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Gross Carrying Amounts

Balance as at 1st January  -    -    185,000  -   

Additions  -    -    -    185,000 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    7,695,551  -   

Balance as at 31st December  -    -    7,880,551  185,000 

Less: Accumulated Amortization  & Impairment

Balance as at 1st January  -    -    19,271  -   

Amortization  -    -    390,022  19,271 

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    2,712,305  -   

Balance as at 31st December  -    -    3,121,598  19,271 

Net book value as at 31st December  -    -    4,758,953  165,729 
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19.  DEFERRED TAXATION

19.1  Group
 Statement of  

Financial Position 
 Income  

Statement 
 Other Comprehensive  

Income  

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

LKR LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Deferred tax liability

Accelerated depreciation 
allowances for tax purposes on 
property plant and equipment  1,218,536  276,818  (941,718)  (53,814)  -    -   

 1,218,536  276,818  (941,718)  (53,814)  -    -   

Deferred tax assets

Post employment benefit obligation  1,696,448  155,341  3,162,482  105,305  (1,621,375)  3,696 

Brought forward taxable losses  -    4,966,547  (4,966,547)  1,307,685  -    -   

Balance transfer from BMI  2,105,702  -    -    -    -    -   

 3,802,150  5,121,887  (1,804,064)  1,412,990  (1,621,375)  3,696 

Deferred Tax (Charge)/Reversal  (2,745,782)  1,359,176  (1,621,375)  3,696 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  2,583,614  4,845,069 

20.  OTHER ASSETS
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Other financial assets

Refundable Deposit  846,243  5,479,796  3,559,883  5,488,696 

Other receivable  17,751,595  4,401,562  131,382,780  20,179,744 

 18,597,838  9,881,358  134,942,663  25,668,440 

Other non-financial assets

Pre-Paid Expenses  567,342  621,801  8,033,810  1,662,980 

Other Advances and Receivable  441,352  570,408  1,539,180  612,958 

Stationary Stock  -    -    2,403,426  300,210 

Income Tax Refund  -    -    -    -   

 19,606,532  11,073,567  146,919,078  28,244,588 

21.  INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS 
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Borrowings from banks  -    -    912,283,300  -   

Borrowings from financial and other institutions  -    -    403,304,758  195,174,000 

 -    -    1,315,588,058  195,174,000 
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22.  POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

As at 1st  January  3,860,294  3,660,117  4,415,082  3,825,617 

Amount recognize in income statement (Note 22.1)  746,157  1,259,615  2,286,448  1,662,102 

Amount recognize in other comprehensive income  315,237  -    (5,475,387)  (13,200)

Payments made during the year  (1,056,733)  (1,059,438)  (1,329,592)  (1,059,438)

Balance transfer from BMI  -    -    17,547,512  -   

As at 31st December  3,864,955  3,860,294  17,444,062  4,415,082 

22.1  Amount Recognize in Income Statement
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Current service cost  360,128  1,259,615  1,307,418  1,642,242 

Interest cost  386,029  -    979,029  19,860 

 746,157  1,259,615  2,286,448  1,662,102 

22.2  The principal assumptions used for compute the gratuity liability are as follows:

Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

Rate of interest 10% 10% 10% 12%

Salary increment rate 9% 9% 9% 10%

Staff turnover 21% 21% 20% 9%

Retirement age 55 years 55 years 55 years 55 years

22.3  Sensitivity of Assumptions Employed in Computation
A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at 31st December 2017 is as shown below:

Assumptions – Salary Future Salary Future Salary

Sensitivity Level 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Impact on defined benefit liability  32,887  (32,887)  652,458  (612,632)

Assumptions  – Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

Sensitivity Level 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Impact on defined benefit liability  (31,219)  31,219  (576,483)  623,919
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23.  OTHER LIABILITIES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Financial liabilities

Payables to vendor  -    -    1,382,427  169,550 

Other Financial liabilities  44,377,600  17,107,892  437,380,921  50,502,676 

 44,377,600  17,107,892  438,763,347  50,672,226 

Non-financial liabilities

Income Tax Payable  5,271,866  4,274,352  29,935,609  5,536,250 

NGO Tax Payable  1,138,794  1,268,197  1,138,794  1,268,197 

Finance VAT Payable  -    -    3,877,836  181,381 

Nation Building Tax Payable  -    -    879,437  62,025 

Other Payables  2,306,876  861,700  28,090,213  2,389,516 

 53,095,136  23,512,140  502,685,236  60,109,596 

24.  FUNDS AND RESERVES
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Unrestricted Funds – Note 24.1  -    -    865,800  865,800 

Restricted Funds – Note 24.2  -    -    70,693,750  51,537,500 

Assets and liabilities transfer reserve account  -    -    15,433,540  -   

 -    -    86,993,090  52,403,300 

24.1  Unrestricted Funds
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Balance at beginning of the year  -    -    865,800  865,800 

Balance at end of the year  -    -    865,800  865,800 

Total unrestricted Funds  -    -    865,800  865,800 

24.2  Restricted Funds
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Whole Planet Foundation

Balance at beginning of the year  -    -    51,537,500  33,475,000 

Received  during the year  -    -    19,156,250  18,062,500 

Balance at end of the year  -    -    70,693,750  51,537,500 

Total restricted Funds  -    -    70,693,750  51,537,500 
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25.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

25.1  Commitments
To the best of  knowledge and information available to the Board the group does not have any significant commitments as 
at the reporting date.

25.2  Contingent Liabilities
To the best of  knowledge and information available to the Board the group does not have any significant contingencies as 
at the reporting date.

26.  EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
No circumstances have arisen and no material event have occurred during the period between the balance sheet date and 
the date in which the account has been signed and no event is required to disclosure or adjust to the Financial Statements.

27.  ASSETS PLEDGED 
There are no assets pledged as at the reporting date other than followings and the information disclosed under related party 
note.

Fixed deposits represents the mandatory deposit as per the borrowing agreement made with “Sri Lanka Saving Bank" is not 
available for use until the loans are settled.

28.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Details of significant related party disclosures are as follows;

28.1  Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP) and their Family 
Members
As per the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (LKAS – 24 ) – “Related Party Disclosures”, the KMPs include those who are having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. Accordingly, the Board of 
Directors and members of the Corporate Management of the Company have been classified as KMPs of the Company.

28.1.1  Key Management Personnel Compensation
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Short term employment benefits

Short Term Employee Benefits  400,000 -  2,474,250  200,000 

 400,000 -  2,474,250  200,000 

*  Further, the company has not provided any non cash benefits to Key Management Personnel in terms of employment contracts with them.

*  Company has not entered into any transactions, arrangements and agreements involving Key Management Personnel (KMPs), their Close Family Members 

(CFMs) and their related entities.
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28.2  Transactions with Related Entities

28.2.1  Transactions with Parent Company
Company  Group 

31st December 2017 2017 2016 2017 2016

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited 

Balances as at 31st December

Amount due from – shared expenses  -    28,219  -    -   

Amount due to – shared expenses  152,393  -    -    -   

Investment in shares  748,028,210  180,028,210  -    -   

Loan outstanding amount  793,257,073  -    -    -   

During the year transactions

Issue of shares for net assets transfer from BMI  550,000,000  -    -    -   

Investment in shares  18,000,000  60,000,000  -    -   

Loan lending  47,000,000  -    -    -   

Loan interest recoveries  24,418,597  -    -    -   

28.2.2  Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party other than the following guarantees provided to 
BMIC by BDS.  

Borrower Loan Amount
 LKR

Guarantee

Sri Lanka Savings Bank 250Mn 250Mn Corporate Guarantee

Sri Lanka Savings Bank 200Mn 200Mn Corporate Guarantee

Etimos Asia Pte Ltd. 100Mn 50Mn Corporate Guarantee 

Etimos Asia Pte Ltd. 100Mn 50Mn Corporate Guarantee 

Land & Building belongs to company has been pledged to Stromme Microcredit (Guarantee) Limited for obtaining a loan to 
Berendina Micro Investments Company Limited.

29.  FAIR VALUES
For all financial instruments where fair values are determined by referring to externally quoted prices or observable pricing 
inputs to models, independent price determination or validation is obtained. In an inactive market, direct observation of a 
traded price may not be possible. In these circumstances, the group uses alternative market information to validate the financial 
instrument’s fair value, with greater weight given to information that is considered to be more relevant and reliable.

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique:

Level 1 : quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 : other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable,  
  either directly or indirectly

Level 3 : techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on   
  observable market data

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amount and fair values of the group’s financial instruments that are 
not carried at fair value in the financial statements.
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29.1  Company
Fair Value 
Hierarchy

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  44,682,508  44,682,508  15,502,564  15,502,564 

Balances with banks and financial 
institutions  25,000,000  25,000,000  -    -   

Investment in subsidiary  748,028,210  748,028,210  180,028,210  180,028,210 

Loan and receivables Level 2  807,676,150  827,480,517  768,913,564  787,767,465 

Other financial assets  18,597,838  18,597,838  9,881,358  9,881,358 

Total  1,643,984,706  1,663,789,073  974,325,696  993,179,597 

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities  44,377,600  44,377,600  17,107,892  17,107,892 

Total  44,377,600  44,377,600  17,107,892  17,107,892

(a) For financial assets other than loans and receivable and financial liabilities that have a short term maturity (less than 
three months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption is also applied to 
cash in hand, balances with banks and financial institutions, other financial assets, bank overdraft and other financial 
liabilities without a specific maturity.

(b) Loan receivables with fixed interest rates were fair valued using market rates at which fresh loans were granted during 
the last quarter of the reporting period. 

29.2  Group
Fair Value 
Hierarchy

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  153,024,153  153,024,153  26,658,604  26,658,604 

Balances with banks and financial 
institutions  67,068,454  67,068,454  21,513,012  21,513,012 

Loan and receivables Level 2  3,136,229,301  3,162,347,568  1,159,314,422  1,168,969,100 

Other financial assets  134,942,663  134,942,663  25,668,440  25,668,440 

Total  3,491,264,570  3,517,382,837  1,233,154,478  1,242,809,156 

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings Level 2  1,315,588,058  1,284,220,778  195,174,000  190,520,509 

Other financial liabilities  438,763,347  438,763,347  50,672,226  50,672,226 

Total  1,754,351,405  1,722,984,125  245,846,226  241,192,735 

(a) For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed that 
the carrying amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption is also applied to cash in hand, balances with banks 
and financial institutions, other financial assets, bank overdraft and other financial liabilities without a specific maturity.

(b) Loan receivables with fixed interest rates were fair valued using market rates at which fresh loans were granted during 
the fourth quarter of the reporting period. Conversely, interest bearing loans and borrowings with original tenors 
above one year were discounted using current market interest rates offered by lenders during the fourth quarter of the 
reporting period.
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30.  MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

30.1  Company
As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

 Less than 
One Year

 More than 
One Year

 Total Carrying
 Value

Less than 
One Year

 More than 
One Year

 Total Carrying
 Value

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  44,682,508  -    44,682,508  15,502,564  -    15,502,564 

Balances with banks and  
   financial institutions  25,000,000  -    25,000,000  -    -    -   

Investment in subsidiary  -    748,028,210  748,028,210  -    180,028,210  180,028,210 

Loan and receivables  235,112,027  579,602,680  814,714,707  235,112,027  537,410,213  772,522,240 

Property plant and  
   equipments  -    15,527,475  15,527,475  -    17,462,324  17,462,324 

Other assets  18,760,286  846,246  19,606,532  5,593,771  5,479,796  11,073,567 

Total assets  323,554,821  1,344,004,612  1,667,559,433  256,208,362  740,380,543  996,588,905 

Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings  -    -  -    -    -    -   

Post employment  
   benefit obligation  -    3,864,955  3,864,955  -    3,860,294  3,860,294 

Other liabilities  52,770,316  324,820  53,095,136  23,044,113  468,027  23,512,140 

 52,770,316  4,189,775  56,960,092  23,044,113  4,328,321  27,372,434

30.2  Group
As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

 Less than 
One Year

 More than 
One Year 

 Total Carrying
 Value

Less than 
One Year

 More than 
One Year

 Total Carrying
 Value

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  153,024,153  -    153,024,153  26,658,604  -    26,658,604 

Balances with banks and  
   financial institutions  25,000,000  42,068,454  67,068,454  -    21,513,012  21,513,012 

Loan and receivables  1,124,460,831  2,060,174,453  3,184,635,284  244,853,779  921,238,336  1,166,092,115 

Property plant and  
   equipments  -    43,452,186  43,452,186  -    25,860,330  25,860,330 

Intangible assets  -    4,758,953  4,758,953  -    165,729  165,729 

Deferred tax assets  -    2,583,614  2,583,614  -    4,845,069  4,845,069 

Other assets  60,311,171  86,607,907  146,919,078  16,778,053  11,466,535  28,244,588 

Total assets  1,362,796,154  2,239,645,567  3,602,441,722  288,290,436  985,089,011  1,273,379,447 

Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings  745,750,888  569,837,170  1,315,588,058  97,500,000  97,674,000  195,174,000 

Post employment  
   benefit obligation  -    17,444,062  17,444,062  -    4,415,082  4,415,082 

Other liabilities  185,703,644  317,133,986  502,685,236  40,011,455  20,098,141  60,109,596 

 931,454,532  904,415,218  1,835,717,356  137,511,455  122,187,223  259,698,678
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31.  RISK MANAGEMENT

31.1  Introduction 
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

– Credit risk

– Liquidity risk

– Market risk

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk.

31.2  Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a customer or counterparty to financial instruments fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. Credit risk is mainly arising from group’s receivables in terms of loan receivable and deposits with 
banks & financial institutions.

Credit risk is managed by evaluating the credit worthiness and by periodical review on the credit granted.

The group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of receivables in 
terms of loans and receivables. The group policy on impairment consists of allowance for a collective impairment established 
for similar receivables in term of their credit risk on product basis where the loss event has occurred but not yet identified. 
The collective impairment is determined based on the historical data of payments statistics for similar financial assets. 

31.2.1  Fair Value of Collateral and Credit Enhancements Held

Company
The following table shows the fair value of collateral and credit enhancements held by the Company.

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Maximum
 Exposure to

 Credit Risk

Net Exposure Maximum
 Exposure to

 Credit Risk

Net Exposure

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Cash and cash equivalents  44,682,508  44,643,937  15,502,564  15,414,628 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  25,000,000  25,000,000  -    -   

Loan and receivables  814,714,707  814,714,707  772,522,240 772,522,240

Other financial assets  18,597,838  18,597,838  9,881,358 9,881,358

 902,995,053  902,956,482  797,906,162  797,818,226 

Group
The following table shows the fair value of collateral and credit enhancements held by the group.

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Maximum
 Exposure to

 Credit Risk

Net Exposure Maximum
 Exposure to

 Credit Risk

Net Exposure

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Cash and cash equivalents  153,024,153  149,935,970  26,658,604  26,508,690 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  67,068,454  67,068,454  21,513,012 21,513,012

Loan and receivables  3,184,635,284  3,184,635,284  1,166,092,115 1,166,092,115

Other financial assets  134,942,663  134,942,663  25,668,440 25,668,440

 3,539,670,553  3,536,582,370  1,239,932,171  1,239,782,257

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.2.2  Credit quality by class of financial assets

Company

(a)

As at 31st December 2017 Neither Past 
Due Nor

 Impaired

Past Due but 
not Impaired

 Individually
 Impaired 

 Total 

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  44,682,508  -    -    44,682,508 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  25,000,000  -    -    25,000,000 

Loan and receivables  2,563,832  18,893,802  -    21,457,634 

Other financial assets  18,597,838  -    -    18,597,838 

Total financial assets  90,844,178  18,893,802  -    109,737,980 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets.

Overdue 

Description Less than 
31 Days

31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days More than 
90 Days

Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Loan and receivables  5,893,428  886,402  -    12,113,972  18,893,802 

 5,893,428  886,402  -    12,113,972  18,893,802

(b)

As at 31st December 2016 Neither Past Due
 nor Impaired

Past Due but 
not Impaired

 Individually
 Impaired 

 Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  15,502,564  -    -    15,502,564 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    -    -    -   

Loan and receivables  759,215,284  13,306,956  -    772,522,240 

Other financial assets  9,881,358  -    -    9,881,358 

Total financial assets  784,599,206  13,306,956  -    797,906,162 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets.
Overdue 

Description Less than 
31 Days

31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days More than 
90 Days

Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Loan and receivables  -    13,306,956  -    -    13,306,956 

 -    13,306,956  -    -    13,306,956

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.2.2  Credit quality by class of financial assets

Group

(a)

As at 31st December 2017 Neither Past 
Due nor 

Impaired

Past Due but 
not Impaired

 Individually
 Impaired 

 Total 

LKR LKR LKR LKR

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  153,024,153  -    -    153,024,153 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  67,068,454  -    -    67,068,454 

Loan and receivables  3,137,309,960  47,325,324  -    3,184,635,284 

Other financial assets  134,942,663  -    -    134,942,663 

Total financial assets  3,492,345,229  47,325,324  -    3,539,670,553 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets.
Overdue 

Description Less than 
31 Days

31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days More than 
90 Days

Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Loan and receivables  16,474,791  3,799,738  1,738,894  25,311,902  47,325,324 

 16,474,791  3,799,738  1,738,894  25,311,902  47,325,324 

(b)

As at 31 December 2016 Neither Past Due
 nor Impaired

Past Due but 
not Impaired

 Individually
 Impaired 

 Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  26,658,604  -    -    26,658,604 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  21,513,012  -    -    21,513,012 

Loan and receivables  1,152,641,159  13,450,956  -    1,166,092,115 

Other financial assets  25,668,440  -    -    25,668,440 

Total financial assets  1,226,481,215  13,450,956  -    1,239,932,171 

Age analysis of past due but not impaired loans by class of financial assets.
Overdue 

Description Less than 
31 Days

31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days More than 
90 Days

Total 

 LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR  LKR 

Loan and receivables  25,400  13,410,556  -    15,000  13,450,956 

 25,400  13,410,556  -    15,000  13,450,956

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.3  Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The group uses the maturity analysis all the financial instruments to manage the liquidity risk.

(a)  Exposure to Liquidity Risk
The group relies on borrowing as its primary source of funding. The group actively manages this risk through maintaining 
competitive pricing and constant monitoring of market trends. 

(b)  Management of Liquidity Risk
The group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking financial position of the group while maintaining 
regulatory requirements and debt covenants agreed with the fund providers. The treasury manages the liquidity position as 
per the treasury policies and procedures of the group.

31.3.1  The maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on undiscounted gross outflow is reflected below:

Company

(a)

As at 31st December 2017 Carrying
 Amounts 

 Gross Nominal
 Outflow

On Demand Up to 3 Months   3 to 12 Months More than 
1 Year

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Other financial liabilities  44,377,600  44,377,602  -    16,641,601  27,736,002  -   

 44,377,600  44,377,602  -    16,641,601  27,736,002  -  

(b)

As at 31st December 2016 Carrying
 Amounts 

 Gross Nominal
 Outflow

On Demand Up to 3 Months   3 to 12 Months More than 
1 Year

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Other financial liabilities  17,107,892  17,107,892  -    5,702,631  11,405,261  -   

 17,107,892  17,107,892  -    5,702,631  11,405,261  -  

Group

(a)           

As at 31st December 2017 Carrying
 Amounts 

 Gross Nominal
 Outflow

On Demand Up to 3 Months   3 to 12 Months More than 
1 Year

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest bearing borrowings 1,315,588,058  1,522,042,513  -    213,700,842  670,665,926  637,675,745 

Other financial liabilities  438,763,347  438,763,347  -    38,031,717  79,683,427  321,048,203 

 1,754,351,405  1,960,805,861  -    251,732,559  750,349,353  958,723,948 

(b)            

As at 31st December 2016 Carrying
 Amounts 

 Gross Nominal
 Outflow

On Demand Up to 3 Months   3 to 12 Months More than 
1 Year

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest bearing borrowings  195,174,000  226,332,000  -    -    120,486,000  105,846,000 

Other financial liabilities  50,672,226  50,672,226  -    9,372,067  21,501,303  19,798,856 

 245,846,226  277,004,226  -    9,372,067  141,987,303  125,644,856

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.4  Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. Market risk of the group mainly comprises of interest rate risk and currency risk.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, 
while optimizing the return.

Company
The table below analyses the company's interest rate risk exposure on non-trading financial assets and liabilities. The 
company's assets and liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorized by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or 
maturity dates.

(a)

As at 31st December 2017 On Demand Less than 
3 Months 

4 to 12 Months 1 to 5 Years Total as at 31st 
December 2017

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  44,682,508  -    -    -    44,682,508 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    25,000,000  -    -    25,000,000 

Loan and receivables  -    68,574,341  166,537,686  579,602,680  814,714,707 

Other financial assets  -    17,751,595  -    846,243  18,597,838 

Total interest earning assets  44,682,508  111,325,936  166,537,686  580,448,923  902,995,053 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Other financial liabilities  -    12,943,467  31,434,133  -    44,377,600 

Total interest bearing liabilities  -    12,943,467  31,434,133  -    44,377,600 

Gap in interest earning assets and interest  
   bearing liabilities – net assets/(liabilities)  44,682,508  98,382,469  135,103,553  580,448,923  858,617,453

(b)

As at 31st December 2016 On Demand Less than 
3 Months 

4 to 12 Months 1 to 5 Years Total as at 31st 
December 2016

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  15,502,564  -    -    -    15,502,564 

Loan and receivables  -    68,574,341  166,537,686  537,410,213  772,522,240 

Other financial assets  -    4,401,562  -    5,479,796  9,881,358 

Total interest earning assets  15,502,564  72,975,903  166,537,686  542,890,009  797,906,162 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Other financial liabilities  -    4,989,802  12,118,090  -    17,107,892 

Total interest bearing liabilities  -    4,989,802  12,118,090  -    17,107,892 

Gap in interest earning assets and interest 
bearing liabilities – net assets/(liabilities)  15,502,564  67,986,101  154,419,596  542,890,009  780,798,270

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Group
The table below analyses the group's interest rate risk exposure on non-trading financial assets and liabilities. The group's assets 
and liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorized by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

As at 31st December 2017 On Demand Less than 
3 Months 

4 to 12 Months 1 to 5 Years Total as at 31st 
December 2017

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  153,024,153  -    -    -    153,024,153 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    25,000,000  -    42,068,454  67,068,454 

Loan and receivables  -    327,967,742  796,493,088  2,060,174,453  3,184,635,284 

Other financial assets  -    27,844,387  20,490,370  86,607,906  134,942,663 

Total interest earning assets  153,024,153  380,812,129  816,983,458  2,188,850,813  3,539,670,553 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Interest bearing borrowings  -    217,510,676  528,240,212  569,837,170  1,315,588,058 

Other financial liabilities  -    35,525,746  86,276,803  316,960,798  438,763,347 

Total interest bearing liabilities  -    253,036,422  614,517,015  886,797,968  1,754,351,405 

Gap in interest earning assets and interest  
   bearing liabilities – net assets/(liabilities)  153,024,153  127,775,708  202,466,443  1,302,052,844  1,785,319,148

As at 31st December 2016 On Demand Less than 
3 Months 

4 to 12 Months 1 to 5 Years Total as at 31st 
December 2016

LKR LKR LKR LKR LKR

Interest earning assets 

Cash and cash equivalents  26,658,604  -    -    -    26,658,604 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  -    21,513,012  -    -    21,513,012 

Loan and receivables  -    61,213,445  183,640,334  921,238,336  1,166,092,115 

Other financial assets  -    6,802,576  7,399,329  11,466,535  25,668,440 

Total interest earning assets  26,658,604  89,529,033  191,039,663  932,704,871  1,239,932,171 

Interest bearing liabilities 

Interest bearing borrowings  -    -    97,500,000  97,674,000  195,174,000 

Other financial liabilities  -    8,659,238  22,214,132  19,798,857  50,672,226 

Total interest bearing liabilities  -    8,659,238  119,714,132  117,472,857  245,846,227 

Gap in interest earning assets and interest  
   bearing liabilities – net assets/(liabilities)  26,658,604  80,869,794  71,325,531  815,232,014  994,085,944

31.4.1  Interest Rate Sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the group.
           

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Increase/
 Decrease

Effect on Profit
 before Tax            

Increase/
 Decrease 

Effect on Profit
 before Tax            

% LKR % LKR

Interest Rate + 1%  17,369,132 + 1%  9,873,083 

Interest Rate - 1%  (17,369,132) - 1%  (9,873,083)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.4.2 Foreign currency risk
(a) Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 As at 31st December, the group holds a loan LKR 96,612,000 where the repayment schedule is denominated in Sri Lanka 
Rupees. As per the agreement of this loan, each repayment denominated in LKR will be converted to and paid in the 
equivalent amount in EURO at the EUR/LKR fixing rate prevailing two business days prior to the relevant repayment date. 
The fixing rate is arrived at by converting the repayment value to EUR at the EUR/LKR cross rate determined by using 
the  EUR/USD quoted by the European Central Bank and USD/LKR middle rate determined by the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka.  Due to the time delay between the actual date of payment and the date of fixing rate, the group does not have a 
significant foreign exchange risk.

 The tables below indicates the effect to the Gains/ Losses in case of a market rates increase/decrease by 1% during 
the two days lag of repayment of loan instalment as explained above. The analysis calculates the effect of a possible 
movement of the EUR against LKR, with all other variables held constant, on the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(b) Impact on Statement of Comprehensive Income due to Exchange Rate Shocks

As at 31st December 2017 As at 31st December 2016

Change Effect on Profit Change Effect on Profit

EURO +1%  966,120 +1%  (1,932,240)

EURO -1%  (966,120) -1%  1,932,240

32.  ASSETS AND LIABILITIES TRANSFER TO BMIC
Berendina Microfinance Institute (Gte) Ltd transferred its all assets and liabilities to BMIC with effect from 30 September 
2017. BMIC issued LKR550 Mn worth of shares to BDS since BMI waived off the right received the consideration. Balance 
consideration of LKR15,433,540/- worth of shares to be allocated to BDS as gift and the date of issuance to be decided by 
the Board of Directors of BMIC. The details of assets and liabilities transferred by BMI to BMIC are as follows. 

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  6,094,528 

Balances with banks and financial institutions  42,686,569 

Loan and receivables  2,582,777,460 

Property plant and equipment  14,505,231 

Intangible assets  4,983,246 

Deferred tax assets  2,105,702 

Other assets  202,912,717 

 2,856,065,452 

Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings  1,923,558,676 

Post employment benefit obligation  17,547,512 

Other liabilities  349,525,724 

 2,290,631,912 

Net assets transferred amount  565,433,540

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Income

Grant Income  143,927,245  164,404,122  177,199,406  217,869,236  231,399,682  255,008,135  206,281,089  277,763,658  150,975,864  135,570,685 

Other Income  8,858,065  13,119,945  14,202,095  29,636,563  49,764,175  61,469,280  74,675,278  77,448,102  85,015,420  99,102,787 

Project Expenses  105,694,265  75,021,269  85,891,737  101,285,232  114,604,621  117,989,306  165,718,937  113,636,341  104,663,693  115,814,219 

Head Office Admin Expenses  9,052,621  9,259,806  13,480,080  17,946,150  19,504,275  19,957,531  16,749,656  9,947,691  10,308,186  16,776,777 

Depreciation  1,544,956  1,571,967  1,811,923  1,966,550  4,557,394  5,560,759  5,676,634  4,582,147  4,012,471  2,721,399 

Taxes  1,314,775  1,479,637  2,783,152  4,000,340  5,805,312  7,823,203  8,847,262  9,760,101  9,701,739  10,981,073 

Surplus  35,178,693  91,279,441  87,208,910  122,032,502  86,601,016  162,206,808  83,846,839  187,380,202  103,773,584  637,952,989 

Reserves

Accumulated Surplus  41,278,493  132,557,934  219,766,844  341,799,346  428,400,362  590,607,170  674,454,009  861,834,211  965,607,795  1,603,560,784 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities  12,367,296  2,487,744  3,868,300  6,540,365  10,546,846  18,206,337  51,474,991  27,504,858  23,512,140  53,095,136 

Long Term Liabilities  9,259,136  4,967,587  5,333,326  5,534,815  5,810,727  4,657,550  4,761,411  3,660,117  3,860,294  3,864,955 

Assets

PPE  5,658,811  10,251,433  12,793,982  30,241,913  27,869,449  28,248,846  25,493,595  20,509,342  17,462,324  15,527,475 

Investments  -    25,181,686  8,000,000  22,000,000  -    -    5,000,000  130,028,210  180,028,210  748,028,210 

Loans & Advances  50,435,975  93,151,223  183,558,893  282,421,606  401,274,825  534,186,717  691,835,691  727,242,559  768,913,564  807,676,150 

Cash & Bank Balance  2,916,948  5,476,641  14,831,909  6,374,524  3,808,009  9,477,935  5,987,298  10,226,104  15,502,564  69,682,508 

Other Assets  3,893,192  5,952,282  9,571,187  12,836,483  11,805,652  41,557,559  2,373,827  4,992,970  11,073,567  19,606,532 

Ratios

Projects Efficiency 90% 87% 82% 81% 59% 76% 84% 68% 79% 79%

Current Ratio (Times) 4.63 42.04 53.76 46.12 39.53 32.14 13.60 26.99 33.83 16.89

Self-Sufficient Ratio 77% 49% 54% 51% 69% 49% 70% 47% 56% 63%

Savings Ratio 30% 106% 84% 97% 45% 105% 43% 112% 78% 60%

Contributions and Grants Ratio 94% 93% 93% 88% 82% 81% 73% 78% 64% 58%

Viability Ratio Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Ten Year Summary
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Income

Grant Income  143,927,245  164,404,122  177,199,406  217,869,236  231,399,682  255,008,135  206,281,089  277,763,658  150,975,864  135,570,685 

Other Income  8,858,065  13,119,945  14,202,095  29,636,563  49,764,175  61,469,280  74,675,278  77,448,102  85,015,420  99,102,787 

Project Expenses  105,694,265  75,021,269  85,891,737  101,285,232  114,604,621  117,989,306  165,718,937  113,636,341  104,663,693  115,814,219 

Head Office Admin Expenses  9,052,621  9,259,806  13,480,080  17,946,150  19,504,275  19,957,531  16,749,656  9,947,691  10,308,186  16,776,777 

Depreciation  1,544,956  1,571,967  1,811,923  1,966,550  4,557,394  5,560,759  5,676,634  4,582,147  4,012,471  2,721,399 

Taxes  1,314,775  1,479,637  2,783,152  4,000,340  5,805,312  7,823,203  8,847,262  9,760,101  9,701,739  10,981,073 

Surplus  35,178,693  91,279,441  87,208,910  122,032,502  86,601,016  162,206,808  83,846,839  187,380,202  103,773,584  637,952,989 

Reserves

Accumulated Surplus  41,278,493  132,557,934  219,766,844  341,799,346  428,400,362  590,607,170  674,454,009  861,834,211  965,607,795  1,603,560,784 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities  12,367,296  2,487,744  3,868,300  6,540,365  10,546,846  18,206,337  51,474,991  27,504,858  23,512,140  53,095,136 

Long Term Liabilities  9,259,136  4,967,587  5,333,326  5,534,815  5,810,727  4,657,550  4,761,411  3,660,117  3,860,294  3,864,955 

Assets

PPE  5,658,811  10,251,433  12,793,982  30,241,913  27,869,449  28,248,846  25,493,595  20,509,342  17,462,324  15,527,475 

Investments  -    25,181,686  8,000,000  22,000,000  -    -    5,000,000  130,028,210  180,028,210  748,028,210 

Loans & Advances  50,435,975  93,151,223  183,558,893  282,421,606  401,274,825  534,186,717  691,835,691  727,242,559  768,913,564  807,676,150 

Cash & Bank Balance  2,916,948  5,476,641  14,831,909  6,374,524  3,808,009  9,477,935  5,987,298  10,226,104  15,502,564  69,682,508 

Other Assets  3,893,192  5,952,282  9,571,187  12,836,483  11,805,652  41,557,559  2,373,827  4,992,970  11,073,567  19,606,532 

Ratios

Projects Efficiency 90% 87% 82% 81% 59% 76% 84% 68% 79% 79%

Current Ratio (Times) 4.63 42.04 53.76 46.12 39.53 32.14 13.60 26.99 33.83 16.89

Self-Sufficient Ratio 77% 49% 54% 51% 69% 49% 70% 47% 56% 63%

Savings Ratio 30% 106% 84% 97% 45% 105% 43% 112% 78% 60%

Contributions and Grants Ratio 94% 93% 93% 88% 82% 81% 73% 78% 64% 58%

Viability Ratio Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
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Glossary

A CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE
An adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or liability, 
or related expense, resulting from reassessing the expected 
future benefits and obligations associated with that asset 
or liability.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Specific Principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial 
statements.

ACCRUAL BASIS
Recognition of the effects of transactions and other events 
when they occur without waiting for receipt or payment of 
cash or cash equivalent.

ACTUARIAL GAIN OR LOSSES
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation resulting from:

(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences 
between the previous actuarial assumptions and what 
has actually occurred); and

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

AMORTIZATION
Systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an 
intangible asset over its useful life.

COMMITMENTS
Binding agreements for the exchange of a specified quantity 
of resources at a specified price on a specified future date 
or dates.

DEFERRED TAX ASSET
Amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in 
respect of;

(a) deductible temporary differences,

(b) the forward of unused tax losses,

(c) the carry forward of unused tax credits.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
Amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in 
respect of taxable temporary differences.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
Retirement benefit plans under which amounts to be paid 
as retirement benefits are determined by reference to a 
formula usually based on employees’ earnings and/or years 
of service.

DEPRECIATION
Systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset 
over its useful life.

DERECOGNITION
Removal of a previously recognized financial asset or 
financial liability from an entity’s statement of financial 
position.

FAIR VALUE
Price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants as the measurement date.

FAIR VALUE LESS COST TO SELL
Price that would be received from selling the asset less any 
costs required and needed to make the sale. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 
entity.

FUNDS & RESERVES
A fund is a source of money that is allocated for a specific 
purpose.

Reserve is any part of shareholders' equity, except for basic 
share capital.
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Glossary

GOING CONCERN BASIS
Assumption that the entity is a going concern and will 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

HISTORICAL COST 
Amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of 
the consideration given to acquire assets at the time of their 
acquisition or the amount of proceeds received in exchange 
for the obligation, or in some circumstances at the amounts 
of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy 
the liability in the normal course of business.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS
Amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a 
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

INTERNAL CONTROL
Internal controls are the mechanisms, rules and procedures 
implemented by a company to ensure the integrity 
of financial and accounting information, promote 
accountability and prevent fraud. 

LIQUIDATE
Liquidate means to convert assets into cash or cash 
equivalents by selling them on the open market.

LOANS & ADVANCES
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, 
to a parent.

PARENT
An entity that controls one or more entities.

PRESENT VALUE
Present value (PV) is the current value of a future sum of 
money or stream of cash flows given a specified rate of 
return.

REALIZABLE VALUE
Net realizable value (NRV) is the value of an asset that can 
be realized upon the sale of the asset, less a reasonable 
estimate of the costs associated with either the eventual 
sale or the disposal of the asset in question. 

REMUNERATION
Remuneration is payment or compensation received for 
services or employment.

RESIDUAL VALUE
The residual value is the estimated value of a fixed asset at 
the end of its lease or at the end of its useful life. 

RESTRICTED FUNDS
A restricted fund is a reserve of money that can only be used 
for specific purposes.

RETAINED EARNINGS
Retained earnings are the cumulative net earnings or profit 
of a firm after accounting for dividends 

STATED CAPITAL
Nominal value (or "par" value) of all the outstanding shares 
of a company.

STRAIGHT LINE METHOD
Default method used to gradually reduce the carrying 
amount of a fixed asset over its useful life

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES
Differences between the carrying amount of an asset or 
liability in the statement of financial position and its tax 
base.

UNIT CREDIT METHOD
An actuarial valuation method that sees each period 
of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up 
the final obligation.
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UNRESTRICTED FUNDS
Money given to a non-profit organization by a donor that 
the organization is free to use as they see fit.

VALUE IN USE
Present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from an asset or cash-generating unit.

WORKING CAPITAL
Capital required to finance the day to day operations 
computed as the excess of current assets over current 
liabilities.

MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT
A material misstatement is untrue information in a financial 
statement that could affect the financial decisions of one 
who relies on the statement.

RISK ASSESSMENTS
A systematic process of evaluating the potential risks that 
may be involved in a projected activity or undertaking.

CONTRIBUTIONS AND GRANTS RATIO
The ratio measures the composition of organization’s funds 
receiving from donors for company’s long term and short 
term strategic goals of gross income.

SELF-SUFFICIENCY RATIO
The proportion of operating expenses that are covered by 
earned income of the organization.

CURRENT RATIO
An indication of the organization’s ability to pay obligation 
in a time way (Within 12months)

Glossary

PROJECT EFFICIENCY RATIO
The ratio measures the correlation between project 
expenses and total expenses of the organization.

SAVINGS RATIO
the ratio shows the rate of the company's gross revenue 
minus expenses relative of annual savings divided by the 
total expenses.

VIABILITY RATIO
The ratio measures the ability to cover long term debts of 
the company.
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Notice of Meeting

NOTICE is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited will be 
held at No. 44/3, 3rd Floor, Narahenpita Road, Nawala on Friday 23rd March 2018 at 10.30 a.m. for the following purposes:

AGENDA
1. To read the notice conveying the Meeting.

2. Tabling minutes and adopting minutes, matters arising.

3. To receive Annual Progress Report.

4. To receive and consider the report of the Directors and the statement of Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 
31st December, 2017 and the Report of the Auditors thereon.

5. To appoint Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorize the Directors to determine their remuneration.

6. Appointment of Directors.

By order of the Board,

RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd. 
Company Secretaries 
Colombo 
5th March 2018

Encl. 
1. Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2017.
2. Proxy Form.
3. Minutes of the Annual General Meeting held on 5th March, 2017.

NOTE:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him. 

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.



Annual Report 2017   |   Berendina Development Services (Gte) Limited

DRAFT 04
29.08.2018

BERENDINA DEVELOPMENT SERVICES (GUARANTEE) LIMITED PROXY FORM

I/We .............................................................................................................................................................................................................  

of ................................................................................................. being a member/s of the above named company hereby appoint

Mr. Hewa Atapattuge Anura of Colombo, failing him

Mr. Jagath Chandana Godakanda of Colombo, failing him

Mr. Johannes Gerhardus Antonius De Witte of the Netherlands, failing him

Ms. Ruth Dorothea Van Andel of the Netherlands, failing her

Mr. Jan Steven Cloeck Faber of the Netherlands, failing him

Mr. Adrianus Henricus Franciscus Van Aggelen of the Netherlands, failing him

...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 

of ............................................................................................................................. as my/our proxy, to represent me/us and to vote 
for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Friday 23rd March 2018 at 
10.30 a.m. at No. 44/3, 3rd Floor, Narahenpita Road, Nawala and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may 
be taken in consequence thereof.

signed this………………………day of……………………………2018.

SIGNATURE AND DATE

INSTRUCTIONS AS TO COMPLETION
(i) The full name and the address of the proxy and of the shareholder appointing the proxy should be entered legibly  

in the form of proxy.

(ii) The complete form of proxy should be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, No. 44/3, 3rd Floor, 
Narahenpita Road, Nawala not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Meeting.  

Form of Proxy



NAME OF THE COMPANY 
Berendina Development Services (Guarantee) Limited

LEGAL FRAMEWORK
A company limited by guarantee, registered under 
Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 – Registration No. GL 28

Registration of Voluntary Social Services/Non-governmental 
Organisation under Voluntary Social Services Organisations 
Act No. 31 of 1980 as amended by Act No. 08 of 1998 – 
Registration No. L159410

REGISTERED OFFICE
No. 44/3, 3rd Floor, Narahenpita Road, Nawala, Sri Lanka

DATE OF INCORPORATION 
6th May 2005

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
To assist the poor citizens of Sri Lanka irrespective of cast, 
creed, race or any other discriminatory barrier

COMPANY SECRETARY 
RNH Holdings (Pvt) Ltd. RNH House, 622B, Kotte Road, 
Kotte, Sri Lanka

AUDITORS 
Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants No. 201,
De Saram Place, Colombo 10, Sri Lanka

BANKERS
People’s Bank 
Bank of Ceylon  
Sampath Bank PLC 
Hatton National Bank PLC 
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